
Agenda Packet 
NORFOLK CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, March 4, 2024 
5:30 p.m. 

Created 2/29/2024 1:45 PM 

https://norfolkne.gov/
Page 1 of 210

https://norfolkne.gov/


 
                        right at home. 
 

 
 

309 N 5th Street 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2012  F402-844-2028 
www.norfolkne.gov 

 
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a meeting of the City Council of the City of Norfolk, 

Nebraska, will be held at 5:30 p.m. on Monday, March 4, 2024, in the Council Chambers, 309 N. 

5th St., Norfolk, Nebraska, which meeting will be open to the public.  

 The Mayor and City Council reserve the right to adjourn into closed session as per Section 

84-1410 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes. 

 An agenda for such meeting, kept continually current, is available at the office of the City 

Clerk, 309 N 5th St, Norfolk Nebraska, during normal business hours. 

 Individuals requiring physical or sensory accommodations, who desire to attend or 

participate, please contact the City Clerk's office at (402) 844-2000 no later than 4:30 p.m. on the 

Friday preceding the meeting. 

 

 
 Brianna Duerst 

City Clerk 
Publish (February 28, 2024) 
1 P.O.P. 
 

Page 2 of 210

~'z iN 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 

G:t 
EQUAL HOUSING 

OPPORTUNITY 



AGENDA 
NORFOLK CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

March 04, 2024 
In accordance with Section 84-1412 sub-section eight (8) of the Reissue Revised Statutes of the State of 
Nebraska 1943, as amended, one copy of all reproducible written material to be discussed is available to the 
public at this meeting for examination and copying.  The Mayor and City Council reserve the right to adjourn 
into closed session as per Section 84-1410 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes. 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
1. 5:30 p.m. - call meeting to order  

2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meetings Act posted in the  
Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public 

 

3. Moment of silence/Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States of  
America 

 

4. Roll call  

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS 
5. Approval of consent agenda.    

All items in the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the City 
Council and will be enacted by one motion. There will be no separate 
discussion of these items unless a Council member or a citizen so requests, in 
which event the item will be removed from the consent agenda and 
considered separately. 

Motion 

6. Approval of full agenda. Motion 

CONSENT AGENDA 
7. Consideration of approval of the minutes of the February 20, 2024 City 

Council meeting. 
Motion 

8. February sales tax report (December sales) Motion 

9. Consideration of approval of a request from Brittany Melby to hold a 
fireworks display on Sunday, April 28, 2024, at Midtown Event Center, 1102 
Riverside Boulevard, for a special event. 

Motion 

10. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Our Savior Lutheran 
Church, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, allowing the use of a portion of 
South 25th Street for the purpose of holding a "Rise N Run" 5K run on 
Saturday, March 30, 2024. 
 
 

Motion 

Page 3 of 210



- 2 - 

11. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Luis Cortez, doing business 
as Norfolk Adult Soccer League, allowing the use of multi-purpose fields 
located on North Pine Park and a soccer field in Veterans Memorial Park for 
the League's practices, games, and tournaments during their 2024 
summer/fall season from April 21, 2024 through December 31, 2024. 

Motion 

12. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Norfolk Lions Club, Inc.,  
a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, allowing the use of Norfolk Pedal Park 
for a Big Wheel race on Saturday, May 18, 2024. 

Motion 

13. Consideration of acceptance of the Parks and Recreation Board report from 
February 22, 2024. 

Motion 

14. Consideration of approval of a Special Designated Liquor License for 
District Event Center, to serve beer, wine and distilled spirits outside of 
District Event Center, 218 W Norfolk Avenue, on May 5, 2024, from 9:00 
a.m. to 10:00 p.m. for a Cinco De Mayo Celebration. 

Motion 

15. Consideration of Resolution No. 2024-10 approving RAR Enterprises, LLC, 
dba Founders, 501 Norfolk Ave, Suite #110, as a satellite location of 
Endgame Lottery Services, dba Big Red Keno, for the Norfolk Keno Lottery. 

Resolution 2024-10 

16. Consideration of approval of all bills on file. Motion 

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND RELATED ACTION 
17. Public hearing to consider a Class C (beer, wine, distilled spirits, on and off 

sale) liquor license application for RAR Enterprises, LLC, dba Founders, 
501 W Norfolk Avenue Suite110, and the manager application of Miranda L. 
Bright. 

 

18. Consideration of approval Resolution No. 2024-11 of the Class C (beer, 
wine, distilled spirits, on and off sale) liquor license application for  RAR 
Enterprises, LLC, dba Founders, 501 West Norfolk Avenue, Suite 110, and 
the manager application of Miranda L. Bright. 

Resolution 2024-11 

19. Public hearing at the request of Par.Lor & Libations LLC., to consider a 
zoning change from I-1 (Light Industrial District) to C-2 (Central Business 
District) on property addressed as 714 W. Norfolk Ave. 

 

20. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5869 approving a zoning change from I-1 
(Light Industrial District) to C-2 (Central Business District) on property 
addressed as 714 W. Norfolk Ave. 

Ordinance No. 5869 

21. Public hearing to consider a request from BAS Holding, LLC, to consider a 
zoning change from A (Agricultural District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) 
on property addressed as 2200 S. Victory Road. 

 

22. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5870 approving a zoning change from A 
(Agricultural District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) on property addressed 
as 2200 S. Victory Road. 
 

Ordinance No. 5870 

Page 4 of 210



- 3 - 

23. Public hearing to consider the adoption of a Workforce Housing Incentive 
Plan to allow for the use of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) for new 
construction activities for workforce housing as defined by thresholds set 
forth by the Nebraska Department of Economic Development and the 
Nebraska Community Development Law. 

 

24. Consideration of Resolution 2024-12 for the adoption of a Workforce 
Housing Incentive Plan to allow for the use of Tax Increment Financing 
(TIF) for new construction activities for workforce housing as defined by 
thresholds set forth by the Nebraska Department of Economic Development 
and the Nebraska Community Development Law. 

Resolution 2024-12 

REGULAR AGENDA 
25. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Fire Station and Police 

Station Roof Replacement projects. 
Motion 

26. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Paving District No. 
521 (Norfolk 140 Subdivision) project. 

Motion 

27. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Sanitary Sewer 
Extension District No. 255 (Norfolk 140 Subdivision) project. 

Motion 

28. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Water Main Extension 
District No. 128 (Norfolk 140 Subdivision) project. 

Motion 

29. Consideration of approval to submit a grant application to the Recreation 
Area Development Program of the Lower Elkhorn Natural Resources 
District (LENRD) in the amount of $30,000 to go towards a picnic shelter 
and restroom at Liberty Bell Park and for the Mayor to sign all contracts and 
documents related to the grant. 

Motion 

30. Consideration to approve a Standard AIA Design Build Contract with Huff 
Construction for the Team Lockers at Ta-Ha-Zouka. 

Motion 

31. Consideration of approval of the Façade Improvement Program guidelines 
for the City of Norfolk, Nebraska Downtown Revitalization grant. 

Motion 

32. Consideration of approval to award a contract to Rutjens Construction, Inc. 
of Tilden, NE for the Water Extension District No. 129, North Highway 81 
project for an amount of $320,035.00. 

Motion 

33. Consideration of Resolution No. 2024-13 authorizing submittal of an 
Extremely Blighted Determination Study for a site located at approximately 
105 East Norfolk or the northeast corner of North 1st Street & East Norfolk 
Avenue. 

Resolution 2024-13 

 

Page 5 of 210



 
                        right at home. 
 

 

309 N 5th Street 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2012  F402-844-2028 
www.norfolkne.gov 

STAFF MEMORANDUM 
NORFOLK CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

March 04, 2024 

CALL TO ORDER 
1. 5:30 p.m. - call meeting to order  
2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meetings Act posted in the  

Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public 
 

3. Moment of silence/Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States of  
America 

 

4. Roll call  
   

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS 
5. Approval of consent agenda.    

All items in the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the City 
Council and will be enacted by one motion. There will be no separate 
discussion of these items unless a Council member or a citizen so requests, in 
which event the item will be removed from the consent agenda and 
considered separately. 

Motion 

6. Approval of full agenda. Motion 
   

CONSENT AGENDA 
7. Consideration of approval of the minutes of the February 20, 2024 City 

Council meeting. 
Motion 

   
See Enclosure 7. 
 

8. February sales tax report (December sales) Motion 
   

February sales tax receipts (December sales) are $1,130,809.70. The City's 
sales tax receipts are down $5,148.22 or 0.45% from last February. Motor 
vehicle sale tax was up $5,675.09, and consumers use tax was up $5,144.38. 
The decrease was in other sales tax. Fiscal year to date sales tax receipts are 
$591,585.69 or 11.67% more than budgeted. Included in the agenda packet is a 
sales tax comparison by month. 
 
See Enclosure 8. 
 
 

Page 6 of 210

~'z iN 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E 8 R A S K A 



Staff Memorandum - 2 - 
City Council Meeting 
March 04, 2024 

 

9. Consideration of approval of a request from Brittany Melby to hold a 
fireworks display on Sunday, April 28, 2024, at Midtown Event Center,  
1102 Riverside Boulevard, for a special event. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 9. 
 

10. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Our Savior Lutheran 
Church, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, allowing the use of a portion of 
South 25th Street for the purpose of holding a "Rise N Run" 5K run on 
Saturday, March 30, 2024. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 10. 
 

11. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Luis Cortez, doing business 
as Norfolk Adult Soccer League, allowing the use of multi-purpose fields 
located on North Pine Park and a soccer field in Veterans Memorial Park for 
the League's practices, games, and tournaments during their 2024 
summer/fall season from April 21, 2024 through December 31, 2024. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 11. 
 

12. Consideration of approval of an agreement with Norfolk Lions Club, Inc.,  
a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, allowing the use of Norfolk Pedal Park 
for a Big Wheel race on Saturday, May 18, 2024. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 12. 
 

13. Consideration of acceptance of the Parks and Recreation Board report from 
February 22, 2024. 

Motion 

   
The items approved for recommendation include the minutes, full agenda,  
a concept for a historical trail from Winter Park to Johnson Park, a letter of 
support for the Raise Grant, and placement of sculptures provided by the Nucor 
Ken Iverson project. There are no future items needed from council as a result 
of this meeting. 
 
See Enclosure 13. 
 

14. Consideration of approval of a Special Designated Liquor License for 
District Event Center, to serve beer, wine and distilled spirits outside of 
District Event Center, 218 W Norfolk Avenue, on May 5, 2024, from 9:00 
a.m. to 10:00 p.m. for a Cinco De Mayo Celebration. 

Motion 

   
See Enclosure 14. 
 
 

Page 7 of 210



Staff Memorandum - 3 - 
City Council Meeting 
March 04, 2024 

 

15. Consideration of Resolution No. 2024-10 approving RAR Enterprises, LLC, 
dba Founders, 501 Norfolk Ave, Suite #110, as a satellite location of 
Endgame Lottery Services, dba Big Red Keno, for the Norfolk Keno Lottery. 

Resolution 2024-10 

   
See Enclosure 15. 
 

16. Consideration of approval of all bills on file. Motion 
   

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND RELATED ACTION 
17. Public hearing to consider a Class C (beer, wine, distilled spirits, on and off 

sale) liquor license application for RAR Enterprises, LLC, dba Founders, 
501 W Norfolk Avenue Suite 110, and the manager application of Miranda 
L. Bright. 

 

   
RAR Enterprises, LLC, dba Founders, 501 W Norfolk Avenue, Suite 110 has 
submitted an application for a Class C Liquor License. A background check 
was completed by the Norfolk Police Department and is attached to the agenda 
packet.   
  
Following the public hearing, Council will need to make a recommendation, by 
resolution, to the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission, who ultimately 
decides on issuance of the license. 
 
See Enclosure 17. 
 

18. Consideration of approval Resolution No. 2024-11 of the Class C (beer, 
wine, distilled spirits, on and off sale) liquor license application for  RAR 
Enterprises, LLC, dba Founders, 501 West Norfolk Avenue, Suite 110, and 
the manager application of Miranda L. Bright. 

Resolution 2024-11 

   
See Enclosure 18. 
 

19. Public hearing at the request of Par.Lor & Libations LLC., to consider a 
zoning change from I-1 (Light Industrial District) to C-2 (Central Business 
District) on property addressed as 714 W. Norfolk Ave. 

 

   
See Enclosure 19. 
 

20. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5869 approving a zoning change from I-1 
(Light Industrial District) to C-2 (Central Business District) on property 
addressed as 714 W. Norfolk Ave. 

Ordinance No. 5869 

   
See Enclosure 20. 
 
 

Page 8 of 210



Staff Memorandum - 4 - 
City Council Meeting 
March 04, 2024 

 

21. Public hearing to consider a request from BAS Holding, LLC, to consider a 
zoning change from A (Agricultural District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) 
on property addressed as 2200 S. Victory Road. 

 

   
See Enclosure 21. 
 

22. Consideration of Ordinance No. 5870 approving a zoning change from A 
(Agricultural District) to I-1 (Light Industrial District) on property addressed 
as 2200 S. Victory Road. 

Ordinance No. 5870 

   
See Enclosure 22. 
 

23. Public hearing to consider the adoption of a Workforce Housing Incentive 
Plan to allow for the use of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) for new 
construction activities for workforce housing as defined by thresholds set 
forth by the Nebraska Department of Economic Development and the 
Nebraska Community Development Law. 

 

   
Community Development Law allows for the use of Tax Increment Financing 
(TIF) for new construction in owner-occupied homes and rental units if a 
community adopts a Workforce Housing Incentive Plan and the cost of 
construction stays within the thresholds defined by the Nebraska Department of 
Economic Development. The most recent guidelines indicate a maximum 
construction cost of $300,000 for owner -occupied units and no more than 
$235,000 per unit for rental housing units.   
  
As with all TIF projects, developers seeking to use TIF must present a 
redevelopment plan or submit a micro-TIF application as well as disclose a 
detailed project budget and provide the CDA with actual costs for the 
completed project.  
  
Discussion on this agenda item was held at the November 6 and 20, 2023 
Community and Economic Development Subcommittee meetings. 
 

24. Consideration of Resolution 2024-12 for the adoption of a Workforce 
Housing Incentive Plan to allow for the use of Tax Increment Financing 
(TIF) for new construction activities for workforce housing as defined by 
thresholds set forth by the Nebraska Department of Economic Development 
and the Nebraska Community Development Law. 

Resolution 2024-12 

   
See Enclosure 24. 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 
25. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Fire Station and Police 

Station Roof Replacement projects. 
Motion 

Page 9 of 210



Staff Memorandum - 5 - 
City Council Meeting 
March 04, 2024 

 

26. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Paving District No. 
521 (Norfolk 140 Subdivision) project. 

Motion 

   
The plans, specifications, and engineer's estimate for this project are filed in the 
City offices. This paving district includes paving South 43rd Street from 
existing approach on West Norfolk Avenue (Highway 275) south 
approximately 750 feet, Madison Avenue from South 43rd Street east 1400 feet 
to South 40th Street, 40th Street from Madison Avenue in Fountain Point 
Addition south 225 feet to the easterly extension of Madison Avenue in Norfolk 
140 Subdivision, right turn lane to 43rd Street on the east bound lanes of 
Highway 275, and the realignment of 320 feet of a private drive to meet 
Nebraska Department of Transportation access restriction requirements.    
  
A bid letting is tentatively scheduled for this spring with Council approval of 
the lowest responsive and responsible bidder following. 
 

27. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Sanitary Sewer 
Extension District No. 255 (Norfolk 140 Subdivision) project. 

Motion 

   
The plans, specifications, and engineer's estimate for this project are filed in the 
City offices. This sanitary sewer district includes construction of a 12-inch PVC 
sanitary sewer main along with necessary appurtenances extending south along 
40th Street approximately 255 feet, west at the intersection of 40th Street and 
Madison Avenue approximately 1400 feet to 43rd Street, and north on 43rd 
Street approximately 375 feet.    
  
A bid letting is tentatively scheduled for this spring with Council approval of 
the lowest responsive and responsible bidder following. 
 

28. Consideration of approval to advertise for bids for the Water Main Extension 
District No. 128 (Norfolk 140 Subdivision) project. 

Motion 

   
The plans, specifications, and engineer's estimate for this project are filed in the 
City offices. This water district includes construction of a 10-inch DIP water 
main together with necessary appurtenances extending west along Madison 
Avenue approximately 1400 feet from 40th Street to 43rd Street, and north 
along 43rd Street approximately 840 feet to Highway 275.    
  
A bid letting is tentatively scheduled for this spring with Council approval of 
the lowest responsive and responsible bidder following. 
 

29. Consideration of approval to submit a grant application to the Recreation 
Area Development Program of the Lower Elkhorn Natural Resources 
District (LENRD) in the amount of $30,000 to go towards a picnic shelter 
and restroom at Liberty Bell Park and for the Mayor to sign all contracts and 
documents related to the grant. 

Motion 

Page 10 of 210



Staff Memorandum - 6 - 
City Council Meeting 
March 04, 2024 

 

   
Matching funds will come from existing project funds to install a restroom at 
Liberty Bell Park. The current budget is $200,000, we would like to increase 
that to $230,000 to install a restroom and a shelter. 
 
See Enclosure 29. 
 

30. Consideration to approve a Standard AIA Design Build Contract with Huff 
Construction for the Team Lockers at Ta-Ha-Zouka. 

Motion 

   
Attached is an agreement for the design-build process with Huff Construction 
to install team lockers at Ta Ha Zouka Park in the amount of $1,350,000. The 
selection committee met September 12th, 2023, and selected Huff Construction 
to design and build Team Lockers at Ta Ha Zouka Park. This is funded through 
contributions from NPS, NECC and the Mahlon B. Kohler donation. The 
expected team locker design will include lockers for the home and away team 
and one set of restrooms and ADA sidewalks. The locker rooms will have 
retractable walls to allow us to open the room into a two-lane batting cage in 
the winter and used for youth programs as requested by the Kohler Estate. The 
entire facility will be available year-round. This process allows us to conduct 
our preliminary design before returning to council with an amendment to 
complete the full project of $1.35 million. The preliminary design phase is not 
to exceed $30,000. 
 
See Enclosure 30. 
 

31. Consideration of approval of the Façade Improvement Program guidelines 
for the City of Norfolk, Nebraska Downtown Revitalization grant. 

Motion 

   
In November 2023, the City was awarded $435,000 in CDBG Downtown 
Revitalization (DTR) funds from the Nebraska Department of Economic 
Development. Of the $435,000 in funds, $310,000 are allocated to the 
downtown façade improvement program.   
  
The proposed Façade Improvement Program will operate very similar to the 
2017 grant where applicants can apply for funds to improve façade features 
such as awnings, windows, doors, signage, or restoration activities such as tuck 
pointing. The program requires a 1:1 match from the property owner or 
business that is applying. Applications will be reviewed by a Design Advisory 
Board appointed by the Vehicle Parking District. The program is designed to 
forgive the loan over a five-year period. The maximum request is $25,000 per 
application.   
  
Staff worked with the Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District to 
ensure updated guidelines follow specifications outlined in the CDBG DTR 
program. The proposed guidelines were discussed at the January 8, 2024 

Page 11 of 210



Staff Memorandum - 7 - 
City Council Meeting 
March 04, 2024 

 

Downtown Norfolk Association meeting as well as the February 15, 2024 
Vehicle Parking District Advisory Board meeting. The guidelines have been 
posted on the City's website under a projects page that was created specifically 
for this grant award. 
 
See Enclosure 31. 
 

32. Consideration of approval to award a contract to Rutjens Construction, Inc. 
of Tilden, NE for the Water Extension District No. 129, North Highway 81 
project for an amount of $320,035.00. 

Motion 

   
This project consists of approximately 1700' of 8" water main and 
approximately 250' of 6" water main with all needed appurtenances.  On 
February 26, 2024 two bids were received.  The other bidder was Penro 
Construction Co., Inc. of Pender, NE for $437,672.60.  
  
The low bid is within the engineer's estimate.  The Engineer, McLaury 
Engineering Inc., and City staff recommend approval of a contract with Rutjens 
Construction Inc. for the Water Extension District No. 129, North Highway 81 
project for an amount of $320,035.00. 
 
See Enclosure 32. 
 

33. Consideration of Resolution No. 2024-13 authorizing submittal of an 
Extremely Blighted Determination Study for a site located at approximately 
105 East Norfolk or the northeast corner of North 1st Street & East Norfolk 
Avenue. 

Resolution 2024-13 

   
This study is to determine if area already declared Blighted and Substandard 
located at approximately 105 East Norfolk (NE corner of N 1st & East Norfolk 
Ave) meets the Legislative requirements to be declared Extremely Blighted.   
  
In the 2020 Nebraska general election Proposed Amendment No. 2 was offered 
to the voters. It was a constitutional amendment to authorize the Legislature to 
allow cities and villages to pledge property taxes as part of a redevelopment 
project for a period not to exceed twenty years if, due to a high rate of 
unemployment combined with a high poverty rate as determined by law, more 
than one-half of the property in the project area is extremely blighted. As a state 
voters approved the measure 530,236 FOR (61.6%) and 330,445 AGAINST. In 
Madison County voters approved the measure 7,957 FOR (56.8%) and 6,047 
AGAINST.   
  
Discussion relating to this agenda item was held at the Monday, December 4, 
2023 Community and Economic Development Subcommittee meeting. 
 
See Enclosure 33. 

Page 12 of 210



COUNCIL 2024 FEB20.2024 BK NO 63    Page 1 of 5 
 

 

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

 

The Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska met in regular session in the 
Council Chambers, 309 North 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska on the 20th day of February, 2024, 
beginning at 5:30 p.m. 
 
Following a moment of silence and the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States of 
America, Mayor Josh Moenning called the meeting to order.  Roll call found the following 
Councilmembers present:  Corey Granquist, Frank Arens, Justin Webb, Andrew McCarthy, Thad 
Murren, Justin Snorton, Shane Clausen and Kory Hildebrand. Absent:  None. 
 
Staff members present were:  City Administrator Andy Colvin, City Attorney Danielle Myers-
Noelle, City Clerk Brianna Duerst, Administrative Secretary Bethene Hoff, Assistant City 
Engineer Anna Allen, Risk Manager Lyle Lutt, Human Resources Director Jessica Dvorak, 
Streets Manager Will Elwell, Street Shop Supervisor Matt Ernesti, Parks and Recreation Director 
Nathan Powell, Assistant Parks and Recreation Director PJ Evans, Economic Development 
Director Candice Alder and City Planner Val Grimes. 
 
The Mayor presided and the City Clerk recorded the proceedings.  
 
The Mayor informed the public about the location of the current copy of the Open Meetings Act 
posted in the City Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public. 
 
Notice of the meeting was given in advance thereof by publication in the Norfolk Daily News, 
Norfolk, Nebraska, the designated method of giving notice, as shown by affidavit of publication. 
 
Notice was given to the Mayor and all members of the Council and a copy of their 
acknowledgement of receipt of notice and agenda is attached to the minutes.  Availability of the 
agenda was communicated in the advance notice and in the notice to the Mayor and Council of 
this meeting.  All proceedings hereafter shown were taken while the convened meeting was open 
to the public. 
   

Agenda Motions 

 

Councilmember Murren moved, seconded by Councilmember Snorton to approve the consent 
agenda with Item #15, consideration of approval to advertise for request for proposals for a 

highway and street right of way mowing contract for the Street Division, and Item #16, 
consideration of approval to advertise for a request for proposals for a street striping/painting 

contract for the Street Division, removed from the consent agenda and added to the regular 
agenda.  Roll call:  Ayes:  Granquist, Arens, Webb, McCarthy, Murren, Snorton, Clausen and 
Hildebrand.  Nays:  None. Absent:  None. 
 
Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember Arens to adopt the full agenda 
with Item #15 and 16 removed from the consent agenda and added to the regular agenda..  Roll 
call:  Ayes:  Granquist, Arens, Webb, McCarthy, Murren, Snorton, Clausen and Hildebrand.  
Nays:  None. Absent:  None. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 7
Page 13 of 210



COUNCIL 2024 FEB20.2024 BK NO 63    Page 2 of 5 
 

 

 
Consent Agenda Items Approved 

 
Minutes of the February 5, 2024, City Council meeting  
 
Keno Comparison report for January 2024 
 
Acceptance of the January 22, 2024 board report of the Northeast Nebraska Regional Land Bank 
 
American Cancer Society, Inc., a New York Nonprofit Corporation, d/b/a Norfolk Area Relay 
for Life, agreement allowing the use of Ta-Ha-Zouka Park to hold a Norfolk Area Relay for Life 
event including but not limited to live music performances, ceremonies, luminarias, walking, and 
a silent auction on Friday, May 31, 2024 
 
Northeast Nebraska All-Star Football Classic, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, agreement to 
use the football field in Veterans Memorial Park for an all-star classic football game for area 
graduating seniors on Saturday, June 8, 2024 
 
Special Designated Liquor License for Sacred Heart Church of Norfolk to serve beer, wine and 
distilled spirits at Norfolk Catholic Activities Center, 2301 West Madison Avenue, on April 13, 
2024, from 5 p.m. to 12 a.m. for a Hall of Fame banquet 
 
Special Designated Liquor License for Jim's Fine Wine and More, to serve wine and distilled 
spirits at Magnolias, 432 W Norfolk Ave, on March 9, 2024, from 12:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. for a 
wine and cordial tasting event 
 
Resolution No. 2024-7 approving the final plat and subdivision agreement for Abler Light 
Industrial Site Replat 
 
Mayor's reappointment of Erin Kucera to the Tree Advisory Board for a three (3) year term 
expiring September 2026 
 
Resolution 2024-8 supplementing the original legal descriptions contained within Resolution 
2024-5 with ones set forth by the Madison County Clerk 
 
Mayor's reappointment of Jill Sock, Dirk Waite and Brandon Franklin to the Norfolk Planning 
Commission for a three-year term, ending February 2027 
 
Mayor's reappointment of Ignacio Machuca and Dan Hofmann (alternate) to the Building & 
Property Maintenance Code Appeals Board for a five-year term, ending February 2029 
 
Mayor's reappointment of John Grimes to the Fire Code Appeals Board for a five-year term, 
ending February 2029 
 
Mayor's appointment of Roy Swoboda to the Plumbing Board for a three-year term, ending 
August 2026 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 7
Page 14 of 210



COUNCIL 2024 FEB20.2024 BK NO 63    Page 3 of 5 
 

 

 
Bills in the amount of $1,860,659.90 
 

Special Presentation 

 
Will and Leon Younger with PROS Consulting, presented the Norfolk Parks and Recreation 
Master Plan findings and preliminary recommendations, reviewing the comprehensive master 
plan process, facility and amenity priorities, program priorities, proposed capital improvement 
plan, key issues and themes, Norfolk Parks vision and mission, parkland and trails, facility 
programming, and financial strategies.  
 

Regular Agenda 

 
Advertise for highway and street of way mowing 

 
Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember McCarthy, for approval to 
advertise for a request for proposals for a highway and street right of way mowing contract for 
the Street Division. 
 
Streets Manager Will Elwell provided information to elected officials. Elwell explained that 
contracting this out would allow Street crews to focus on street maintenance instead of getting 
pulled away to do this mowing. These areas would be mowed up to six times per year, from 
around Memorial Day to the end of October.  
 
Councilmember Hildebrand declared a conflict of interest and abstained from the vote.  
 
Roll call:  Ayes:  Granquist, Arens, Webb, McCarthy, Murren, Snorton and Clausen. Nays:  
None. Absent:  None. Abstaining: Hildebrand.  Motion approved. 
 

Advertise for street striping/painting 
 

Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember Hildebrand, for approval to 
advertise for a request for proposals for a street striping/painting contract for the Street Division. 
 
Streets Manager Will Elwell provided information to elected officials. Elwell explained that 
most roads get painted every year, but it is a very lengthy process. By contracting this out, the 
contractor can get the striping/painting done in much less time, and it will free up Street’s 
resources to focus on other street maintenance. 
 
Roll call:  Ayes:  Granquist, Arens, Webb, McCarthy, Murren, Snorton, Clausen and Hildebrand.  
Nays:  None. Absent:  None.  Motion approved.  
 
 
 
 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 7
Page 15 of 210



COUNCIL 2024 FEB20.2024 BK NO 63    Page 4 of 5 
 

 

Resolution No. 2024-9  
(RAISE planning grant application) 

 
Councilmember Granquist moved, seconded by Councilmember Murren, for adoption of 
Resolution No. 2024-9 approving to support Madison County in their RAISE planning grant 
application. 
 
Assistant City Engineer Anna Allen provided information to elected officials. Madison County is 
applying for a RAISE (Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity) 
planning grant to request funding for the planning, preliminary design, and initial environmental 
review for the Northwest Industrial Loop project. The proposed project is for the extension of 
Industrial Highway from Highway 81 west approximately 6 miles, then south to Highway 275 
while also looking at alternatives to improve the roadway from this point north toward Pierce. 
This project would allow for heavy truck traffic to circumvent Norfolk, promote economic 
growth, and increase safety along the highway corridors in town. Applications are due February 
28, and the grant is expected to be awarded in June. 
 
Roll call:  Ayes:  Granquist, Arens, Webb, McCarthy, Murren, Snorton, Clausen and Hildebrand.  
Nays:  None. Absent:  None.  Resolution No. 2024-9 was adopted. 
 

A & R Construction Change Order No. 2 
(West Michigan Avenue & 8th Street Reconstruction project) 

 
Councilmember Arens moved, seconded by Councilmember Snorton, for approval of Change 
Order No.2 with A & R Construction for the West Michigan Avenue and 8th Street 
Reconstruction project resulting in a net increase of $103,628.84. 
 
Assistant City Engineer Anna Allen provided information to elected officials. Change Order No. 
2 provides for full reconstruction of the intersection of 7th and Michigan, increases in water and 
sewer service connections, and balancing most bid items to as built quantities resulting in a new 
contract amount of $3,086,833.45. 
 
Roll call:  Ayes:  Granquist, Arens, Webb, McCarthy, Murren, Snorton, Clausen and Hildebrand.  
Nays:  None. Absent:  None. 
 

AccuDock fishing dock purchase 
 

Councilmember Arens moved, seconded by Councilmember Snorton, for approval to purchase a 
fishing dock from AccuDock in the amount of $184,166.00. 
 
On January 10, 2024, two proposals were received. One from AccuDock and three options from 
EZ Dock. Parks and Recreation Director Nathan Powell provided information to elected 
officials. Working with Nebraska Game and Parks, engineering and lake users, city staff 
determined AccuDock to be a better-quality product with the highest perceived value, and a 
more suitable style for our location. This dock is part of the $250,000 Mahlon B. Kohler 
donation. This leaves $68,326 for the installation, site modifications, a bench and a picnic table 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 7
Page 16 of 210



COUNCIL 2024 FEB20.2024 BK NO 63    Page 5 of 5 
 

 

to recognize the gift from Mahlon B. Kohler. The process of accepting quotes for the dock 
installation has begun. The remaining funds will be used to provide ADA access from the 
parking lot area. The dock will be located on the south side of the lake near the jetties.  
 
John Sehi, 1621 Koenigstein Ave, said the dock placement will be a great location.  
 
Councilmember Hildebrand declared a conflict of interest and abstained from the vote. 
 
Roll call:  Ayes:  Granquist, Arens, Webb, McCarthy, Murren, Snorton, Clausen.  Nays:  None. 
Absent:  None. Abstaining: Hildebrand. Motion approved.  
 
There being no further business, the Mayor declared the meeting adjourned at 6:47 p.m. 

  
_____________________________ 
Josh Moenning 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Brianna Duerst 
City Clerk 
 
( S E A L ) 
 
I, the undersigned Clerk, hereby certify that the foregoing is the full, true and correct original 
document of proceedings of Tuesday, February 20, 2024, had and done by the Mayor and City 
Council; that all of the subjects included in the proceedings were contained in the agenda for the 
meeting, kept continually current and available for public inspection at the office of the Clerk; 
that such subjects were contained in said agenda for at least twenty-four hours prior to the 
meeting; that at least one copy of all reproducible material discussed at the meeting was 
available at the meeting for examination and copying by members of the public; that the said 
minutes were in written form and available for public inspection within ten working days and 
prior to the next convened meeting of said body; that all news media requesting notification 
concerning meetings of said body were provided advance notification of the time and place of 
said meeting and the subjects to be discussed at said meeting. 
 
____________________________ 
Brianna Duerst 
City Clerk 
 
( S E A L ) 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 7
Page 17 of 210



PAYMENT 2024
DATE 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 BUDGET

October 749,907.08$  791,667.22$  807,699.88$        916,869.52$        995,864.82$        1,083,160.19$    996,910.16$        87,295.37$           8.77% 86,250.03$           8.65%
November 693,592.86$  773,622.59$  798,022.46$        884,430.97$        974,723.28$        1,013,893.31$    975,768.62$        39,170.03$           4.02% 38,124.69$           3.91%
December 688,673.25$  760,004.07$  815,440.55$        899,492.96$        965,286.05$        990,850.41$       966,331.39$        25,564.36$           2.65% 24,519.02$           2.54%
January 722,650.88$  743,508.54$  821,520.19$        881,000.94$        991,455.26$        1,441,386.11$    992,500.60$        449,930.85$         45.38% 448,885.51$         45.23%
February 812,345.69$  887,425.53$  950,153.16$        1,009,091.07$     1,135,957.92$     1,130,809.70$    1,137,003.26$     (5,148.22)$            -0.45% (6,193.56)$            -0.54%

March 632,492.20$  633,342.26$  774,090.95$        781,268.81$        823,190.27$        -$                    824,235.61$        -$                     0.00% -$                     0.00%
April 606,371.26$  725,373.93$  719,690.10$        800,199.17$        864,336.75$        -$                    865,382.09$        -$                     0.00% -$                     0.00%
May 712,360.98$  733,041.40$  943,475.10$        941,437.19$        965,402.83$        -$                    965,402.83$        -$                     0.00% -$                     0.00%
June 738,010.16$  653,114.23$  935,611.73$        907,696.57$        948,479.55$        -$                    908,741.91$        -$                     0.00% -$                     0.00%
July 761,157.69$  750,322.72$  883,844.67$        985,039.55$        1,029,422.05$     -$                    986,084.89$        -$                     0.00% -$                     0.00%

August 756,686.77$  866,997.21$  907,083.35$        984,190.94$        1,112,393.81$     -$                    985,236.28$        -$                     0.00% -$                     0.00%
September 748,664.90$  857,175.30$  951,421.42$        981,225.96$        965,491.99$        -$                    982,271.30$        -$                     0.00% -$                     0.00%

TOTALS $8,622,913.72 $9,175,595.00 10,308,053.56$   10,971,943.65$   11,772,004.58$   5,660,099.72$    11,585,868.94$   596,812.39$         11.79% 591,585.69$         11.67%

BUDGET VARIANCECHANGE 2023 TO 2024

CITY OF NORFOLK
1 1/2 CENT SALES TAX COMPARISON

2019 - 2024

FISCAL YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

 $-

 $200,000.00

 $400,000.00

 $600,000.00

 $800,000.00

 $1,000,000.00

 $1,200,000.00

 $1,400,000.00

 $1,600,000.00

October November December January February March April May June July August September

1 1/2 Cent Sales Tax Comparison

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

3/4/2024 Enclosure 8
Page 18 of 210



1

Brianna Duerst

From: Brittany Melby <brittany.dawn.melby@gmail.com> 

Sent: Tuesday, February 13, 2024 11:49 AM 

To: Katelyn Palmer <KPalmer@norfolkne.gov> 

Subject: Private Firework Show 

We are requesting permission to a private firework show, this is for personal use, not professional 

fireworks. We are planning to light them off on April 28th in the evening when it gets dark at the Midtown 

Event Center in Norfolk NE. This is for the Exchange Student Programs going away party. The exchange 

students are unable to stay for the Fourth of July Festivities due to their visas expiring so we would like to 

simulate a small Fourth of July gathering with fireworks. If there is rain we will NOT reschedule, we would 

just not light off fireworks. Show should last less than 15 minutes. We have permission from the Event 

Center already for this. The fireworks would be something you can purchase during the season, not large 

fireworks (Big bang boom).  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 9
Page 19 of 210



AGREEMENT 
 

          
 This Agreement is made and entered into on this            day of _____________, 2024, by 
and between the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as 
"CITY", and Our Savior Lutheran Church, a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, hereinafter 
referred to as “CHURCH”, WITNESSETH:   
 

 WHEREAS, CHURCH is desirous of holding a “Rise N Run” 5K Run on Saturday, 
March 30, 2024; and  
 
 WHEREAS, CHURCH is desirous of closing a portion of South 25th Street from the 
southernmost exit on the west side of CHURCH’s property at 2420 W. Omaha Avenue to the 
south side of Omaha Avenue (south city limits) for a portion of its Rise N Run event; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the parties desire to enter into an Agreement to allow CHURCH to hold the 
5K Run utilizing a portion of South 25th Street at the location named herein. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, the parties hereto agree 
as follows: 
 
 1.  ROUTE.  CITY shall allow CHURCH to utilize the following portion of South 25 
Street for the purpose of holding the 5K Run on Saturday, March 30, 2024, for the route depicted 
on the attached Exhibit “A”:   
 

Begin at the southernmost exit on the west side of CHURCH’s property located 
at 2420 W. Omaha Avenue; 
 
Proceed running south on South 25th Street to the south side of W. Omaha 
Avenue (south city limits);  
 
Proceed south outside of city limits for major portion of the run;  
 
Re-enter city limits on South 25th Street from the south side of W. Omaha Ave 
and proceed north on South 25th Street;   

 
Conclude run at CHURCH’s parking lot at 2420 W. Omaha Avenue. 
  

 2.  STREET CLOSURE.  CITY will endeavor to close the portion of South 25th Street 
being utilized by runners at the beginning and end of the 5K Run while runners are present.  This 
provision will depend upon the availability of CITY’s Police Division staff. 
 
 3.  ROUTE MARKING.  CHURCH shall be allowed to begin marking the route for the 
5K Run on Saturday, March 30, 2024, at 8:30 a.m.  CHURCH shall remove all route markings 
immediately following completion of the event.  The event is scheduled to begin at 
approximately 8:30 a.m. and last approximately 1½ hours.   
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 10
Page 20 of 210



2 
 

  4.  PAINTING OF STREET PROHIBITED.  CHURCH shall not paint any CITY streets 
for this event. 
 
 5.  RELEASES.  In the event that CHURCH obtains Releases for participation in 
CHURCH’s event while utilizing CITY’s streets under the terms of this Agreement, said 
Releases shall include a provision releasing CITY from the same liability and in the same 
manner that is afforded to other entities being released.  
 
 6.  LIABILITY.  CHURCH shall provide CITY with a certificate of general liability 
insurance in the following minimum amounts: 
 
  General Aggregate $1,000,000 
 a. Bodily Injury/Property Damage $1,000,000 each occurrence 
 b. Personal Injury Damage $1,000,000 each occurrence 
 c. Contractual Liability $1,000,000 each occurrence          
 d. Products Liability & Completed Operations  $1,000,000 each occurrence 
 e. Fire Damage                                    $   100,000 any one fire  
 f. Medical Expense                                $       5,000 any one person 
 
 In addition, CHURCH shall name CITY as an additional insured.  The policy issued shall 
cover all activities sponsored by CHURCH while using CITY’s street with no exclusions.  
CHURCH’s insurance shall be the primary insurance coverage for CHURCH’s event.  
CHURCH agrees to be responsible for any damages or claim of loss not covered by CHURCH’s 
insurance.  A certificate of insurance shall be filed with the Norfolk City Clerk upon execution of 
this Agreement.  In the event the certificate of insurance is not filed by March 20, 2024, then (1) 
CHURCH shall pay a late fee to CITY in the amount of $75.00, and (2) this Agreement shall be 
voidable at the option of CITY's risk manager.  
 
 7.  HOLD HARMLESS/INDEMNIFICATION.  CHURCH agrees to save, hold harmless, 
indemnify and defend CITY, its representatives, agents and employees from any loss or damage 
or claim of loss by CHURCH or any third party from damage or claim of damage that arises 
from any of the activities authorized or undertaken as provided in this Agreement and for any 
loss to CITY that results from CHURCH failing to perform its obligations under this Agreement 
or engaging in any activity not authorized by this Agreement.   
 

 8.  NO SIGNS ALONG STATE HIGHWAY.  Pursuant to Nebraska Administrative Code 
Title 410, Chapter 3, CHURCH shall not place signs advertising CHURCH’s event on property 
adjacent to any state highway. 
 

9.  CANCELLATIONS.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, CITY 
retains the right at any time to cancel any activities scheduled on CITY property due to inclement 
weather or for any other reason.  CITY shall not be responsible for any loss to CHURCH 
resulting from CITY’s cancellation of CHURCH’s activities. 

 
10.  NO USAGE FEE.   CHURCH shall pay no fee to CITY for the use of CITY’s street 

for CHURCH’s event.  
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 10
Page 21 of 210



3 
 

 11.  NEBRASKA LAW GOVERNS.  This Agreement shall be governed, construed and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Nebraska.  Litigation arising out of or 
connected with this Agreement may be instituted and maintained in the courts of the State of 
Nebraska only, and the parties consent to jurisdiction over their person and over the subject 
matter of any such litigation, in those courts, and consent to service of process issued by such 
courts.  
 

12.  AUTHORITY TO SIGN AGREEMENT.  The individuals signing this Agreement 
represent that they are authorized to sign on behalf of the respective parties hereto. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the foregoing Agreement in 
duplicate the day and year first above written.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.  
Each such counterpart, executed in duplicate, shall be deemed an original hereof and all such 
executed counterparts shall together be one and the same instrument. 
 

   CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA,              
        A Municipal Corporation 
ATTEST:  
 
_____________________________    By___________________________ 
Brianna Duerst, City Clerk              Josh Moenning, Mayor 
 
 
Approved as to Form: __________________________________ 
        Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney 
 
 
      OUR SAVIOR LUTHERAN CHURCH,  
      A Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation 
 
 
      By______________________________________ 
       Title:  ______________________________________ 
       Printed Name: ________________________________ 

 
 
      By______________________________________ 
       Title:  ______________________________________ 
       Printed Name: ________________________________ 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 10
Page 22 of 210



EHXIBIT “A” 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 10
Page 23 of 210

2024 Rise N Run Route 

Vulcraft Group ~ 2420West .Lit( Omaha Avenue Omaha Ave Cj> 

• • • • • • • • ·---------------. 

Saras Lake 9 

• • • • • • • • • 
i 
: '/{ 30 min 
••••• l .5mlles 

Associated I'-. 
Wholesale Grocers ... ~ 

Love's Travel Ste 

Wis-Pak 9 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

"' 

Cowbc 
under• 



AGREEMENT 
 
 
 This Agreement is made and entered into the ______ day of ____________, 2024, by and 
between the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as 
“CITY”, and Luis Cortez, doing business as Norfolk Adult Soccer League, hereinafter referred to 
as “SOCCER LEAGUE”, WITNESSETH: 
 
 In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and 
valuable consideration, CITY agrees to allow SOCCER LEAGUE to use the CITY facilities for 
soccer practice, games, and tournaments subject to the following: 
 
 1.  FACILITY.  CITY, being the owner of multi-purpose fields located in North Pine 
Park and a soccer field in Veterans Memorial Park in Norfolk, Nebraska, is willing to allow the 
multi-purpose fields and/or soccer field to be used by SOCCER LEAGUE for soccer practice, 
games, and tournaments for their 2024 summer/fall soccer season. 
 
 2.  TERM.  This Agreement shall be effective April 21, 2024 through December 31, 
2024.  
 

3.  USAGE FEES.  SOCCER LEAGUE shall pay usage fees to CITY as follows: 
 

a.   $10.00 per athlete in program (practice other than Veterans Memorial Park). 
b. $15.00 per athlete in program (practice at Veterans Memorial Park). 
c.   $20.00 per field per day for games (not at Veterans Memorial Park). 
d.   $50.00 per day for games (at Veterans Memorial Park). 
e.   $15.00 per CITY staff member per hour for extra field preparation when 

requested to be on duty during tournaments and games.  (This charge only applies 
to field preparation over and above standard field preparation which is provided at 
no charge prior to the start of play each day.) 

 
SOCCER LEAGUE shall complete and submit a Roster Form listing all teams in SOCCER 
LEAGUE’s program.  CITY will bill SOCCER LEAGUE at the end of the soccer season in 
accordance with the fees set forth herein.  SOCCER LEAGUE shall be responsible for collecting 
all funds and shall pay the same to CITY at the Norfolk City Clerk’s Office, 309 North 5th 
Street, Norfolk, Nebraska, no later than December 1, 2024.  
 
 4.  NONEXCLUSIVE USE/TIMES.  The parties understand that SOCCER LEAGUE’s 
use of CITY’s fields shall be nonexclusive and is subject to such times as may be designated or 
assigned by CITY’s parks and recreation director.  
 
 5.  FIELD MARKING.  CITY shall mark CITY’s fields for games prior to the start of 
play each day. 
 
 6.  INSURANCE.  SOCCER LEAGUE shall provide CITY with a certificate of general 
liability insurance in the following minimum amounts:   

3/4/2024 Enclosure 11
Page 24 of 210



2 
 

 
General Aggregate    $2,000,000 

a. Bodily Injury/Property Damage  $1,000,000 each occurrence 
b. Personal Injury Damage   $1,000,000 each occurrence 
c. Contractual Liability    $1,000,000 each occurrence 
d. Products Liability & Completed Operations $1,000,000 each occurrence 

 e. Fire Damage     $   100,000 any one fire 
f. Medical Expense    $       5,000 any one person 

 
SOCCER LEAGUE shall name CITY as an additional insured.  The policy issued shall cover all 
activities sponsored by SOCCER LEAGUE while using CITY’s multi-purpose fields with no 
exclusions.  A certificate of insurance shall be filed with the City Clerk’s office upon execution of 
this Agreement.  Said insurance shall be the primary insurance coverage for SOCCER LEAGUE’s 
events.  SOCCER LEAGUE agrees to be responsible for any damages or claim of loss not covered 
by SOCCER LEAGUE’s insurance.  In the event the certificate of insurance is not filed by April 11, 
2024, then (1) SOCCER LEAGUE shall pay a late fee to CITY in the amount of $75.00, and (2) 
this Agreement shall be voidable at the option of CITY's risk manager.  
 
 7.  HOLD HARMLESS/INDEMNIFICATION.  SOCCER LEAGUE agrees to save, hold 
harmless, indemnify and defend CITY, its representatives, agents and employees from any loss or 
damage or claim of loss by SOCCER LEAGUE or any third party from damage or claim of damage 
that arises from any of the activities authorized or undertaken as provided in this Agreement and for 
any loss to CITY that results from SOCCER LEAGUE failing to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement or engaging in any activity not authorized by this Agreement.   
 
 8.  RELEASES.  In the event that SOCCER LEAGUE obtains Releases for participation in 
SOCCER LEAGUE’s events while utilizing CITY’s facilities under the terms of this Agreement, 
said Releases shall include a provision releasing CITY from the same liability and in the same 
manner that is afforded to other entities being released.  
 
 9.  VOLUNTEERS.  Any volunteers that access CITY’s fields as part of this Agreement are 
SOCCER LEAGUE’s volunteers and SOCCER LEAGUE shall be responsible for any insurance 
coverage or liability related to or stemming from SOCCER LEAGUE’s volunteers. 
 

10.  VEHICLE PARKING.  Parking of vehicles shall be restricted to the main parking lot.   
 
11.  NO PARKING AREA.  SOCCER LEAGUE understands the importance of CITY’s 

ability to access the equipment/vehicle(s) stored in the brown storage building located immediately 
west of the paved parking lot at North Pine Park.  SOCCER LEAGUE shall be responsible for 
ensuring that participants and spectators are notified that no parking is allowed in front of the brown 
storage building where indicated by “NO PARKING” signs.   
 
 12.  FIELD DAMAGE.  SOCCER LEAGUE shall be responsible for any damage to any 
part of CITY’s fields above normal use and wear for all times during which SOCCER LEAGUE 
has control of the fields.   
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 11
Page 25 of 210



3 
 

 13.  CLEANUP.  SOCCER LEAGUE shall perform all trash cleanup of the area at North 
Pine Park. 
 
 14.  CONCESSIONS.  SOCCER LEAGUE is prohibited from selling or participating in the 
sale of any concessions while utilizing CITY’s facilities under the terms of this Agreement.  
 
 15.  TENTS.  CITY shall allow the placement of pop-up tents in North Pine Park during the 
term of this Agreement, however, SOCCER LEAGUE shall not allow any tent stakes to be placed 
in the ground at North Pine Park.   
 
 16.  NO SIGNS ALONG STATE HIGHWAY.  Pursuant to Nebraska Administrative Code 
Title 410, Chapter 3, SOCCER LEAGUE shall not place signs advertising SOCCER LEAGUE’s 
events on property adjacent to any state highway. 
 
 17.  CANCELLATION BY SOCCER LEAGUE.  SOCCER LEAGUE shall be responsible 
for providing notice of cancellation of any games to CITY’s parks and recreation athletic supervisor 
at 844-2254.  
 
 18.  CANCELLATION BY CITY.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 
CITY retains the right to cancel any activities scheduled on CITY property due to inclement 
weather or for any other reason.  CITY shall not be responsible for any loss to SOCCER LEAGUE 
resulting from CITY’s cancellation of SOCCER LEAGUE’s activities. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the foregoing Agreement in 
duplicate the day and year first above written.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.  
Each such counterpart, executed in duplicate, shall be deemed an original hereof and all such 
executed counterparts shall together be one and the same instrument. 
 
 
         CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA,              
         A Municipal Corporation 
ATTEST:  
 
 
_____________________________    By___________________________ 
Brianna Duerst, City Clerk              Josh Moenning, Mayor 
 
 
Approved as to Form: __________________________________ 
        Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney 
 
 
 
        __________________________________ 
        Luis Cortez d/b/a  
        Norfolk Adult Soccer League  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 11
Page 26 of 210



AGREEMENT 
 

 
 This Agreement is made and entered into the ______ day of ________________, 2024, 
by and between the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to 
as “CITY”; and Norfolk Lions Club, Inc., a Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation, hereinafter referred 
to as “LIONS”, WITNESSETH: 
 
 In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and 
valuable consideration, CITY agrees to allow LIONS to use CITY’s facility for a Big Wheel 
Race event, subject to the following: 
 
 1.  FACILITY.  CITY, being the owner of the park facility commonly known as Norfolk 
Pedal Park is willing to allow the park to be used in conjunction with LIONS’s purpose of 
hosting a Big Wheel Race event to include but not be limited to kids racing for prizes on the 
bicycle track. 
 
 2.  DATE.  This Agreement shall be for the day of Saturday, May 18, 2024.  LIONS may 
begin setting up for their event at 8:00 a.m. on May 18, 2024.  LIONS shall be responsible for 
cleanup from the event and shall complete said cleanup by 12:00 noon on May 18, 2024. 
 
 3.  VEHICLE PARKING.  LIONS shall encourage attendees of their event to park 
vehicles in the CITY-owned parking lot located on the north end of the green space adjacent to 
Norfolk Pedal Park (near Benjamin Avenue).   
 
 4.  VENDING.  There shall be no vending of any goods, services, products, or 
commodities in the park.   
 
 5.  INSURANCE.  LIONS shall provide CITY with a certificate of general liability 
insurance in the following minimum amounts:   

 
General Aggregate    $1,000,000  

a. Bodily Injury/Property Damage  $1,000,000 each occurrence 
b. Personal Injury Damage   $1,000,000 each occurrence 
c. Contractual Liability    $1,000,000 each occurrence 
d. Products Liability & Completed Operations $1,000,000 each occurrence 

 e. Fire Damage     $   100,000 any one fire 
f. Medical Expense    $       5,000 any one person 

 
LIONS shall name CITY as an additional insured.  The policy issued shall cover all activities 
sponsored by LIONS while using CITY’s park facility with no exclusions.  A certificate of 
insurance shall be filed with the City Clerk’s office upon execution of this Agreement.  Said 
insurance shall be the primary insurance coverage for LIONS’ event.  LIONS agrees to be 
responsible for any damages or claim of loss not covered by LIONS’ insurance.  In the event the 
certificate of insurance is not filed by May 8, 2024, then (1) LIONS shall pay a late fee to CITY 
in the amount of $75.00, and (2) this Agreement shall be voidable at the option of CITY.  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 12
Page 27 of 210



2 
 

 
 6.  HOLD HARMLESS/INDEMNIFICATION.  LIONS agrees to save, hold harmless, 
indemnify and defend CITY, its agents and employees from any loss or damage or claim of loss 
by LIONS or any third party from damage or claim of damage that arises from any of the 
activities authorized or undertaken as provided in this Agreement and for any loss to CITY that 
results from LIONS failing to perform its obligations under this Agreement or engaging in any 
activity not authorized by this Agreement.   
 
 7.  VOLUNTEERS.  Any volunteers that access CITY’s park as part of this Agreement 
are LIONS’ volunteers and LIONS shall be responsible for any insurance coverage or liability 
related to or stemming from LIONS’ volunteers. 
 
 8.  TENT.  CITY shall allow LIONS to erect a tent in the park at a location approved by 
CITY’s parks and recreation director.  If the tent is to be held in place by stakes in the ground, 
then at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to Saturday, May 18, 2024, LIONS shall contact 
Nebraska 811 (formerly Diggers Hotline of Nebraska) to ascertain the location of underground 
utility lines in the areas where the tent is to be placed.  After utility lines have been determined 
by Nebraska 811 and prior to setting any tent stakes, LIONS shall coordinate with CITY’s parks 
and recreation director as to the contemplated location of the tent.  CITY will attempt to locate 
any private underground lines it owns.  LIONS shall not set any stakes until receiving approval 
from CITY’s parks and recreation director as to the exact location where the tent is to be placed.  
LIONS shall be responsible for any damage to any underground utility lines or to any unlocated 
lines.  
 

 9.  TEMPORARY SIGNAGE.  All informational signage in conjunction with this event 
may be placed in the park on the day of the event and must be removed at the end of the event.   

 
10.  NO SIGNS ALONG STATE HIGHWAY.  Pursuant to Nebraska Administrative 

Code Title 410, Chapter 3, LIONS shall not place signs advertising LIONS’ event on property 
adjacent to any state highway. 
 

11.  NO PAINT ON CONCRETE.  LIONS shall not paint or permanently mark any 
concrete in Norfolk Pedal Park for LIONS’ event.  In the event that LIONS does paint or 
permanently mark the concrete, then CITY shall have the paint or marking removed and the cost 
thereof shall be paid by LIONS. 
 
 12.  MANAGEMENT.  The parties acknowledge and agree that LIONS shall be solely 
responsible for the operation and management of the park during the term of this Agreement 
when the park is being utilized by LIONS for LIONS’ event and related activities.  LIONS shall 
be responsible for operating and managing the park in accordance with all applicable rules and 
regulations of any governmental entity with jurisdiction over the park including, but not limited 
to, the most current and updated Directed Health Measures of all local, state, and federal health 
agencies, and all resolutions and ordinances of CITY (collectively the “Rules”).  LIONS 
represents and covenants to CITY that LIONS is familiar with the Rules and that LIONS shall 
operate and manage the park in accordance with the Rules.  LIONS shall ensure that all 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 12
Page 28 of 210



3 
 

individuals utilizing the park for LIONS’ event shall conduct themselves in accordance with the 
Rules. 

 
 13.  MAINTENANCE.  LIONS shall be responsible for maintaining the park in 
accordance with the Rules so that the park may be utilized for permitted activities hereunder.  
Such obligation shall include, but not be limited to, all sanitation guidelines and maintenance 
obligations that are set forth in the Rules.  LIONS shall ensure that any guests, invitees, or 
visitors are those permitted to be in attendance at the park in accordance with the Rules.   

 
14.  NO USAGE FEE.   LIONS shall pay no usage fee to CITY to access Norfolk Pedal 

Park for LIONS’ event. 
 

 15.  POSTPONEMENT.  In the event it is necessary to postpone this event, LIONS may 
coordinate with CITY’s parks and recreation director to reschedule the date of the event. 

 
16.  CANCELLATIONS.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, CITY 

retains the right at any time to cancel any activities scheduled on CITY property due to inclement 
weather or for any other reason.  CITY shall not be responsible for any loss to LIONS resulting 
from CITY’s cancellation of LIONS’ activities. 

 
 17.  UNADDRESSED ISSUES.   Issues related to Norfolk Pedal Park not addressed in 
this Agreement may be approved by CITY at the discretion of CITY’s parks and recreation 
director upon request of LIONS. 
 

18.  AUTHORITY TO SIGN AGREEMENT.  The individuals signing this Agreement 
represent that they are authorized to sign on behalf of the respective parties hereto. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the foregoing Agreement in 
duplicate the day and year first above written.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.  
Each such counterpart, executed in duplicate, shall be deemed an original hereof and all such 
executed counterparts shall together be one and the same instrument. 
 
 

  CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA, 
        A Municipal Corporation 
ATTEST:  
 
        By___________________________ 
____________________________          Josh Moenning, Mayor 
Brianna Duerst, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to Form: _________________________________ 
       Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney 
 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 12
Page 29 of 210



4 
 

  NORFOLK LIONS CLUB, INC., 
  A Nebraska Nonprofit Corporation 
 
 
 

       By______________________________________ 

          Title: ________________________________________ 

       Printed Name: _________________________________ 

 

 

      By______________________________________ 

          Title: ________________________________________ 

       Printed Name: _________________________________ 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 12
Page 30 of 210



 

Agenda Packet 
 

NORFOLK PARKS BOARD MEETING 
 

Thursday, February 22, 2024 
5:00 p.m. 

 
Created 2/17/2024 7:57 AM 

https://norfolkne.gov/
Page 1 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 31 of 210



  
             innovation.  right at home. 
 

 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 
www.norfolkne.gov 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a meeting of the Norfolk Parks Board of the City of 

Norfolk, Nebraska, will be held at 5:00 p.m. on Thursday, February 22, 2024, in the Council 

Chambers, 309 N. 5th Street, which meeting will be open to the public.  

  An agenda for such meeting, kept continually current, is available at the City of 

Norfolk Administration Building, located at 309 N 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska during normal 

business hours. 

Publish (February 16, 2024) 
 

Page 2 of 47
3/4/2024 Enclosure 13

Page 32 of 210

~'z it-. 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



     innovation.  right at home. 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2250 
www.norfolkne.gov 

AGENDA 
NORFOLK PARKS BOARD MEETING 

February 22, 2024 

CALL TO ORDER 
1. 5:00 p.m.  Call meeting to order.
2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meetings Act posted in the

Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public
3. Roll call.

CURRENT BUSINESS 
4. Approval of full agenda. Motion 

5. Approval of the minutes of the January 18, 2024 Parks Board meeting. Motion 

6. Approval to recommend a letter of support for a plan for a multi-modal trail
running from Skyview to the Cowboy Trailhead at Ta-Ha-Zouka Park.

Motion 

7. Approval to recommend a historical trail from Winter Park to Johnson Park
and signage concept.

Motion 

8. Approval to recommend the location of artwork from Nucor's Ken Iverson
Project.

Motion 

OTHER BUSINESS 

9. Master Plan Priorities and Strategies presentation.
10. Presentation by Nick Stevenson, Communications Manager, on the City of

Norfolk's social media platforms and website.
11. Monthly Supervisor Reports.
12. Open topics on any concerns the Board has towards current and future

planning for the City Parks.
13. No action can be taken on matters discussed.

Page 3 of 47
3/4/2024 Enclosure 13

Page 33 of 210

~'z it-. 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



Parks and Rec Board Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, January 18, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers 

Jerrett Mills called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.  

Mills informed the public of the Open Meetings Act posted in the Council Chambers. 

Roll Call found the following members present: Terry Rasmussen, Angie Bailey, Austin Truex, 
Jerret Mills, Patrick Gerhart, Melissa Temple and Jason Tollefson. Absent: Ann Dover and Becki 
Wulf. 

City staff present: Parks & Recreation Direction Nathan Powell, Assistant Director of Recreation 
PJ Evans, Sports Supervisor Ron LaMie, Parks Supervisor Ryan Beed, Administrative Assistant 
Kylee Soderberg, Communication Manager Nick Stevenson, and Administrative Assistant Jen 
Olson. 

Rasmussen moved, seconded by Temple to approve the January 18, 2024 agenda. Roll call: All 
ayes. Nays: None. Absent: Dover and Wulf. 

Rasmussen moved, seconded by Bailey to approve the December 21, 2023 minutes. Roll call: All 
ayes. Nays: None. Absent: Dover and Wulf. 

Powell presented concept of Liberty Bell Park with proposed new amenities: restroom, covered 
picnic shelter, and pickleball court. Temple made a motion to recommend for approval the 
locations of the new amenities at Liberty Bell Park seconded by Truex. Roll call: All ayes. Nays: 
None. Absent: Dover and Wulf. 

Supervisor reports were given by LaMie, Evans and Powell.  

With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 5:23 p.m. 

The next meeting will be on February 22, 2024 at 5:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers at 309 

N 5th Street, Norfolk, NE.  

Minutes recorded and taken by Jen Olson, Parks and Rec Admin Assistant. 

Page 4 of 47
3/4/2024 Enclosure 13

Page 34 of 210

~~ -lt-, 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



 innovation.  right at home. 

February 22, 2024 

Dear Honorable Secretary Buttigieg, 

I am writing on behalf of the City of Norfolk Parks and Recreation Board to offer our full support for the planning 
grant application to the Department of Transportation’s National Infrastructure Investments (i.e., Rebuilding 
American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) Grant Program under the Bipartisan Structure Law. 
If the City of Norfolk is successful in its grant application, the funding would propel forward the design, permitting, 
and public outreach efforts to achieve the goal of the Local Intermodal Network Connection Norfolk (LINC) 
Norfolk. As stewards of our local parks and recreational areas, we recognize the invaluable impact that our trail 
system has on our community. 

The City of Norfolk has consistently demonstrated a commitment to enhancing our parks, trails, and green spaces 
through various projects, including the east Benjamin Connector Trail project. This project enhanced the 
connectivity of the existing City of Norfolk trail system of approximately 6,000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide trail along 
the north side of Benjamin Avenue. Along with approximately 700 linear feet of 10-foot-wide trail along the west 
side of Victory Road. 

 These efforts align closely with the objectives outlined in the grant and would contribute significantly to the 
needed improvements and trail connections. 

The proposed project outlined in the City of Norfolk’s grant application will undoubtedly enrich our community by 
its plan to construct a multimodal path connecting park facilities and areas of recreation, provide drainage 
improvements in areas prone to street flooding. With this plan, the city will also be providing an efficient and safe 
connection between underserved and disadvantaged areas of town to schools, business districts, City and social 
resources hubs, and recreational assets. The 4 ½ mile multimodal path through Norfolk would make a great 
addition to the community. This aligns perfectly with our mission to promote healthy living, community 
engagement, and the provision of accessible recreational opportunities for all. 

On behalf of the Parks and Recreation board, I respectfully request your favorable consideration of the City’s 
planning grant funding request being submitted for LINC Norfolk through the 2024 RAISE grant program.  

Thank you for considering this letter of support, and please do not hesitate to contact us if you require any further 
information. 

Sincerely, 

Jerrett Mills 
President 
Parks and Recreation Board President 

City of Norfolk | Parks and Recreation 
309 N. 5th Street | Norfolk, NE 68701 

Phone: (402) 844-2250 | norfolkne.gov 

2/22/2024 Enclosure 6
Page 5 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 35 of 210

~'z iN 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



Norfolk Historical Trail

04/02/2023 - 04/07/2023
2/22/2024 Enclosure 7

Page 6 of 47
3/4/2024 Enclosure 13

Page 36 of 210



2/22/2024 Enclosure 7
Page 7 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 37 of 210

-

.1 .- . ... . : _, --. • 

_,,r 

/ 



2/22/2024 Enclosure 7
Page 8 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 38 of 210

#232856-04 
n , - , , ...,, ... •~ ,.., U ..--___. ,,.. ' nortol k grand rsland lmco!n 

• 

E:ight (8) double sidt.d Ultormational 
trail signs 

0 Ci.ty ot NorfOlk icon routed 6mm d ibond. 

4) Informational sign on each side. 6mm d ibond with d igial prints. 

e 4" pole with decorative bards 

C!) Decorative baSe 

CLIENT: City of Norfolk 

LOCATION: Norfolk, NE 

SALES PERSON: Brittany Wesch 

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED, NO N.AT OF THIS DRAWING 

MAY SE REPAOOUCEO IN ANY FOAM WITHOUl 

WfltlnN PERMISSION FROM LOY£ SIGN COMPANY. 

(IUt,t:~-f\lC. 



 
 

 

2/22/2024 Enclosure 8
Page 9 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 39 of 210



2/22/2024 Enclosure 8
Page 10 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 40 of 210

April 19, 2023 

NUCCIR® 

.. 

NUCOR STEEL NEBRASKA 
NUCOR COLO FINISH NEBRASKA 
NUCOR DETAILING CENTER 
VULCRAFT NEBRASKA 

2911 E Nucor Rd, Norfolk, NE 68701 

Dear Art, History, Shop/FFA teachers: 

Nucor Steel Nebraska, Nucor Cold Finish Nebraska, Nucor Detailing Center, and Vulcraft Nebraska invite 

you and your classes to participate in the revitalized Ken Iverson Project for the 2023/2024 school year. 

What is The Ken Iverson Project? 

The Ken Iverson Project (KIP} is a steel sculpture-making contest amongst area schools. Approximately 

650 lbs. of steel from Nucor will be donated to participating schools. KIP is an initiative of Nucor to 

encourage participation in the community, the arts, and to encourage teamwork and collaboration 

across departments. By participating in this project, students will work as a team to show their creativity 

and to leave their mark in their community. 

We highly encourage the collaboration of the art, history, and shop classes to create a sculpture centered 

around the "History of Nebraska." Please see the attached flyer for project details. 

Who is Ken Iverson? 

Ken Iverson is a former President of Nucor. He is credited with transforming Nucor Steel from a nearly 

bankrupt company in the 1960s into the largest and most successful steelmaker in the United States. 

Iverson vigorously advocated a lean management staff, decentralized decision-making structure, 

egalitarian work environment, and promoted a strong safety culture. 

Mentorship Opportunity 

Mike Fluent, a local steel sculpture artist, has been so kind to volunteer and provide mentorship 

opportunities to area schools, if needed. If you would like guidance around sculpture making, please 

reach out to Mike via his email at mfsteelart@gmail.com or via his cell phone at 402-369-0863. 

If you and your school are interested in participating, please RSVP TO CHANDA BARRY BY MAY 5, 2023. 

We look forward to hearing from you. Please email me if you have any questions. Thanks! 

Chanda Barry 

Ken Iverson Project Coordinator 

Email: chanda.barry@nucor.com 

Phone: 402-844-2517 

Attachment 



2/22/2024 Enclosure 8
Page 11 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 41 of 210

• a a: 

D 
., ... 
z ., 

u u 

" z 

J 
::; 
c 
t;; 

z: 0 

• a < 
" "' 

D "' a: 
Ill ., 

u z 
:,: 

"' 

J z 
:;: 
0 z: ... 
0 
u 

• a < 
" "' D < 
a: 
m 

u ., z 
... .. 

J < 
a: 
u ... 

z: :, 
> 

• a 
D "' " u "' "' a: 

Ill 

J 
., 
z 

z: 

Ken Iverson Projed 
Nucor Nebraska, Vulcraft Nebraska, Nucor Cold Finish Nebraska, and Nucor Detailing Center would like to invite you and your students to 

participate in the revitalized Ken Iverson Project beginning in the fall of 2023! 

This is a sculpture project open to Art, History, Industrial Arts, and FFA classes. There is a limit of one sculpture per school. 

2023/2024 THEME: "History of Nebraska" Sculptures 

Information, Rules, and Restrictions 

1) No material other than what is shown below 
will be provided. Sheet, welding rods, paint, as 
well as one other material of choice may be used 
at the expense of the team. No fasteners of any 
kind can be used other than welds. 

2) Sculpture design should be themed 
around the "History of Nebraska". 

3) The final sculpture must be built to fit upon a 
4' x 4' x 4' stand provided by Nucor. 

4) All sculptures will be displayed on the Nucor 
Nebraska Facebook page, where community 
members will vote the lop finalists through to the 
next round. 

5)The finalists' sculptures will be displayed at the 
Norfolk Home Show in Norfolk, NE. Attendees at 
the Home Show will vote on their favorite 
sculpture. 

'Transportation of sculptures to and from the Home Sh-Ow is the 
responsiblity of each team. 

6) The winning sculptures from the Home Show will 
be displayed in Johnson Park in Norfolk, NE, for 
one year. 

7) All schools get to keep their sculptures and are 
free to do with it as they please. The four 
sculptures will be released back to their respective 
schools after being displayed for the year. 

Dates to Remember 
September 2023: 

Pick up steel from Nucor 

2911 E. Nucor Road, Norfolk. NE. 

December 2023: 
Sculpture design check-in. 

February 2024: 
Projects completed. 

Projects posted lo Facebook for voting . 

March 2024: 

April 2024: 

Top sculptures delivered to 

Home Show for voting. 

The four winning sculptures will be displayed at Johnson Park for one year. 
Winners announced 

via Facebook. 

The four winning teams will be rewarded $400 and a pizza party. 

Material Supplied 

All bars will be 10-11 feet in length, totaling approximately 650 lbs . 
"Picking up steel material from Nucor and transporting sculptures to the Home Show is the responsibility of entering schools. 

(7) 3/4" round bar (5) 3-3.5" channel (4) 1.5" x 1.5" x .125 angle 

RSVP by May 5, 2023 to Chanda Barry 
Email: chanda.barry@nucor.com Office: 402-344-2517 



Athletic Supervisor Report 
February 2024 

Major Incidents/Significant Events/Meetings 
• Weekly supervisor meetings 
• Athletic staff meeting  
 

Project Outcomes 
• Completed the dugout padding installation, and fixed workout pad at Memorial field.  
• Downtown Christmas decorations taken down, stored away, and organized.  
• Install nets on the Elm and 14th tennis courts.  

 

Current Project 
• Routine maintenance on all field 

equipment.  
• Finalizing quotes for new turf at 

Memorial Field.  
• Finalizing quotes on Elkhorn 

ADA bathroom  
• Line items for the 2025 budget  
• Looking to hire seasonal and 

summer help.  
• Cleaning out storage at the 

Memorial Shop building  
• Updating all the fields on the 

calendar for the upcoming spring 
and summer season.  

• Ordered the new temporary fence 
for the Ta-Ha fields.    

• Ordered the new Ta-Ha field 
signs. 

• Ta-Ha padding for the backstop 
will be available to complete 
next week.  

• New locks and padlocks are 
being installed for athletic 
buildings.  

 
 

 

 
Upcoming Significant Events & Meetings 
 
Change in Park/Facility Status 
 
Public Requests 

 

2/22/2024 Enclosure 11
Page 44 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 42 of 210



Department Report 
February 2024 

Major Incidents/Significant Events/Meetings 
• City council meetings on 1st and 3rd Mondays 
• Arts Council meeting 
• Tree board meeting 
• Johnson Park Coordination meetings started for 2024 

Project Outcomes 
• Nature Playground agreement approved by council 
• RFP process for refurbishing slides at Aquaventure complete  
• Call for artists for 1st and Braasch roundabout approved by council 
• Purchase of the CXT concession stand approved by council 
• Master Plan priorities and strategies presented to council February 20th  
• Fishing dock purchase request is heading to council on February 20th 

Current Project
• Paving the area around the Skyview 

Shop 
• Liberty Bell Design 

o Pickleball Courts 
o Restrooms 
o ADA sidewalk 
o Phase 2 playground  

• Master Plan process continues  
• Johnson Park projects 

o BP1 Fountain and Ice 
o BP2 Grading and Trails 
o BP3 Structures 
o BP4 Electrical 
o BP5 Landscaping and 

Irrigation 
 Nature Playground 

firm selected 
• Johnson Park Concession Stand 
• Warren Cook Playground  
• Parks Signage installations 

• Skyview Fishing Dock purchase 
• Ta Ha Team Lockers Contract 

Review 
• Pool heater replacement  
• Paint Slides at AV 
• Pump Track Irrigation and sod 
• AV waterslide refurbishment 
• Winter Park Memorial Garden 
• Central Park Projects 

o Electrical – bury lines 
o Stage refurbishment 
o Irrigation 
o Fall protection under 

playground 
o Replace walkway bricks 

• North Fork Whitewater Park 
Construction 

o May 2024 completion date 
 

Upcoming Significant Events & Meetings 
• Sports Council Meeting 

Change in Park/Facility Status 
•  

Public Requests 
•  

2/22/2024 Enclosure 11
Page 45 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 43 of 210



Parks Report 
February 2024 

 
 

Current Projects 
• Finished 4 main features at Warren Cook Park 
• Preventative maintenance of equipment 
• RFP for AquaVenture water slide repaint and repair released and published – 

proposals due March 5 
• Conditional offer made to volunteer campground host (pending background 

check) 
• Installed new signage at Ta-Ha-Zouka and Skyview (ice fishing warning) 
• Snow removal 
• Filled Maintenance Worker I position – new Parks employee Tanner Dickey 
• Cleaned and organized pumphouse area at Ta-Ha-Zouka 
• Cleaned and organized shop area at Parks main shop 
• Cleaned and organized Skyview shop area in preparation for the concrete 

and new fence project 
• Worked on pricing for fence at Skyview shop area  
• Worked on bidding out concrete border for Warren Cook Park 

 
 

On Going Projects 
• Installation of new heaters at AquaVenture (Johnson’s Plumbing) 
• Warren Cook playground 
• Replacement of pool grates at AquaVenture 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2/22/2024 Enclosure 11
Page 46 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 44 of 210



Recreation Report 
February 2024

Major Incidents/Significant Events/Meetings 
• City council meetings on 1st and 3rd Mondays 
• Weekly Recreation/Athletics meetings 
• Johnson Park 
• Restroom quotes 
• Food distributors 

 
Project Outcomes 
 
Current Project 

• NOH garden  
• NOH garden Memorial stakes  
• Hiring of seasonal/summer staff 
• Pickleball courts at Liberty 
• Partnership agreements and 

structure 
• Field reservations 
• Wayfinding for athletic fields at Ta-

Ha-Zouka Park 

• Concessions preparation 
• Spring/Summer brochure  
• Advertisements 
• Adult Basketball 
• Nature Playground at Johnson’s 

Park 
• February Activities Camp 

 
 

 
Upcoming Significant Events & Meetings 

• Master Plan 
• Recreation interviews 

Change in Park/Facility Status 
•  

Public Requests 
•  

2/22/2024 Enclosure 11
Page 47 of 47

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 45 of 210



 
Parks and Rec Board Meeting Minutes 

Thursday, February 22, 2024 
5:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers 
 
Melissa Temple called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.  
 
Temple informed the public of the Open Meetings Act posted in the Council Chambers.  
 
Roll call found the following members present: Angie Bailey, Austin Truex, Patrick Gerhart, 
Melissa Temple, Ann Dover, Becki Wulf, and Jason Tollefson. Absent: Jerret Mills and Terry 
Rasmussen. 
 
City staff present: Parks & Recreation Direction Nathan Powell, Assistant Director of Recreation 
PJ Evans, Sports Supervisor Ron LaMie, Parks Supervisor Ryan Beed, Administrative Assistant 
Kylee Soderberg, Communication Manager Nick Stevenson, Administrative Assistant Jen Olson, 
Assistant City Engineer Anna Allen, and Business Resource Specialist Melissa Figueroa.  
 
Others present: Ken Iverson Project Committee Members Shane Graham and Latrise Hoffman 
from Nucor. 
 
Truex moved, seconded by Wulf to amend the February 22, 2024 agenda and add an item for 
discussion: AccuDock color selection. Roll call: All ayes. Nays: None. Absent: Mills and 
Rasmussen. 
 
Truex moved, seconded by Bailey to approve the January 18, 2024 minutes. Roll call: All ayes. 
Nays: None. Absent: Mills and Rasmussen. 
 
Anna Allen asked the Parks Board for their support to apply for a grant that would help with the 
cost to extend the trail system and tie it in to existing trail. Bailey moved, seconded by Gerhart, 
to recommend a letter of support for a plan for a multi-modal trail from Skyview to the Cowboy 
Trailhead at Ta-Ha-Zouka Park. Roll call: All ayes. Nays: None. Absent: Mills and Rasmussen. 
 
Powell presented information about the proposed signage for a historical trail. Truex moved, 
seconded by Tollefson, to recommend for consideration a historical trail from Winter Park to 
Johnson Park and signage concept. Roll call: All ayes. Nays: None. Absent: Mills and Rasmussen. 
 
Parks Board discussed dock colors for the future dock being installed at Skyview Lake. Board 
agreed with staff that driftwood gray was a good color. 
 
Powell presented the Master Plan Priorities and Strategies to the Board. 3/4/2024 Enclosure 13

Page 46 of 210

~~ -lt-, 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



 
Stevenson presented the City’s platforms to provide information to the public. 
 
City Engineer, Steven Rames, arrived at 6:07 p.m. 
 
Supervisor reports were given by LaMie, Evans and Powell.  
 
With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:26 p.m. 
 

The next meeting will be on March 21, 2024 at 5:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers at 309 N 

5th Street, Norfolk, NE.  

Minutes recorded and taken by Jen Olson, Parks and Rec Admin Assistant. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 13
Page 47 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 14
Page 48 of 210

NIJlR1\SKA LIQUOR CON I ROI. COMt--11:-0SION 
PIIONh (402)-171 -257 1 
Wcbsi1e \\\\W.kc.ncbra>l-t1 g.o, 

Special Designated License 
Local Recommendation (Form 200) 

Applicntion, must be entered 011 the ponal afkr local apprO\ al 110 nccp1io1H 
I.ate applica1io11 , arc non-refundahlc and " ill be rcjcch:d 

Reta il Liquor License ame Qr *Non- Profi t O rganiza tion (*M usi include Form #20 1 ns Page 2) 

YF /of?ol 
Retai l Liquor License Address or on-Profit Business Address 

Retu il License Nu m ber QL on-Profit Federal ID # 

Consecutive Da tes only 
Event Datc(s): 

Event ta r t Time(s): 

Event End Time(s): /611/YJ 

Allcrrrnte Da te: ____ ...,_......_-'-"'------ - - ---------- ------- ---

Aller nnte Location Building & Address: _ _ __.~ o_fl;;_L ________________ _ __ _ 

Event Build ing Name: __ ----J7)=-.._,· "'-!)'-,,_,_c~t- -b-v_<..:..Y_,l'-'-l-_ _,L!-1::=.i,1ufe.>-.e../ ______________ _ _ 

Even t treet Address/C ity : _ __ .2__,_/ _,_,_$"___..(A._..,J'--'-----'JU=~'---V:___,_:b..,,.o """/t;:;..· _,./b...J..L..IIL-____________ _ 

Indoor urea to be licensed in le ngth & width: _ _ X __ 

O utd oor area to be licen cd in length & width: glJfl- X S0 rr(Diagrnm Form # 109 must be a ttached) 

T ype of Event: ti·✓l<.f /)~ fYl{#P !J J l ~> r./t"..,, Estimate# o f a ttendees: 2:i O 

T ype of a lcohol to be ser ved: Ike r V-- Wine V- Distilled Spirits V--
(1 f not marked, you w ill not be a h ie to serve this typl' of alco hol) 

Event Contact a me : AklY<I.J fVl t&-i-}AT Event Contact Pirone u mber : '70')..- 'i'7 7 -a'773 

Event Con tact Email: PtA.d uw CL o/.i' '>-1--ri" c J- ·/-e. b!-t: r·1r...d-/- -it'• ton, 
I 

*Signnlure Authorized Repr esen tative: + - -At.,L,L-....,t..,.~---- Printed Name fi1..dl~'- /nc.L✓..>--f~ 'I: 
I declare that I em the eulhonzed representet,vo a o· ne ed license epplicell/ and Iha/ /he statements made on this application ere true to the 
best of my knowledge end belle( I also consent an mv st,gat,on of my background including all records of every kind including police records I agree 
to waive any rights or causes of action agemst the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission, the Nebraska State Patrol or any other individual releasmg 
said lnfonnalion to the Liquor Control Commission or the Nebraska State Patrol. I fw111er declare I/1st tl1e license applied for will not be used by any 
ott1er person, group, organization or corporation for profit or not for profit and that the event will be supeNised by persons directly responsible to the 
holder of this Special Designated License. 

*Reen ii licensee - Must be s igned by II member listed on pcrnrnn(•ni license 
* 011-l'rofit Organization - i\ lust be sil!11etl by a Corpornte Officer 

Local Governing Bod y completes below: 

The local governing body fo r the City/Village of ______ _ _ OR County of ___ _____ a pproves 
the issuance of a Special Designa ted License a s requested a bove. (Only one shoulcl bl• written above) 

Loca l Governing Dody Authorized S ig natu re Date 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 14
Page 49 of 210

r 

OUTDOOR AREA DIAGRAM 

HOWAREAWILLBEPATROLLED Eve"'t-:5-lc..f+ I 6rd{>gr.J.0 Savrrl'1 

• IF APPLICABLE, OUTDOOR AREA MUST BE CONNECTED TO INDOOR AREA IF INDOOR AREA IS 

TO LICENSED 

• MEASUREMENT OF OUTER WALLS OF AREA TO BE LICENSED MUST INCLUDED LENGTH & 

WIDTH IN FEET 

• DOUBLE FENCING IS REQUIRED FOR ALL NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS UNLESS FORM #140 IS 

FILED WITH THIS FORM AND IS APPROVED BY THE COMMISSION 

• RETAILER LIQUOR LICENSE HOLDERS ARE NOT REQUIRED TO DOUBLE FENCE, ALTHOUGH 

MEASURES NEED TO BE TAKEN TO SECURE THE AREA 

DIAGRAM OF PROPOSED AREA: 

<:::: ' 
\;1v\ 

V a,,-. I 

,_. 

I ' 

I J [/;,. 
~bl) d □ Po+, 

](\,I.lb P' H,<J 

~''\-
o~ ) 
□ ~\1,.1\,· \ .~ 

~ tPV 4 D 0- □ C, I 

~ 
~{/ .> " 

11"'<-l 
.,.. -

e,<\_\,v~ ... -
I D , s.J-r, ·(,,.\.-- Eve.~ v Ce"-1-e Y-

-

Form 109 

Rev Nov 2016 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 15
Page 50 of 210

February 22, 2024 

Brianna Duerst 
City Clerk 
City of Norfolk 
309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE 68701-4092 

RE: Founders 

Dear Brianna Duerst, 

I am attaching the Keno license application for your consideration. 

RAR Enterprises LLC 
dba: Founders 
501 W Norfolk Ave 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

Enclosed: 

• A copy of the Satellite Lease & Operating Agreement 
• Form 50G Schedule II for your signature after approval 

Please place the keno sales satel lite on the City Council agenda for approval at 
your earliest convenience. After approval, please return the signed Schedule II 
50G and a copy of the resolutions. 

If you have any questions, you can reach me at 402-677-3443. 

Thank you, 

M~~ ~~ 
Director of Sales and Marketing 

11248 John Galt Blvd Omaha, NE 68137 402-915-5101 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 15
Page 51 of 210

BIG RED KENO NORFOLK SATELLITE LEASE AND OPERATING AGREEMENT 
This Satelute Lease and Operating Agreement is between Endgame Lottery Services LLC dba Big Red Keno, 11248 John Galt Boolevard, 
Omaha. NE 68137 and the undersigned ·sateltlto·. In this Agreement: (i) •v,g•, ·us· and "our' means and refers to Endgame Lottery Services 
LLC: (II) ·you· and ·yoor' moans and rofors to lho undOlsigned Satellite and any successor-in-interest to tho business of lhe undersigned Satelbto: 
(Iii) "Prom:sos· means the location specified below and any now location to which your business Is moved or expanded; (iv) ·Game· means the 
logal gambling activities oontcmplaled by this Agreement: (v) 'Equipment' means any oomputer(s), input terminal(s). display device(s), 
communication device(s). and other equipment that we place at lhe Premises: (vi) 'Supplies" means ticket stock, bot slips and other items of 
personal pcoperty necessary to play the Game: (vii) 'Handle" means the a!OO\lnl wagered on the Game at lhe Premises: (viii) "Game Rules" 
means rules as stated In the C1Jrrent paybook and rules we develop 0< implement from time to time for conduct of the Game, alt of which are 
made a pall of this Agreement: (ix) "Game Funds" means all proceeds of wagers, whether or not accepted In vio!a!ion of this Agreement and any 
other funds we p,ovlde; (x) "Scheduled Expiration Date· means the last day that this Agreement may be effective, taking into account a!I possible 
Rooewat Terms: (xf) 'Commun.ty" means the City ol Norlolk and any political subdivisions with which it has an interlocat agreement urder tho 
Nebraska Coonty and City Lollery Acl as their Interests may appear, 
t. l.fil!a. Yoo hereby leaso to us space •"thin the Premises specified below. That space 1111! be as mutually agreed and will in any e,ent be 
sufficient IO allow play ol the Game and placement of the EQ1J1pment in a manner that is convenient for your customers. Yoo agree that we may 
enter lhe Premises at any time during your 00<mal business hours for purposes ol inspecting 01 repairing the Equipment, viewing the manner in 
l'nlich the Game is offered, reviewing Game records, conducting Game audits, or exercising our rights under Section 7. 
2. Compliance v.;iti Law. Yoo agree lo: (a) obtain and maintain in effect during the term of this Agreement all necessary and applicable 
licenses, permits, and app,ovals (including, but not limited to, a federal wagering stamp, a sales outlet location license, and any necessary 
licenses fOI your staff); and (b) comply with aB 'Regulatory Requirements· which include, but aie not limited to, all applicable laws. regulations. 
ordinances, resolutions, rules and rulings pcomutgated by any federal, sta!e or local government or any 001Jrt, agency, instrumentality or ofllclal, 
and spec,fcatly Including, but not limited to, tho lottery operator agreement or si~lar agreement between us and the Community, and related 
rules, agreomonts, memoranda of undOlstandlng, resolutions and actions, and the Nebras\a County and City Lottery Act and regulations 
promulgatoo pursuant thereto, alt as noN existing or hereafter amended, adopted or replaced, and vmether applicablo to conducting the Game 
at the Premises, U1e operatJon ol yoor business or o:hef\"5e. 
3. Bru!J- We wilt pay you rent equal lo 5% of Handle. We will pay rent at least 11•.ice each month on settlement dates we choose. We may 
withhold or offset rent against any am01Jnts you rJ,1,e us or our affifiates under this Agreement or otherwise. II there is a change in Regulatory 
Requirements or other change in circumstances that we oonsider to be adverse, we may d8Clease the amount of rent due hereunder upon 45 
days' prior written notice to you. 
4. ™-ng. You ogreo to suporviso and be responsible for the staffing necessary at the Premises for customers to play the Garno, and to 
requlrn your staff to comply with all Game Rules and Regulatory Requirements. Staff members who havo not been ~ained or approved by us or 
who have not been appropriately licensed are not permitted to have any duties with respect to the Game. • 
5. Yoqr Obtignt~ns. You a9100 to comply with and perlorm all of your obligations under the Garno Rules and this Agreement. You agree to: 
(a) maintain (or rolmburso us lor) electrical power and communications services designated by us; (b) operate your business and the Premises 
in a clean, safe, orderly, lawful and respectable manner and oondition, with no adverse changes as compared to whell you became a sales outlet 
location for the Game; (c) maintain current, complete and accurate records pertaining to your business and transactions related to the Game and 
give us and relevant government officials access thereto pr0<0ptly on request; (d) maintain commercially reasonable public liability insurance 
naming us as an additional Insured and provide us with certificates evidencing tho same 1>n request: (e) pay all applicable taxes pertaining to 
conduct of tho Gome at tho Premisos (Including, but not limited to, federal, state and local excise and occupational taxes):(~ uso your best olforts 
to dotrx:I and proven! chealing with respect lo the Game and tampering with the Equipment and Supplies and Immediately report tho samo or 
your reasonable suspicions related !hereto to us: and (g) maintain the confidenllallty of all materials and information that we provide to you and 
return the same to us upon termination of this Agreement. You represent and agree that you have and vAII maintain all third party approvals 
necessary for you to perform under this Agreement. You are to meet all of your obligations under this Agreement at your expense, except as 
expressly provided In this Agreement. 
6. Our Obtiqalions, So long as you comply with this Agreement, we agree that you may be a sales outlet location for the Game. We will, at our 
ovm expense: (a) maintain any necessary central computer for the Game; (b) provide you with Equipment and Supplies and such construction 
as vo11 determine to be necessary for the installation ol the Game at the Premises: (c) repair (and, if necessary, replace) defective Equipment and 
insure (or self-insuro) tho some; (d) train your statt in tho oporaUon of the Equipment; and (e) market the Game as vo11 deem appropriato (o g,, 
throogh on-Promises signs), We do not guarantee that operation of the Game or the Equipment will be uninterrupted 0< error-lree. We will not be 
considered In default if our performance Is prevented due to a cause beyond oor control, including, but not limited to, computer and 
communications faltures. 
7. ~ All Equipment remains our property, is not considered fixtures and must be returned to us immediately upon any termination or 
discootinuation pursuant to Sections 14 Of 15. We may add to, remove, or alter an or any of the Equipment at any time. You agree to use due 
care to safeguard the Equipment and agree to notify us immediately n any of it is lost, stolen, damaged, or destroyed or appears to be 
malluoctioning. Yoo agree to reimburse us for any losses sustained as a result of your failure to comply ..th the faegoing or the negligence or 
intentional misconduct ol you or your stall or customers. 
8. Marketing and Protection of Marks. You agree to prominen~y display the promotional and informational material we provide regarding the 
Game. You ooknotl.edgo that the name ·e;g Red Keno', the 'Big Re<f ball, and 81ly other names, marks, slogans and similar materials that we 
may pubrish 01 dlslribute (the 'Marks1 are our property, 11llelher or not registered, and you agree not to take any action to impair oor O'M\Orshlp 
or the value thereof, or to bring the same into disrepute. You agree to obtain oor prio< written approval bef0<e you att,ertise 01 promote the Game 
or use the Marks. 
9. Conduct of the Game. You agree to make the Game available to your rustomers during your noonaf business hours. Yoo agree lo use 
reasonable efforts to ensure that persons playing the Game on the Premis.,oS are 6mited to customers physically p,esent on the Premises. Exoopt 
in the case of tickets written IOI 21 or lllOle conseClJtive games, you shouk! require customers to redeem all v.inning tickets lm:oodiatcly atter the 
last game to which they 1elato and before the calfrng of the next game. You should redeem a'I winning tickets in the presence of all customers 
having putchased tickets at the Premises for the games to which such tickets relate, and you should not pennit customers to purchase tickets, 
leave the Promises and rotum latOI for redemption In the case ol tickets written for 21 or more consecutive games, you may permit delayed 
redemption In accordance w,th the Game Rules. 
10. Game Funds. You w\11 require all wagers on the Garno to be paid in valid U.S. currency (or by any means alowed under law) at the time 
they aie made. All Game Funds are our sole and exclusive property. tt you cash checks for customers, yoo will do so separately and at your rJ,1m 

risk and will not accept checks in oor narno. You agree to: (a) hold Game Funds in trust for us; (b) keep Game Funds separate from yoor funds 
while in your possession: and (c) prevent any of your credrtors or other third parties from seizing or otherwise enforcing any lien, daim or othor 
interest In Garno Funds. All Garno Funds, less prizes paid by you in aooordanoo with the Game Rules, will be deposited no tater than noon of lhe 
first banking day of tor rocolpt into a separate bank account that we have approved, II the bank account is other than our account, we may lfansfor 
tho balance of that account to our account as often as daily and you agree to sign a funds transfer agreement to permit the same, Wo are ontitied 
to Immediate payment ol any deposit of Garno Funds not made when due or for any non-cash wager proceeds that you accept. tntorosl will 
accrue thoroon at the lesser of 24% per annum or the highest lawful rate until paid. 
11. Torm- This Agreement Is effective through the end of the current tern, of the lottery operator agreement between us and the Community 
and is thereafter automatically renewed for up to three additional consecutive renewal terms of five years each (each a ·Renewal Term') unless 
wo have givon you written notice of non-renewal of this Agreement any time before the commencement of the next Renewal Term. Sections 5(c), 
5(0), 5(g), 12, 13, and 16 will survive any termination of th:s Agreement. 

SUBJECT TO TERMS ON REVERSE 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 15
Page 52 of 210

BIG RED KENO NORFOLK SATELLITE LEASE ANO OPERATING AGREEMENT 

12. Expanded Garnbling. 11 addilional gambling acllvilies are legalized in tho fulure and you v.fah to oflcr those activities at tho Premises, wo 
agreo to use our best efforts lo make lhoso activities ovailoblo to you on mutually agreed terms. If wo aro unablo to do so for any reason wilhin 
six months afler your wrlllen request for such legal gambling acllvitios, you may dlscootinue your obligation lo staff tho Garno In accordanco with 
Section 14. In return for tho f01egolng and our other obligations heroin. and in viow ol our significant capital Investment in rolianco hereon, you 
agree not to permit anyone other than us to offer, supply or install gambling activiUes (other than paper pickle cards as allowed by lhe Nebraska 
Pickle Card Lottery Act on lllo date this Agreement is signed by us) at the Premises under any circumstances bef0<e the Scheduled fapiration 
Date of this Agreement. 
13. Indemnity. You agree to Indemnify, defend and hold us, the Community, and our and their respective employees, agents. and affiliates, 
harmless from and against any and all losses, costs, claims. expenses (Including reasonable allomeys' fees) and damages arising oul of or 
ralaled to in whole or in part: (a) your broach of this Agroomenl: or (b) any actual or aneged acts 0< omissions by you. your staff, or your customers: 
or (c) any acluat or alloged conduct of your business or the condition of Iha Premises or any adjoining areas (Including parking aroas). We v.ill 
not. however, be entiUed to such indemnity if tho proven solo proximate cause of damages was our own negliganca or willful mlsoooduct 
14. Yoyr Right to Term·nata or DisconUnuo. You may terminate this Agreement early if Ivo materially default hereunder, and fall to cure our 
defau/f within 30 days after receipf of wrillen notice from you, specifying our default to be corrected. You may discootinuo your responsiMity lo 
staff the Game: (a) If wo propose a renf reductioo pursuant to Section 3 and you give us written noUcc that you reject the same within 15 days 
alter your receipl lhereo~ (b) if you determine, reasonably and In good faith, that cootinued staffing would be unprof,table; or (c) if ,ve are unable 
lo pro,l<H! you, under Sectioo 12, wilh additional gambling activities that you desiro. Discontinuation of staffing does not terminate lhis Agreement. 
We may, but aie not required to. staff Iha Game at Iha Premises ,f you discontinue staffing. In such event. we may deduct Iha cosl thereof from 
the rent due. If you discontinue staffing, any recommencement thereof by you is subject lo approval by us and applicable government authorities. 
Your right to tanminato this Agroomenl or d,sconlinue staffing under this Section Is your oxcluslvo romody f01 our breach of this Agrocmont. and 
Is in r eu of any other rights and remedies which you may have at law or equrty. 
15. Our Right to Terminate Of DiSCOl)tinw. We may toonlnate this Agreement earty °' d,scontinuo our rosponsib~oos under Secllon 6 w.thout 
causing a termination hereof If: (a) you 01 your stall fail to comply v.ilh Section 2 01 Section 10 In any respect or your rteense to act as a sales 
outlet loca:ion is denied or revot.ed; (b) you otherwise materially default hereunder, and fail lo cure the same wllhln 30 days afler receipt of written 
notice from us: (c) you discontinue staffing fOf any reasoo: (d) a material adverse change occurs in your business, financial°' other cood'.!ion, ill 
our good faith delenninafion; (e) there is a change in ovmership of your business or you transfer your interest in, 01 discontinue business at. the 
Prem.'ses: (Q you have less than S700 In Handle per week on average during any calendar quarter. °' (g) W8 delcrmlno In good faith that a 
change in Regulatory Requirements will make continuation of our responsibilities hcroonder' impiac1Jcal, lmposslblo, or unprofitable. 
16. Our Remedles. If v~ lerrr,nate this "9reemen1 early o, oxerclso our righl to discontinue our ob!lgalioos In oc:cordancc I"1/l Soctlon 15, we 
will be enli1!ed to recover our damages, in addition to our other rights Md remedles at law and in equity. Our damages are deemed to be no less 
than the product of: (i) the number of weeks iemalnlng until the Scheduled Expiration Date: multiplied by (•1 eight peicent (8%) of your average 
Hand'ce per week (averaged fOf the period beginning 36 months and ending 12 months before the event giving rise to such termlnalion or 
discontinuance; if the Game at the Premises continued for less than 15 months. we v.ill use the average for the first half of such period). We are 
not, however, entitjed lo damages if our termination °' discontinuance was based solely on: (A) Section 15(Q: °' (8) Sectlon 15(c) 01 15(e) 
provided that you otherwise continue lo comply with the terms of this AgIeomen1 until the Scheduled Expiration Data (including, but not limited 
lo, your otrligation not lo permit additional gambling activities under Section 12. even In circumstances vmeie 1•~ are unable to provide you 1~th 
the additional gambling activities lhat you desire). You further agree that wo aro enbtled to specific performance and,loi injunctive ref,ef lo enforte 
the le!ms hereof, including. but not fimilod to, lnjunctve rebel agamst third parties l'llth respect to violalions pertaining to Section 12. As socunty 
101 your per1ormance of Sedion 12 and payment of our damages, you hereby grant us a security interest in and assign to us any rents°' other 
payments due under' any lease 01 other agreement and any other revenues to which you may be enbUed 1•.ith respoci to other gambling activtlies 
on the Prenvses and you also hereby grant us a power of an01ney to sign and file on your behalf any financing s:atement or other document 
related to such security interest 
17. M'iscellaneous. This Agreement (a) is a continuation ol any priof existing lease we may have vnth regard to the Prcmscs: (b) supersedes 
the lenms of any and a!I sutll leases and is the oxclusive statement of the agreement ol the parties l'llth respect to the subject maller hereof: (c) 
may ool be amended except in wnting executed by the partlos; and (d) is Interpreted and enforced in accordance l'lllh tho laws of Nebraska. This 
Agreement binds the unders,gned Salel!ite. the Individual signing this Agreement. tho Promi,os, any successor•in•interesl lo tho business of 1ho 
undersigned Sate!lrte, and any new locallon to which your business Is moved or expanded, through the Schodulcd Exp,rallon Dale, unless 
termnaled easfrer as provided herein, and the provisions of lhis Agreement which suf\'ivo termination continue lo bind such persons and locations 
alter terminalioo. If any provision of this Agreement is unenf0<ceable. the remaining p<O\'ision, remain in effecL No waiver hereunder (whether 
by course of oooduct 0< olherwise) is effeciive unless In writing and no waiver is considered a waive< of any olher °' further default Our 
nonenforcement or waiver of any pmvision under any sirrular agreement(s) is not deemed a waiver of any provisioo under this AgreomenL The 
parties Intend their relationship under lhis Agreement to be lhat of independent contractors and oot employees, agents. joint venlurers, or 
partners; neither party has the power or authority lo bind the olher. Notices hereunder are given in writing by persona! delivery or certified mail, 
addressed lo lhe rties at the addrosses set forth herein ood are doomed Ivon upon reccl t. 

Satell,te Name: /1:- P,. «, f ~ W fl e', $ c: 1 bl, ( 

ck,,·. b,.,oc:bu, 
Premises Address: Sc. I W 1-J o-< .l.,;\ \( \\.,!~ 

~nfes51 C:d~¥i tiOn wi~ ~£ ~-z~h~ent A TIUo:_-+--'-"--".._._...__.~...._.>..=. _____ _ 

Slate of Nebraska, Co. of f.\i-J,•. 1,. o-- ) ss: This instrumonl was acknovAedged Acceptod: Endgame Lonery Services LLC 

before me on t/ l,;;i ) Z'-/ by r-:,, ef ✓e • M ' ( " 0 b. ( 

the C? -< G c.,, id_,_.,.,. 

01C?.;..{I.. f \11,!,.e,tp < • s. a o LL.(, 12:i.'4.c ·, h, • ...,J....,...,._ - ·- Print Name: ' 7 a ~,\o1,s\C c..__ { .LL 
Dalod:_-Z_..,l _~~ t_\._2s-2Jf-

, Nola 

Y SERVICES LLC. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. VERSION 2021A 

SUBJECT TO TERMS ON REVERSE 

GENERAL NOTARY . State of Nebrask.l 
NATASHA L DOSTAL 

· · My Comm. f.lp. December 28, 2026 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 15
Page 53 of 210

~ 
Nebraska Dopor1mont of 

Nebraska Schedule II - County/City Lottery Sales Outlet Location Application Form 50G 
Schedule ll REVENUE • No license fee required. 

• Incomplete schedules will be returned. 
Nebraska ID Number ol County. City. or Village Ploose Do Not Write In This Space 

2 County, C ity, or Village Name on Form 50G 

Sales Outlet Location Information (Attach additional sheet if necessary) 
Nebraska 4 Federal ID or Social Security Number s Type ol Application: 

- 3a (~ (QlNew D Renewal D Report Changes D Cancel 

Business Name and Location Address Business Name and Malling Address 
Name Business Name 

Street or Other Malling Address 

City State Zip Code 

City 

~ 
Nebraska Liquor license Number 

6 Type ol Ownership 7 Location Type 

D Sole Proprietorship D Domestic Corporation [S(] Limited liability Company D Nonprofit Corporation or Organization g Keno Salellite 

D Partnership D Foreign Corporation LJ Domesticated Corporation D Other tJ Keno Independent Game 

Your Soclnl Security number and date of birth Oro required under tho !'lob!'II.J;J<!IJ&l!Jll)l..>'1Dd City Lollw:Y.A!:.I and will be used to request criminal history lnlonnatlon 
from law enforcement agencies to detennlno II tho legal requirements for a lottery sales outlet location's license are met. 

8 List the Social Security number, lull name, home address, date ol birth, type ol involvement, and percentage ol ownership lor each of the lollowing persons Involved with lhe applicant. 
a. If a sole proprietorship, list the individual owner. 
b. II a partnership, list each partner and spouse. 
c. If a corporation, list each officer and spouse and each person holding 10% or more ol the debt or equity ol the applicant corporation. If any person holding 10% o r more of the 

debt or equity of the applicant corporation Is a partnership, llmltod liability company, or corporation, list each partner ol such partnership, each member of such limited liablllty 
company, o r each officer ol such corporation and every person holding 10% o r more ol the debt or equity ol any such partnership, limited liability company or corporation. 

d . II a limited liability company. list each membor and spouse, 
e. If a nonprofit organ,zation or nonprofit corporation. 11st each otllcor and tile Individual designated as manager. 
(Attach addltlonal sheet II necessary) 

Social Security Number Name, Address, City, State, Zip Code (Seo Instructions) Date of Birth 
Type of Involvement and 
Percentage ol Ownership 

9 Does any person other lhan It se liste n line 8 above have any ownorsh, 

Oves ~o 
If Yes, in the case of an individual, identify the Social Security number, lull name, home address, date ol birth, type of ownership Interest of each such individual. In the case ol a 
business, Identify the federal employer ID number. business name, address, and type ol ownership interest of each such business. (Attach additional sheet ii necessary) 

10a Has anyone listed in line 8 ever been convicted o l, lor1eited bond upon a charge of, o r 
pied guilty o r nolo contendere to any felony or misdemeanor at any time involving any 
gambling activity, fraud, thott, willlul fai lure to make required payments o r reports, or 
liling !also reports with a governmental agency at any level? This Includes shoplifting or 
lssu_l!!2)ld chec~ 

[.5Yes ~ No If Yes. see instructions. 
10b Has anyone listed in line 8 ever been convicted of. lorfetted bond upon a charge of, or 

pied guilty or nolo contendere to any felony other than that described in line 10a within 
t O years precodinJL.1.hjl,dalo ol this application? 

D Yes l.f{No II Yes, see instructions, 

11 Has each of the Individuals llsled In line 8 above compiled with tho lnslJ.u.~ for 
Comot@ng Emgeronnt ApplJ.calio.n. or when applicable, filed a s lgnod AtfidayiLl)y 
S~ Jor WaY]er rorm? 

Yes D No (See What Must Be Flied Instructions) 

12 Do any of the Individuals !isled In line 8 above have a financial Interest. directly or 
indirectly, in ony company licensed as a manufacturer o r distributor pursuant to Iha 
lielllilGl5a..lli!lllQ.&I or lho l'l.!l.b.rns.l\(Lfieklo Card I.Oll.!l!Y..&l or In any company 
licensed as a manufacturer-dlstrlbulor pursuanl to the Mllbraska Couoty and C,iy 
Lottery Act? 

Ovos Q-efo II Yes, attach a d etailed explanation ol such Interests. 

13 Does any member of the gove rning board or any governing official ol the 
county, city, o r village named In this application have any financial lntorost, 
directly o r Indirectly, In tho buslnoss named in H1ls application? 

Oves G'f:io II Yes, attach a delailcd explanation ol such Interests. 

14 Do any of lhe Individuals lisled in l ine 8 above currently hold or have they previously held any other licenses issued under the li@~6..inQQAcl, lhe Nebraska Pickle 
Card Lottery /.\ct. the l'tcll.raSlla Lottery and Raffle Act or the tlellii!Ska Coun\y an<LCity Lottery Act? 

D Yes [9-No II Vos, indicate lhe types of licenses, and their current stal us (active, suspended, cancelled, revoked, or expired). 

sign 
here 

Un penalties of law, I daclare that I have examined this application, and to the best ol my know1edge and belief, It is correct. I will comply with the 
provis' sol lhe umy and City Lonery AC1 and the regpitlons adopted undor such Act. 

' . v~ ~ ~ J~"'~ ---:;;, } 21 )2.-1 YoL' '\'.i ?.~o'r,r 
Sr of s Outlet Location Owner, Member, Partner, Title Dote l Daytime Phone Number 
Olficer, or Person Authorized by Atlached Power of Attorney 

Name ol Person to Contact Regarding This Application: 

C Name TIiie 

Authorization-Signature of Governing Official 
Attach documentation Indicating approval location by governing board of the county, city, or village and a copy of the site agreement. 

Daytime Phone Number {-l,c; L - q J '2... -0 '( 7 y' 

sign 
here ►Authonzed Signature 

I declare that I havo examined lhis application, and authorize the applicanl to conduct a lotlery on behall ol the county. city, or v,llago named In this application. 

,t e Date Daytime Phone Number 

Retain a copy for your records. 
9-132-1993 Rev. 12-2014 Supersod-0s 9· 132-1993 Rev.6-2007 



RESOLUTION NO.  2024-10

A RESOLUTION APPROVING RAR ENTERPRISES, LLC, dba FOUNDERS AS A 
SATELLITE LOCATION OF ENDGAME LOTTERY SERVICES, LLC, DBA BIG RED 
KENO, FOR THE NORFOLK KENO LOTTERY. 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 
NEBRASKA: 

SECTION 1.  The following location is hereby approved as a satellite location of 
Endgame Lottery Services, LLC, dba Big Red Keno, for the City in accordance with the 
City’s satellite location criteria and the City Administrator, City Clerk and such other City 
officials as may be necessary or appropriate are authorized and directed to sign the 
necessary application and to take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate in 
order to establish the following location as a satellite location for the City’s Keno lottery: 

RAR Enterprises, LLC, dba Founders, 501 W Norfolk Avenue #110, Norfolk, 
NE 68701 

SECTION 2.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and following the 
passage and publication hereof as required by law. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ______ day of _________________, 2024. 

__________________________________ 
Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Brianna Duerst, City Clerk 

S E A L 

Approved as to form:  _______________________________ 
Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 15
Page 54 of 210



RECOMMENDATION OF THE NEBRASKA LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION

Date Mailed from Commission Office: _____ _______

I,_____________________________________Clerk of _______________________________________________________
(City, Village or County)

Nebraska, hereby report to the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission in accordance with Revised Statutes of Nebraska,

Chapter 53, Sec. 134 (7) the recommendation of said city, village or county, as the case may be relative to the application for a

license under the provisions of the Nebraska Liquor Control Act as applied for by:

_____________________________________ dba _____________________________________

______________________, __________________ / ___________________ County,  ________ 

Application for Class ____  _______ 
45 days – __________ 

Notice of local hearing was published in a legal newspaper in or of general circulation in city, village or county, one

time not less than 7 nor more than 14 days before time of hearing.

Check one Yes No

The Statutes require that such hearing shall be held not more than 45 days after the date of receipt of this notice from

the Commission.

Local hearing was held not more that 45 days after receipt of notice from the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission.

Check one Yes No

Date of hearing of Governing Body: ____

Type or write the Motion as voted upon by the Governing Body. If additional Motions are made by the Governing

Body, then use an additional page and follow same format.

_______________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________
Motion was made by:_______________________________Seconded by:___________________________________

Roll Call Vote: ______________________________________________________

___

________

________

____

________

________

______________

_____________________________________________

____

_________________________________________________________________________

________

7. Check one: The motion passed: _________________The motion failed: ___________________

8. If the motion is for recommendation of denial of the applicant, then list the reasons of the governing body upon which

the motion was made.

_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________

(Attached additional page if necessary)

_______________________________________________DATE___________________
Clerk’s name

2-9-2024

RAR ENTERPRISES, LLC FOUNDERS
501 W NORFOLK AVE STENORFOLK MADISON 68701

C 126273
3-25-2024

3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 55 of 210

□ □ 

□ □ 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 56 of 210

APPLICATION FOR LIQUOR LICENSE F ~ 
cHEcKLisT RETAIL ------, ··,RECENEo .Ji~,, 11 
NEBRASKA LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION License /\ 'Y1._ 
301 CENTENNIAL MALL SOUTH Class: ~ 
POBOX95046 
LINCOLN, NE 68509-S046 
PHONE: (402) 471-2S71 
FAX: (402) 471-2814 
EMAIL: Jcc,frontdesk@nebraska.gov 
WEBSITE: www.lcc.nebraska.gov 

TOPeNo 
Initial: KP 

, , · WA~ , , '.1 ·1- ~ ~ U.(;»~ · ~ · ,, 
-B,,."'"11.1:l;. -~-_,,,.,,.,,"7:[.if,!•,t.-)\.~t-.. - ,.. ~::,.:.a!1!:'·· "!!:~- ,,.:.,:-;:,:-;;-).q-.t; '1":'!l!'.l r, .·~- .;, 
·. t f~~~ .. ~~.~;-. .-·.· ~,;...__-, '!•;,~,,!_. \ •. · •• 1\r~.,;~1:~~~ -~~. . •• :;,, ... ". \ 
See directions on the next page. Provide all the items requested. Failure to provide any item will cause this 
application to be returned or placed on hold. All documents must be legible. Any false statement or omission 
may result in the denial, suspension, cancellation or revocation of your license. If your operation depends on 
receiving a liquor license, the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission cautions you that if you purchase, remodel, 
start construction, spend or commit money that you do so at your own risk. Prior to submitting your application 
review the application carefully to ensure that all sections are complete, and that any omissions or errors have not 
been made. You may want to check with the city/village or county clerk, where you are making application, to 
see if any additional requirements must be met before submitting application to the Nebraska Liquor Control 
Commission. 

APPLICANT NAME R ~ ~ t,l\k,( ~ r i 5:S U.C -==-= 

TRADE (OBA) NAME .firu._nJ-e.,f 5 

PREVIOUS TRADE (OBA) NAME f>oo ¼n11 )>, o k::Jb.» e, , )LY'<> 
<T 

CONTACTNAMEANDPHONENUMBER ~,,2 µ~~ - ({pt.-99,'1.. -09Tn 

CONT ACT EMAIL ADDRESS A:htba u>{.o)J i~.1..,-,d,.W,l, 4-b4 ~ • UJ:rn 
~ h:X L\-30-1.0'l-'l ~ 6~ ~--rei IX'f\ 

-ll:o:&:z:. 
e, t J-wq;c;, d.s ..i 

Office uu only 

~~:e~:o,g~~:_± 111111111111H 
2400001382 

DATE DEPOSITED_________ FORM 100 ._ ______________ __._ _____________ __, REV 12/7/2022 

PAGE l 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 57 of 210

DIRECTIONS 

Each item nmst he included with your application 

,/1 · Arplicntion fee of $400 (nonn:fundable), please pny onlinc thru our PA YPORT system or enclose payment made 
raynble tl"1 the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission 

✓ :?. Enclose the appn,printe application forms 
Individual License (Form 104) 
Partnership License (form 105) 
✓.orporate Liccnse(Form 101 & Form 103) 

Limited Liability Company (LLC) (Form 102 & Form 103) 
Corporation or Limited Liability Company (LLC) must be active with the Nebraska 
Secretary of State 

~- For cilizenship enclose U.S. birth certificate; U.S. passport or na1uralization paper 
a. For residency enclose proof of regislcred voter in Nebraska 
b. If permanent resident include Employment Authorization Card or Permanent Resident Card 
c. See Applicant Guidelines for further assistance 

/.i, Form 147 • Fingerprints are required for each person as defined in new application guide, found on our website 
under "Licensing Tab" in .. Guidelines/Brochures" • 

./s. If purchasing an already licensed business: include Form 125-Temporary Operating Permit (TOP) 
/ a. Form 125 must be signed by the seller (current licensee) and the buyer (applicant) 
✓ b. Provide a copy of the business purchase agreement from the seller (current licensee sells "the business 

currently licensed'' to applicant) 
lc. Provide a copy of alcohol inventory being purchased (must include quantity, brand name and container 

size) 
d. Enclose a list of the assets being purchased (furniture. fixtures and equipmenl) 

~ If building is owned or being purchased send a copy of the deed or purchase agreement in the name of the applicant. 

\/1. If building is being leased, send a copy of signed lease in the name of the applicant. Lease term must run through 
the license year being applied for. 

8. Submit a copy of your business plan. 

FORM 100 
REV 12.112022 

PAGE:! 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 58 of 210

• • • I • • t ' : ; • 1 ' '., 
1 

• • .- •••• • ~ I~' -. : ': ''J •, ••: : , • 

. . . ~ . . . , 

RETAIi. I.IC:ENSE(S) Application Fee $400 Cnonrefundable} 
C'LASS C LICF.NSF. TF.RM IS FROM NO\'F.MDF.R I -OCTOBER JI 
Al.I. OTIIF.R CLASSF.S TERM IS MAY I - APRIi. JO 

A BEER. ON SAI.E ONLY 

R DEER. OFF SALE ONLY .. 

_t:(_ C' BEER. WINE. DISTILi.ED SPIRITS. ON AND OFF SALE .. 
l>n ~ l'U intend hl i;nh: cocktnil!l t,1 go n!I nllowcd under Neb Rev. Statute S3-123.0·H 4) YES~ NO __ 

I> BEER. WINE. DISTILLED SPIRITS. OFF SALE ONLY .. 

F 801TI.E Cl.UR. 

I REER. WINE. DISTILi.ED SPIRITS. ON SALE ONLY 
Do you intend to sale cocktails to go as allowed under Neb Rev. Statute S3-123.04(S) YES __ NO __ 

J LIMITED ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR. OFF SALE- MUST INCLUDE SUPPLEMENTAL FORM 120 

AB BEER. ON AND OFF SALE 

AD BEER ON SALE ONLY. BEER, WINE. DISTILLED SPIRITS OFF SALE 

18 BEER, WINE. DISTILLED SPIRITS ON SALE, BEER OFF SALE ONLY 

Class K Catering endorsement (Submit Form I 06)- Catering license (K) expires same as underlying retail license 

Class G Growler endorsement (Submit Form 16S) - Class C licenses only 

••class B. Class C. Class D license do you intend to allow drive through services under Neb Rev. Statute 
S3-178.01(2) YES __ NO __ 

ADDITIONAL FEES WILL BE ASSESSED AT THE CITYNILLAGE OR COUNTY LEVEL WHEN THE 
LICENSE IS ISSUED 

Individual License (requires insert FORM 104) 

Pannership License (requires insert FORM 10S) 

Corporate License (requires FORM IOI & FORM 103) 

X. Limited Liability Company (LLC) (requires FORM 102 & FORM 103) 

Phone Number L/W. • l ·11- "l l. 1 l 

Firm Name. ___ ...:::)::.:~_,v_.-_.:::8:..:L~,•.:.:"•:.:.·l.;..•""--=-----------------------

Email address, __ --l;,:.:·/.t,.;!;,:,.=::c,.,;.;...,~C!:.:.I...:/ &:;.:fl.:.:V-::..J_ .. ;.:.i:..l :..:· ';.."'.;..,.,. ___________________ _ 

Should we contact you with any questions on the application? YES __ x __ · __ NO ____ _ 

FORM 100 
REV 127.:?02~ 

PAGE3 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 59 of 210

Trndc Nnmc (Join!_! husincss ns) __ _:,r:-:l!:...•=-t :.:.:'":..:.'":..J\'L-iii!!i>!..-------------------

Street Addrcsi, ,5c, I ty. Ne., 1 e / l Av:£.: S-e-k.. // 0 

C'i1y ____ 1Ni,r j<: It Cnunly {Yl"c:J•~(JI" Zip Code b~fc, j 

Premises Tclcphlinc numbcr ___ __:Ll~u~l::.......-.... 5~3...:·.2.=---...:.l..:'2.::..;1.;;;...:2.:.__ 

NO 

Name / 

✓ 
Street Address 

City V Stale 
✓ Zip Code 

_.,,.,, 

IN THE SPACE PROVIDED BELOW ORA W OR ATTACH A DIAGRAM OF THE AREA TO BE LICENSED 
DO NOT SEND BLUEPRINTS. ARCHITECH OR CONSTRUCTION ORA WINGS 
PROVIDE LENGTH X WIDTH IN FEET (NOT SQUARE FOOTAGE) 
INDICATE THE DIRECTION OF NORTH 

Building length 1/Piff. 1 x width ')lP in feet 

Is there a basement? Yes X No --- If yes. length i ·J. 1 x width •., ~ in feet 

Is there an outdoor area? Yes___ No X If )'es. length ___ x width ___ in feet+ 
•Jf including an outdoor area pennanent fencing is required. Please conlact lhe local governing body for 01her requirements regarding 
fencing !J. 
Number of floors of the building-""',.___ 

PROVIDE DIAGRAM OF AREA TO BE LICENSED BELOW OR ATTACH SEPARATE SHEET 

t GAr ~ _, 
oOc.> 0 °' 

-------
\"•• I ·---

1 S! ~ctb~~~-
FORM 100 

REV I:? 1 ·20:?:? 
PAGE-I 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 60 of 210

. . , ', ·, 
' < • I • ~ • ~• • • 

I. RF.All CARF.Flll.l.\'. ANSWF.R COMPLETF.LY AND ACCllRATt:LY §53-12S(S) 
llas anyone""'' is a party to this :1pplicatiun. or their spouse. EVER hecn convicted ornr plead guilty to any charge. 
Charlle means :my charllc allcginll n felony. misdemeanor, violation of n federal or state law; a violation of a local law. 
,,n\inancc ,,r rcs,,luti,,n. List lhc nature of the charge. where the charge occurred and the year and month of the conviction 
,,r rtca. 1\ls,, list any charllcs pending at the time of this application. If more than one party. please list charges by each 
inJi, idua\'s name. 
Include traffic violations. Commission must he notified of any arrests and/ur convictions that may occur after the dare nf 
sillninL?, this aprlicnti,,n. 

I 

----~ YES 

·--------
. _NO lfycs. please explain bclmvor_~ach a separate~ 

I 

' 

\ 

-- - ---
Name ,,r Applicant Date of Where Description of Charge Disposition 

Conviction Convicted 
(mm/wwl ( citv & state) 

2. Was this premise licensed as liquor licensed business within the last two (2) years? 

_L_vEs ___ NO 

If yes. provide business name and license number_13.i::1 :11.l!:.;.n:..;.-l-~bct,=-s""'t.~=----'-/ :::J.;..i:'l..:.'l.:b:...7t.,..._ ______ _ 

3. Are you buying the business ofa current retail liquor license? 

_K_vES __ NO 
If yes, give name of business and liquor license number __ B""m...._ ... _.' /y,""""'l!'>.:a.<-=--.;..' );...._~_'-1_1'7 .... 2'----------

4. Are you filing a temporary operating permit (TOP) to operate during the application process? 

~YES ___ NO 

If yes 
a) Attach temporary operating pennit (TOP){Fonn 125) / 

a) Submit a copy of the business purchase agreement __ _ 
b) Include a list of alcohol being purchased, list the name bran~ container size and how many __ _ 
c) Submit a list of the furniture. fixtures and equipment ___ ✓_ 

FOR\1100 
REV I:! 7 .::!O.::!.::! 

PAGE:-

i 
; 

I 

! ; 
i 
i 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 61 of 210

S An: wu bt,m,winl! :UI\' mone,· fn,m ml\· source. include familv or friends. to eslahlish and/or operate the business? . . "' . . ,,, . 
_x._ YES ____ NO 

If yes. li!i-t lhe lcmlcr(s) __ ......,[3r2~_b,~t __ N_0,r·f o Jl NG 

<,, \\'ill an) ~rson ,,r entity. f1thcr thnn npplicant. he entitled lo a !ihnre of lhe profits of this bm;incsc;'! 

__ YES .>{ NO 

tfycs. explain. (all itl\'olved persons must he disclosed on application) 

No silent partners 019.0IE Silent Panners: Profit Sharing: No licensee or partner. principal, agent or employee of any Retail 
Liquor I .icense shall pcm1it any other person not licensed or included as a partner, principal, or stockholder of any Retail l.iquor 
License Ill participate in the sharing of profils or liabili1ies arising from any Retail Liquor License. ( 53• I, I 00) 

7. \\'ill any of the furniture. fixtures and equipment to be used in this business be owned by others? 

___ YES X NO 

If yes. list such item(s) and the owner., _______________________ _ 

8. ts premises to be licensed within I SO feet of a church. school, hospital, home for indigent persons or for veterans. their 
wives. and children: or within 300 feet of a college or university campus? 

___ YES X NO 

If yes. provide name and address of such institution and where it is located in relation to the premises (Nebraska Revised 
Statute 53-177( l) AND PROVIDE FORM 134 - CHURCH OR FORM IJS - CAMPUS AND LETTER OF 
SUPPORT FROM CHURCH OR CAMPUS 

9. Is anyone listed on this application a law enforcement officer? If yes. list the person, the law enforcement agency 
involved and the person's exact duties. (Nebraska Revised Statute SJ-12S(lS) 

__ YES ~NO 

I 0. List the primary bank and/or financial institution (branch if applicable) to be utilized by the business. 
a) List the individual(s) who are authorized to write checks and/or withdrawals on accounts at this institution. 

B,1 ,lc.r;:s:Y (Nur.fr:1,t1,a) A~anun1d"...ik_, I P,,l,/IL M.11 #-t-,I l2l("'1 {Mr.fuo 

t I. List all past and present liquor licenses held in Nebraska or any other state by any person named in this application. 
Include license holder name, location of license and license number. Also list reason for tennination of any license(s) 
previously held. , w t "' 

l'Ja-rcn" tJ;,4,1 ·,~-,•~ s-r rM, 1 5,..a,"', 
/h,irM mc:tArJ.~v - Nul4l IJ.'S''/50/,2>'1.Jt;/ /,,l/5:;,9/17.-Sl?~J/12~'15'L·/_{ 25'f.r7 

fL1tit" / P,'111111 r\,1,.1/10 - AJor-lc.1/c l.2l/SBt/ 

FORM 100 
REV l2'7:2022 

PAGE6 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 62 of 210

l :?. List the atc,,hol related training. and/or experience (when and where) of the person(s) making application. Those 
pcrwns required arc listed as followed: 

• lndi\-idual: Applicant and spouse; spom;e is exempt if they nled Fonn 116-Affidavit of Non-Participation. 
• Partnership: All p.ir1ners and spouses. spo115es arc exempt if they filed Form 116 - Affidavit of Non

Participatilln. 
• Limited Liability Company: All member of LLC, Manager and all spouses; spouses are exempt if they filed Fonn 

116 -Affidavit of Non-Participation. 
• Corporation: President. Stockholders holding 25% or more of shares, Manager and all spouses: spouses are 

exempt if they filed Fonn 116-Affidavit of Non-Participation. 

NLCC certified t · · I d raminl! Drol!ram comn cte 
Applicant Name Date Name or program (allach copy or course completion ccnilicate) 

lmm/v11V\') 

~clt4-' ml l,,,, A" c, a/ Jdl => FSS-r - ~/)C,tt l, hk. B,vu/.c:, SetUitc.. TrAt1ill1 

Ex rience 
Applicant Name/Job Title Date of 

Em lovmcnt 

• 

Name & l.ocation or Husincss 

13. If the property is owned, submit a copy of the deed or proof of ownership. lfleased. submit a copy of the lease 
covering the entire license year. 
Documents must be in tbe name or applicant as owner or lessee 

V:: Lease expiration date. ____________________________ _ 
___ Deed 
___ Purchase Agreement 

. 

14. When do you intend to open for business? __ ... 6..=.~.c.k..;.,_,,M...;t-;..,7~,,1A.:,.u:;..;~...,c/'--------------

IS. What will be the main nature of business? _ __,_)._,-'-,,_T'"'Jr.:..:i~ffe,~,,~·t.,_,__..u""/_~,.:..:· l=--~b~li:.:;r_11~-,.~c,,_l_-'.::d~•..:;•l..,~=·,..:;11.:.:11~<-==----

l6. What are the anticipated hours of operation? _...;-r,,_,,._.~.::;..s,_-_S""",'-'"'-'d--"'1=1---'l..;.-_/{J_.,,,_p'-"".;....---------

l 7. List the principal residence(s) for the past IO years for ALL persons required to sign, including spouses. 

•,' 
.-i ..... -; -: ?·: .. 

~- ···.:~:~-.-'.<_. ... _::::_:~:~~~;~ .. :\\iji::~;~;:/:j~i3/:·s\::~Ii;fi'.\\~K1?J2·~:(~;\tf:Ht~t .. ·!·_ .. ; '.~:~=-·.:,:.~--~·.-.>)} '•,· . : :-i:;i:'.;.· ·;:~~:~:\ 

APPI.ICANT C:ITY & ST ATF. 

. 
i-

. . 
... . .. .. .. .. - .. , . , .. -.,. 
I . ,. . , 

i-- - .. 

If necessary, attach a separate sheet 

VF.AR SPOUSE CITY & ST A TE 
FROM TO 

• . 
- I-

I 

• ( ... 
-, ,. • .. ,. -

\'l:,\R 
FROM l'O 

. 
.-./.11< ~ 

. -
I 

FORM 100 
REV t:?·7 2022 

PAGE7 

1-

• -1--

i 
:It 

I 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 63 of 210

SIGNATURF. PAGF.- Pl.F.ASF. RF.Al> CARF.FULLV 

llu~ undersigned anplie l( ) 1 , b . . . . record f 1: an 5 ,ere Y conscnt(s} to an m,·cst1ga11on of his/her background and release present and future 
instill st .. 

0 
e\'el)d' kmd and description including police rccurds. tax records (State and Federal). and bank or lending 

· 1 •on recor s and sa,·d 1· t( ) d · ( · h · · · sp, ( ·) . · • . app ,can s nn spousc(s} waives) any rig t or causes of action that sa,d apphcant(s) or 
d. ~ u

1
st 

.'
51 ma~ ha\'e agamM the Nehmska Liquor Control Commissinn. the Nebraska State Patrol. and any other individual ,:-c 0sms ,,r rcleasi11 ·d · r: • A d r. • t kh 
1 

• · g sm m,onnnllon. ny ocumenls or records ,or the proposed bu-.mcss or for any partner or 
~ oc ~~ dcr that arc needed in furtherance of the application investigation of any other investigation shall be ,;upplied 
•m~,c iately upon demand to the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission or the Nebraska State Patrol. The undersigned 
un crsta~d a~,d ac~nowledge that any license issued. based on the information submitted in this application. is subject to 
cancellation if the mformation contained herein is incomplete. inaccurate or fraudulent. 

lndi\'id~al applicants agree to supervise in person the management and operation of the business and that they will operate 
the husmcss authorized by the license for themselves and nol as an agent for any other person or entity. Corporate applicants 
agre~ tile approved manager will superintend in person the management and operation of the business. Partnership 
apphcanls agree one partner shall superintend the management and operation of the business. All applicants agree to operate 
the licensed business within all applicable laws. rules. regulations. and ordinances and to cooperate fully with any authorized 
agent of the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission. 

Applicant Notification and Record Challenge: Your ji,rgerpri,rts will be used ltJ check th,: crimim,I l,i.,;tory records of the 
FBI. for, ha,•e the opportrmity to complete or challens:e the accuracy ,,J tire informatiun contained i11 FBI identifi_cotion 
rl!cnrd. Tire procedures f"r obtaining u change, cnrrectim,. nr updutin~ an FBI ide11tificatinn re,·nrd are set forth m Title 
1R. CFR. 16.J-I. 

Must be signed by all applicanl(s) and spouse(s) owning more than 25% 
(YOU MAY NEED TO PRINT MULlTPLE SIGNATURE PAGES) 

Signature ofSPOUSF. 

Printed Name of SPOUSE 

~ I Printed Name of SPOUSE 

l'OR'.\t 100 
Rl~V I.? 7 :?O:?:? 

PAGES 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 64 of 210

2/9/24, 8:04 AM Nebraska Secretary of State - Corporation and Business EnUty Searches for Subscribers • Details 

RAR ENTERPRISES, LLC 

SOS Account Number 
2109283001 
Status 
Active 

Principal Office Address 
504 E PROSPECT AVE 
NORFOLK, NE 68701 

Nebraska Secretary of State 

Registered Agent and Office Address 
RICHELLE A MATTEO 
504 E PROSPECT AVE 
NORFOLK, NE 68701 
Designated Office Address 
504 E PROSPECT AVENUE 
NORFOLK, NE 68701 

Nahlre ~f Business 
Not Available 
EntltyType 
Domestic LLC 
Qualifying State: NE 
Date Flied 
Sep302021 

Next Report Due Date 
Jan 012025 

Flied Documents 

Fri Feb 9 08:04:56 2024 

Flied documents for RAR ENTERPRISES, LLC may be avallable for purchase and downloading by selecting the Purchase Now button. 
Your Nebraska.gov account wlD be charged the Indicated amount for each Item you view. If no Purchase Now button appea,s, please 
contact Secretary of State's office to request document(s}. 

-· ,------•-·•• ···--! Date Flied Document 
•--··-- ---·-· ··-·,-- ···- . 

i Price 

I Sep 30 2021 
I 

-------·-----· ...... 1. .. ·---·•-··••· . -· 
! Nov 012021 
' 

Certificate of Organization 

Proof of Publication 

! 

! $0.45 = 1 page(s} @ $0.45 per I Purchase Now I : page 
•-- - -·- •·- -···-- l $0.45 = 1 page(s) @ $0.45 per I Purchase Now I l page 

Record of DetermlnaUon . ,~;06-2023-- -----·• -·----t-··------·-·--· ---

I I , $0.45 = 1 page(s} @ $0.45 per Purchase Now 
1 
page 

AdmlnlstraUve Dissolution Jun212023 

' ---------·· -··-·-·-·--------

j $0.45 = 1 page(s) @ $0.45 per I Purchase Now I ; page 
-~·-·- .. -·-

Reinstatement ; $0.90 = 2 pago(a)@ $0.45 per I Purchase Now I ' I page 
--

i Jul 12 2023 

_.__..I. ________ _ 
https:/Jww.N.nebraska.gov/sos/coorp/corpaearch.c:gt?acct-numbar=2109283001 1/2 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 65 of 210

-
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY (LLC) 

Nl:llRASKA I.IQllOI{ (.'ON nm1. l'O~ 
,01 Cl:~lENNIAI. :\1,\1.1. Sot 11'1 I 
l'l) nt lX Q!i04C, 
u~crn.:,.;. :-,.:1: 6UOQ-!i04c, 

IMISSION Llten~e 
Class: 

r , 
. ·:·. 

PIIO!',;!=: (40::!) 471-::!!i71 
FAX: (40::!H71-::!814 
I \1:\11: k-:.fr,in.1'1~•sl..!Lnl.'!'m~l.:1~Q\ 
\\ HISI II:\\\\\\ .li;~,n~hr:1,.l-:1.gm 

Licen~e Number: 

L-JI 
INSTRl ICTIONS 

I. All members and spouses must be listed 
:!. l\·1anaging/Contact member and all members holding over 25 % shares of stock and their spouse (if 

applicable) must sign the signature page of the application . 
3. Managing/Contact member and all members holding over 25% interest and their spouses must submit 

fingerprints. Sec Form I 47 for further information 
•t Attach copy of Anicles of Organization 

IJ"IJe-?orUliiiid'.t~Uiif.G.m&~:~~QiJile.,~ila~o?b.riiSdia 

&/IL [n.Je,p, i~.) l.l '-

Name of Registered Agent: __ ,_SL!!A.!l1f.1Clu~.,,_.1.'311!.!..e.!!"i!"ee4!:5::.!14!:!!c. ______________ _ 

LLC Address: ____ ..Jl!.SJ~<>:::...t/..!......,;E:::..!... • .t:::.9.!..!r•~S.:,::fJ~L:.::ic.f:~A~V"-____________ --:--n. ......h 
,::J F- ..,\ 'bV\V 

City: ___ N.;...:_,_-/_~t,_'l. ________ State: _N_£. ____ Zip Code: ___::l:;..:·' i::....1_u_J_' _,,.,. __ 

LLC Phone Number: __ 'i_~>--"""'1.;...1_Z.,_-_o_.,_-,_,S' ___ LLC Fax Number_--l,N:!...J.1./J~J ______ _ 

... -.:='!r~rJ.a~.-~~-,"'t.-•·~'Tri· --~..,·~-~-•.,'-:'C 
Nq!li:Pl,1,YM~w~~~~M-.b,t 
~rune and infonnation of contact member must be listed on following page 

Last Nwne: (VI( l~,~t,,, First Name: tJ,,. diPt,. 1 Ml:_=L-
I ' 

.- . --.,..,- ~ ty .z.acY!....:..::'11_,.,4......._.,.L,..:.' ..;;.·...:-....... _•_e,, ____ City: _ __,_A_../4..x'l..;..l_-k_ . .;.../ l..;;;.... _____ _ Home Address: 

State: l - ___ Zip Code: _...;,._. __ ...,5 ___ , __ Home Phone Number: 

Signature of Managing/Contact Member 
I 

-__...., 

FOR.\110~ 
REV l::!8 ::!O::!~ 

Pagt> I 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 66 of 210

CERTIFICATE OF ORGANIZATION 
OF 

RAR ENTERPRISES, L.L.C. 
A Nebraska Limited Liability Company 

NE Sec of'Slalc-Robcd 8. Ewm 
Filing Documall #: 900070104S Pages: I 
Co,poralion Name: RAR BNTERPRISES, LLC 
Filing Date and Time: 09/30/2021 04:SB PM 

Fint: The name of the limited liability company is: RAR ENTERPRISES, LL.C. 

Second: The street and mailing address of the Company's initial designated office in the 

State of Nebraska is: 504 E. Prospect Avenue; Norfolk, NE 68701. 

Third: The name of the initial agent for service of process of the Company is Richelle A 

Matteo and her street, mailing address and post office box number, if any, is: S04 E. Prospect 

Avenue; Norfolk, NE 68701. 

Fourth: The Company shall be managed by its members. 

By~ttlA 
RiJhelle A. , anizer 

STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
COUNTY OF MADISON ) a. 

Before me, an officer duly authorized by the laws of the State of Nebraska to take 
aclatowledgments of deeds, personally appeared RICHELLE A. MATTEO known to me to be the 
Organizer referred to in the foregoing Certificate of Organi:zation, and acknowledged the execution 
thereof. 

Witness my hand and seal this o{.>~day of Se,.Je,..~- , 20~1. 

/l b. C;;....L.-,~.,,,__., -
GBl'BIAL:NOTARY • Slate ol Nellraska I SHAWN D. BEAUDETTE 

U,CmmE,p.l1ar2&,2m2 
Notary Publil/ 

CcrtiftCllleO!grmimtioNMll!eoRyan/RARElltapriscsl.LC 

. 
i 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 67 of 210

---
MANAGF.R APPLICATION 
FORl\1 10..' 

\rl\R·\SK \ I 11,ll :oR CONTROi. COMMISSION 
~tll l'l \:11 \:\;l,\1 :\IAI.I.SOl.f'J'II 
"l HI l\ •l~ll-lh 

_F , 
Llren~e 

c·,a~:1:. __ _ 
I 1,1 ·1 lJ '\. ~F hS51llJ,511-16 
l'lhl\;J :c-l0=\-1~1-~571 
I:\\: 1-ltl=\-l'?J.~~I-I 

I \I \II: k,·.lh•nl,l!,'.,J...!f!lt:!1_111~~.i'-S~!\ 
,, 1 u-;111 : \\~\~l~~.nchmska.go\ 

Licensr Number: L 11 
~ --iiiil 

'.\lA~AGF.R MUST: 
• Re at least 21-years of age 
• Complete all sections of the application. 
• Form must be signed by a member or corporate officer 
• Include Fonn 147 -Fingerprints are required 
• Provide a copy of one of the following: US birth certificate. US Passport. naturalization papers OR legal 

resident documentation 
• Be a resident of the state of Nebraska and if an US citizen be a registered voter in the State of Nebraska 
• Spouse who will participate in the business. the spouse must meet the same requirements as the manager 

applicant: 
Spouse who will not participate in the business 

• Complete the Spousal Affidavit of Non Participation (Fonn 116). Be sure to complete both halves of 
this form, 

Name of Corporation/LLC: __ ~f...;/l_~--=£:..:.11.:.;:~:..;.~~o,:...:.;~=-H"~· _...;;.L;;;..l-_'-_____________ _ 

' 

Premises Trade Name/DBA:._....J.r;-'~:;.:'-"'=e/._,..:...,,.1.f ____________________ _ 

Premises Street Address:. ____ ;;;J:;;..-_c,_1 _,..a;.W;...;_ . ..:..;A...,lo..:..., ...;.:./,.:..:.1:..:..lc _/l'-'-L.vG.=---=S.=1'-1 ·...:.k:::.•__;.'.:,.=10~--------

City:. __ .........,A.:....::/ 1'-'-,_J~" _,/f ________ County: /}1,,..1,:f <,,., Zip Code: (.,S 76 / 

Premises Phone Number:. _____ ...:..'li.::;.ab):~-... S::...-..:;3....;2.~-_./..:a.A:..;;:,.~1..~-------------

',/\.__ 
CORPORA TE OFFICER/ MANAGING MEMBER 

The individual whose name is listed as a corporate officer or managing member as reported or 
listed with the Commission. 

FORM 103 
REV 12·8·2022 

PAGE I 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 68 of 210

\ . 
Cit~ .. 1,r 

Cnuntv ~' ... ._.. ... _____ ----- - -- .___.. 
' ... Zip Cod• -·~--L .. '-',.,,__ __ _ 

Driwr·s License Number 

S(,cial Security Number: 

Place of Birth: ------- ..... 
/J 

Email address: 

□ YES 

Spouses Last Name:. ____________ _ 
Ml: First Name:________ --

Social Security Number:: __________________________ _ 

Driver"s License Number:: ___________________________ _ 

Date of Birth: ___________ _ Place of Birth: ____________ _ 

: 

YEAR CITY&STATE 
FROM ._~ 

-~- -- -i 
"T -

I 

YEAR CITY&STATE 
TO 

....... • . I 

YEAR YEAR 
FROM TO 

FORM 103 
REV t~·s:2022 

PAGE2 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 69 of 210

l 

---"""'T"'---------~----------,------------=-----i ~AR TELEPHONE 
TO NAME OF EMPLOYER NAME OF SUPERVISOR NUMBER 

\D CAREFULLY. ANSWER COMPLETELY AND ACCURATELY. 
'Must bt completed by both applicant and spouse, unless spouse has filed an affidavit of non• 
participation. 

nvone who is a party to this application, or their spouse, ~ been convicted of or plead guilty to any 
~-~ means ~ charge alleging a felony, misdemeanor, violation of a federal or state law; a violation 
ocal law. ordinance or resolution. List the nature of the charge, where the charge occurred and the year and 
.h of the conviction or plea, include traffic violations. Also list any charges pending at the time of this 
ication. lf more than one party, please list charges by each individual's name. Commission must be notified 
ny arrests and/or convictions that may occur after the date of signing this application. 

YES O NO 

iCS. please explain below or attach a separate page. 

Name of Applicant 
Date of 

Conviction 
(mm/yyyy) 

Description 
of 

Charge 
Disposition 

2. Have you or your spouse ever been approved or made application for a liquor license in Nebraska or any 
other state'? 

□YES ™O 

IF YES, list the name of the premisc(s): 

3. Do you. as a manager. qualify under Nebraska Liquor Control Act ( §SJ-131.0 I) and do ,·ou intend to 
supervise. in person. the management of the business? • 

~ES ONO 

REV l:?8:?0:?:? 
P:\GEJ 

d 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 70 of 210

I .isl the akohol related training and/or experience (when and where) of the person making application. 
-~--- -- --•----. 
:\1lplit.:mu Nmuc l>atc Name of progr.im ( nunch copy of course completion 

(mmlyyyy) certificate) .. -
I. --·--- -

i .. -- ----·--· 
I 

!--· 
I . 
L... 

I 

I 
•for list ofNLCC Certified Training Programs see framing 

Name & Location of Business: 

5. Ha\'e you enclosed Fonn 147 regarding fingerprints? 

~YES ONO 

FORM 103 
REV 12:820:?2 

PAGE-I 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 71 of 210

4ATl1RF. PAGF.-PLF.ASF. RF.Al> CARF.FULLY 

•'~ u
nd

crsigncd a~pticanl(s) hereby conscnl(s) to an investigation of his/her background and release present and future 

~'C\:,~
rd

s_ of c,·cry kmd and description including pt,licc records. tax records (State and Federal). and bank or lending 

tns\lluti,,n records. and said applicant(s) and spousc{s) waivc{s) any right or causes of action that said applicant(s) or 

!>~,,us~s) ma~ ha\"c against the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission. the Nebraska State Patrol. and any other individual 

d,sclosmg. or rclca.-.ing said infonnation. Any documents or records for the proposed business or for any partner_ or 

~tl"ickh~ldcr that arc nC\:dcd in funhcrance of the application investigation of any other investigation shall be su~phed 

1mmcd1atcly upon demand to the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission or the Nebraska State Pat~I. !he ~ndc~•gned 

understand and acknowledge that any license issued. based on the infonnation submitted in this apphcat,on. '" suh1ect to 

cancellati_on if the infonnation contained herein is incomplete, inaccurate or fraudulent. 

Applica11t Notification and Record Challenge: Yo11r fingerprints will he 11tetl ltJ check tile criminal hi'ilory r~c11r1f 0/~he 

FBI. fo11 h,n·,• the opportrmity tn ctJmpll!tl! or dral/e11g11 tire accuracy of the i1rfnrmatim, CtJntai11ed in FBI ulentifi_cat~on 

rf!,•ord. The prm:e,ilwl!.f for nhtai11ins: a clrtml(e. correctim,. or 11pduti11s: u11 FBI i,lemijkuJilln record are set forth III TIiie 

2li. C:FR. 16.J./. 

Must bC? signed by applicant and spouse. 

Signature of APP 'JCANT 

M; ,;e; Nie< ?-ic;&"t 
Printed Name of. 

Signature ofSPOUSF. 

Printed Name of SPOUSE 

toR~I IOl 
RF\' C 8 :?O:?:! 

P:\<il·. 5 

---------------



 
  
 

Don Miller dmiller@norfolkne.gov 
Chief of Police  
  

Service  ~  Honor  ~  Commitment 

 

202 N. 7th Street 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

  24 hrs. 402-644-8700 
Office 402-844-2150   

www.norfolkne.gov 

To:  Brianna Duerst 
  City Clerk 
 
From:  Don Miller 
  Chief of Police 
 
RE:  Liquor License background for RAR Enterprises, LLC, d.b.a. Founders Bar 
 
Date:  February 28, 2024 
 
  
On February 14, 2024, the Norfolk Police Division was assigned a liquor license investigation for the 
business located at 501 W. Norfolk Ave, Suite #110 in Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, 68701. This 
business is newly named Founders and used to be Boathouse Ax Throwing. The application is for 
Andrew McCarthy born in 1985, Ryan Matteo born in 1985, and Richelle Matteo born in 1987 of 
RAR Enterprises, LLC. In addition, the manager is listed as Miranda Bright DOB 1977.  There was no 
spouse listed for Bright on the application.   
 
The business is seeking a new liquor license #C-124467. In checking with the Nebraska Liquor Control 
Commission there is no history for the license other than the initial application. It appears that the 
appropriate paperwork has been filed with the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission. 
 
This establishment held a liquor license under the previous owners which was #C-124467. This 
application is for a replacement of retail liquor license #C-124467 that was terminated on February 9, 
2024.  
 
Andrew McCarthy currently resides at 226 W. Norfolk Avenue; #200 in Norfolk and the application 
states he is unmarried.  
 
McCarthy currently holds three liquor licenses in Norfolk including: 
 
 #C125450 which is for District Table and Tab, located at 226 W. Norfolk Ave., STE 120, Norfolk, 
Madison County Nebraska, owned by Seven County Spirits, LLC. 
 
 #C125451 for District Event Center, located at 218 W. Norfolk Ave, Norfolk, Madison County Nebraska, 
owned by Seven County Spirits, LLC.  
 
#C124584 for The Office Bar, located at 120 S. 4th Street, Norfolk, Madison County Nebraska. owned 
by RAR Enterprises.  
 
Additionally, McCarthy holds three other liquor licenses, two in St. Paul, Nebraska and one in West 
Point, Nebraska. These are:  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 72 of 210

~'z iN Norfolk 
POLI E 



 

Service  ~  Honor  ~  Commitment 

 

 
#C125894 for District Table and Tab, located at 135 S. Main Street in West Point, Cuming County 
Nebraska, owned by Seven County Spirits. 
 
#C125456 and #ZK125457 both for Loup River Distilling, located at 503 Howard Ave, St. Paul, Howard 
County, Nebraska, owned by Seven County Spirits, LLC.  
 
McCarthy previously held two previous liquor licenses which were: 
 
#C088342 for Big Red Restaurant located at 2101 W. Pasewalk Ave, Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska, owned by Endgame Operating Group. 
 
#Q124306 for Pedal Therapy LLC, located at 109 S. 5th Street, Norfolk, Madsion County, Nebraska. 
 
We reviewed the Norfolk Police Files for McCarthy, and found he was the victim of a 3rd Degree Assault 
by his girlfriend in October 2020. This was the only contact where McCarthy was an involved party and 
not a reporting party. McCarthy has had multiple other contacts with the Norfolk Police Division since 
2002 when he was cited for leaving the scene of an accident. He was cited three times from 2003 to 
2005 for minor in possession of alcohol, and in 2006 he was cited for theft of services and third-degree 
assault. McCarthy has also received multiple tickets for parking violations in the 200 block of Norfolk 
Ave. where his home and his establishments the District Table and Tab and the District Event Center 
are located. This area has time restricted parking. 
 
We also checked the NCJIS website for civil and criminal history for McCarthy. He only has a 2007 
conviction for a DUI on his criminal history and I found no civil court entries.  
 
Ryan Matteo currently lives at 504 E. Prospect Ave. in Norfolk and is married to Richelle Matteo who is 
also on this application.  
 
Matteo currently holds one liquor license which is #C124584 which is for the Office Bar, located at 120 
S. 4th Street, Norfolk, Madison County Nebraska, owned by RAR Enterprises.  
 
We checked the Norfolk Police Files for Ryan Matteo and found numerous entries, many of which were 
traffic violations.  He has had two DUI arrests in December of 2003 and October of 2008. Matteo also 
had an open container violation in 2015, disturbing the peace violations in 2006 and 2012, and a minor 
in possession of alcohol in 2005.  
 
We also checked the NCJIS website for criminal and civil history for Ryan Matteo. In the Criminal 
history we found nothing that has not already been mentioned except for a 2009 violation for a warrant 
for failure to obtain a dog or cat license. The civil side had three cases from 2009 and 2010 in which 
Ryan Matteo was listed as a defendant which were regarding medical payments.  
 
Richelle Matteo also currently lives at 504 E. Prospect Ave in Norfolk and has the same liquor license 
of C124584 as her husband Ryan.  
 
We reviewed the Norfolk Police Files for Richelle Matteo under both her married name and her maiden 
name of Richelle Wachter. The files show several contacts under the Wachter name, many traffic 
related or as a reporting party or witness. In 2006, Richelle Matteo was arrested after taking a co-
worker's checks and passing them at local businesses.  
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 73 of 210



 

Service  ~  Honor  ~  Commitment 

 

We also checked the NCJIS website for criminal and civil history for Richelle Matteo and found no 
entries under the last name of Matteo. Under the last name Wachter I observed the arrest from the theft 
of checks on her criminal history which was the only arrest listed. Under the civil court history, I found 
eight entries from 2007 to 2013, seven of which she was listed as a defendant and one time as a 
plaintiff.  
 
Miranda Bright is listed as residing at 900 W Prospect Ave #14 in Norfolk.   
 
The Nebraska Liquor Control Commission site shows the only entry for Bright is the current application. 
 
A check of the Nebraska Criminal Justice Information System (NCJIS) criminal, civil, and traffic files 
was done for Miranda Bright.  Bright was arrested for DUI by the Nebraska State Patrol in Madison 
County in 2013 and convicted in 2014.  Bright satisfactorily completed probation.   
 
Bright was also stopped in 2022 for speeding by the Nebraska State Patrol, resulting in a warning. 
 
We located a civil case in Madison County in 2013 in which Miranda Bright divorced Chad Bright DOB 
1974.  Bright was also listed as a parent in a Madison County child support case in 1999.   
 
Bright's criminal history only lists the prior mentioned DUI arrest. 
 
We did a check of the Norfolk Police Division local files for Miranda Bright and found six traffic contacts 
between 2003 and 2013.  There was also 2013 contact for a pawn ticket, and as a reporting party of a 
criminal mischief report (NPD case 2013-1774.)  In that case, Bright, an employee of Windshield 
Doctors, located at 307 E Omaha Ave, reported damage to a window of the business.  The suspects 
were unidentified.   
 
Bright's Nebraska operator’s license listed a previous name as Miranda Glassmeyer.  We located 12 
contacts in NPD files, 7 of which were traffic.  In 2000, Bright was listed as a witness in a non-medical 
hospitalization involving a family member.  In 1998, Bright reported that two tires on her vehicle had 
been slashed.  There were no identified suspects.  In 1992 Bright was cited for a curfew violation. 
 
On NCJIS, we found an additional speeding warning issued by the Nebraska State Patrol in 2008 under 
the name Miranda Glassmeyer. 
 
We also did locations searches for the address of the Norfolk businesses that are currently owned by 
the applicants for this alcohol license and reviewed the police calls. They are as follows:  
 
District Event Center-218 W. Norfolk Ave-This is a newer business opening in 2023 under Seven 
County Spirts and found no concerning calls at this location in the short time it has existed under this 
business name.  
 
District Table and Tap-218 W. Norfolk Ave-This location has been operating under Seven County 
Spirits, LLC since October 2019. There have been various police calls at this location ranging from 
suspicious persons, trespassing, fire alarms, and various disturbances. We found no calls involving 
concerns with the business for alcohol violations.  
 
Office Bar-120 S. 4th Street-RAR Enterprises took control of this business in October 2021, and we 
reviewed the police calls to this establishment from that time until the present. We found only one call 
there that listed concern with alcohol service and it was on June 4, 2022. Officers had contact with 
McCarthy regarding an outdoor event and concerns about patrons leaving the area with alcohol and the 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 74 of 210



 

Service  ~  Honor  ~  Commitment 

 

need for more security in the future. McCarthy agreed to review the issues moving forward. There were 
no other calls that were unusual or concerning.  
 
There is nothing further at this time.  
 

 

  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 75 of 210



 

 

 

 

Public Hearing 

 

The Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska will hold a public hearing on 

Monday, March 4, 2024 at 5:30 p.m. in the City Council Chambers, 309 N 5th Street, Norfolk, 

Nebraska, to consider the Class C (beer, wine, distilled sprits, on and off sale) liquor license 

application for RAR Enterprises, LLC, dba Founders, 501 W Norfolk Avenue, Suite 110, and the 

manager application of Miranda Bright.   

 

All persons desiring to give evidence before the city council in support of or in protest against the 

issuance of said license may do so at the time set for the hearing either orally or if by written 

affidavit, the affidavit is filed with the city clerk at least three (3) business days prior to the date 

and time set for said hearing.  

 

Brianna Duerst 

City Clerk 
 

 

 Publish (February 23, 2024) 

1 P.O.P.

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 76 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 77 of 210

Sec. 3-29. Procedure for handling liquor license applications. 

(a) Upon receipt of notification by the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission that an application for a liquor 
license within the City of Norfolk has been applied for, the city clerk shall give notice of hearing as provided for in 
section 53-134 N.R.S. 1943, as amended, which shall fix the date, time and place of said hearing, and also which 
shall be sent to applicant by first-class mail along with a copy of this section. Said notice shall be published in a 
legal newspaper in or of general circulation in the city, one time not less than seven (7) nor more than fourteen 
(14) days before the time of the hearing. Said notice shall include, but not be limited to, a statement that all 
persons desiring to give evidence before the city council in support of or in protest against the issuance of said 
license may do so at the time set for the hearing either orally or if by written affidavit, the affidavit is filed with the 
city clerk at least three (3) business days prior to the date and time set for said hearing. Said hearing shall be 
conducted within forty-five (45) days after receipt of the notice from the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission. 

(b) The applicant for a liquor license or his, her, their or its representative shall be required to attend the 
public hearing on the liquor license application. At the hearing on the application, the mayor, or in his or her 
absence the president of the city council, shall act as hearing officer. The hearing officer may limit testimony 
where it appears incompetent, irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious. 

(c) The hearing on the application shall be conducted informally. The intent of the hearing is to inquire 
into the factual basis for the application and qualifications of the applicant to meet the criteria set forth in section 3-
28 of the Official City Code, not to be an adversary action. Two (2) or more proceedings which are legally or 
factually related may be heard and considered together unless any party thereto makes a sufficient showing to the 
mayor and city council that prejudice would result therefrom. The hearing may be reported by a certified court 
reporter, at the request of the city council or applicant, whose cost shall be borne by the applicant. If the hearing is 
reported by a certified court reporter, a copy of the transcript of the hearing shall be filed with the city clerk by the 
court reporter as soon as the same is transcribed, and if said hearing is conducted in conjunction with a regular 
city council meeting, said copy shall become part of the official minutes of said meeting. Each witness may 
present his or her testimony in narrative fashion or by question and answer, and shall state his or her name and 
address prior to commencing his or her testimony for the record. The mayor and city council shall not be bound by 
the strict rules of evidence in the conduct of the hearing and may admit and give probative effect to evidence 
which possesses probative value commonly accepted by reasonably prudent persons. The burden of proof and 
persuasion with regard to the application shall be on the applicant. The mayor or any member of the city council 
may question any witness, call witnesses or request information. For purposes of obtaining desired information, 
the hearing officer may authorize the city administrator, city attorney, and/or other agent to act on his or her behalf. 

(d) The order of proceedings for the conduct of the hearing is as follows: 

(1) Exhibits, if possible, will be marked in advance of the hearing by the city clerk and presented to the 
hearing officer during the hearing. 

(2) Presentation of evidence, witnesses and argument by the applicant. 

(3) Testimony of any other citizens in favor of the application. 

(4) Questioning of applicant, witnesses or citizens by city attorney, city administrator, governing body, 
or duly appointed agent. 

(5) Questioning of the applicant, witnesses or citizens in favor of the application by anyone in 
opposition to the license, if any. 

(6) Presentation of evidence, witnesses and argument by citizens in opposition to the application, if 
any. 

(7) Presentation of evidence by the city and law enforcement personnel. 

(8) Questioning of citizens in opposition, city personnel or law enforcement personnel by the applicant. 

(9) Rebuttal evidence by applicant and opposition, if desired. 

(10) Summation by applicant and opposition, if desired. 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 17
Page 78 of 210

( 11) Close of hearing and consideration by mayor and city council. 

(e) After the hearing, the mayor and city council shall cause to be spread at large in the minute record of 
its proceedings a resolution approving or denying the issuance of such license. Said approval or denial shall be 
made within forty-five (45) days of the city clerk's receiving a copy of the license application from the Nebraska 
Liquor Control Commission. If the mayor and city council denies the retail or bottle club license within said forty
five-day period, such denial shall be final and shall be subject to review as provided in Sections 25-1901 to 
25-1908 N.R.S. 1943, as amended. The mayor and city council shall by resolution issue the final order of denial to 
the applicant or licensee in writing and deliver or mail a copy by first-class mail postage prepaid to the Nebraska 
Liquor Control Commission within ten (10) days of the date the application was denied. If the mayor and city 
council approve an application by resolution within said forty-five-day period, the mayor and city council shall 
within ten (10) days of the date the application was approved notify the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission by 
first-class mail postage prepaid or delivery of the resolution of the action taken. 

(f) No license shall be denied by the mayor and city council except after a hearing with reasonable notice 
to the applicant and an opportunity to appear and present evidence. Any resolution denying or failing to renew an 
application or license rendered by the mayor and city council shall be in writing or stated in the record and shall be 
accompanied by findings. The findings shall consist of concise statements of the conclusions upon each 
contested issue. The applicant or licensee shall be notified of the decision in person or by mail. A copy of the 
decision and order and accompanying findings shall be delivered or mailed upon request to the applicant or 
licensee. 

Source: Ord. No. 3399, §§ 2-6, 5-5-86; Ord. No. 3469, § 1, 4-20-87; Ord. No. 3513, § 1, 11-2-87; Ord. No. 
3598, § 3, 11-7-88; Ord. No. 3654, §§ 5, 7, 6-19-89; Ord. No. 5038, § 1, 10-20-08; Ord. No. 5820, § 1, 2-6-23; 

Subsequently, Ord. No. 3654, § 5, adopted June 19, 1989, renumbered§ 3-28 as§ 3-29, and§ 7 of the same ordinance 
amended the same to read as herein set out. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-11 

WHEREAS, an application was filed by RAR, LLC, dba Founders, 501 West 
Norfolk Avenue, Suite 110, for a Class “C” Liquor License and the manager 
application of Miranda L. Bright; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing notice was published in the Norfolk Daily News as 
required by state law on February 23, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 4, 2024, for the purpose of 
discussing such liquor license application.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City 
of Norfolk that: 

The City of Norfolk hereby recommends approval of the above-identified liquor 
license application and the manager application of Miranda L. Bright. 

Passed and approved this _______ day of ____________, 2024. 

_____________________________ 
  Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
    Brianna Duerst, City Clerk 

( S E A L ) 

Approved as to form:  __________________________ 
D. Myers-Noelle, City Attorney

3/4/2024 Enclosure 18
Page 79 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 19
Page 80 of 210

~'z 
1N 

Cityof Norfolk 
Sl:BR.\SKA 

progress. right at home. 

ZONING CHANGE APPLICATION 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www .norfolkne.gov 

For 
Office Date Rec'd ___ _ 

Use Fee $ ___ _ 
Only Rec'd by 

Applicant: Par.Lor & Libations LLC 714 W Norfolk Ave, Norfolk, NE 68701 
Name 

(31 9)541-4183 

Phone 

Address 

dorwa21@gmail.com 

Email 
* If applicant is an LLC, a copy of the operating agreement must be submitted with the application. 

Contact: Daniel Orwa 
(other than 

applicant) 

Name 

(319)541-4183 

Phone 

Address 

dorwa21@gmail.com 

Email 

Current Zoning: 11 Proposed Zoning: _C_2 _______ _ 
* If applying for M-U (Mixed Use) District, a copy of the plan must be submitted with the application. 

Location of Property: 714 W Norfolk Ave, Norfolk, NE 68701 

Legal Description: Koenigsteins Second Addition Lot 11, Blk 8 

Property Area, Square feet and/or Acres: 3,048 SF/ 0.07 Acres 

Use of Adjoining Properties: 

North: ______ East: ______ South: _____ West: _____ _ 

Authorized Agent 

OR 

Printed Name of Owner Printed Name of Authorized Agent 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Department; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 19
Page 81 of 210

- ~~ 
1ti 

Ciryof Norfolk 
~[BR ,\ KA 

p l'Ogl'ess. right at home. 

ZONING CHANGE 

JUSTIFICATION FORM 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
wvvw .norfolkne.gov 

1. What type of development does the Norfolk Comprehensive Plan recommend for this area? 

Mixed Use 

2. Does the zone change request conform to the Comprehensive Plan? 

Yes 

3. Is the proposed property in the Floodplain hazard area as delineated under the Federal Flood Insurance 
program? 

No: Flood Zone: 31119C Subtype: Area of Minimal Hazard 

4. What is the justification for the zone change as it relates to the overall Land Use? 

Improvement upon current inaccurate zoning to accurately reflect future land use 

5. How would this zoning district conform with adjacent properties' zoning? 

Current zoning is inaccurate 

6. What is the general character of the area? 

Downtown (walkable, mixed use environment) 

7. Is adequate sewer and water available? How do you propose to provide adequate public utilities? 

Sewer/water service are both available but will be updated with all new piping to the west and south 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Department; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 19
Page 82 of 210

4 

5 

6 

B 

1© 

2 

3 

4 

5 
i-= 

I] ~ 
66' 

1 Ir 
15 

14 

13 

11 

1 6 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

B 

16 

15 

14 

13 

12 

11 

10 

9 

11 

10 

5 

16 

15 

14 

13 

12 

11 

10 

9 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

B 

5 

B 7 

3 2 

"' ., 

" ., 

1 7 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

B 

i-= 
(/) 

6 ..c ..., 
00 
66' 

A 

I 

I 
rEJN11 

AVE. 

0 

1B 

17 2 

3 

15 4 

14 5 
i-= 

6 
(/) 

::!~ 5! 9 7 ..c ..., 
B r--

ill 

00~-
2 

0 
0 IRON HORSE ci 
"' 

1c;ouf 
\◊-0 c,\''< v.- p..\) 

3 p..~ 
~~ 

3 

GOLDEN 
7 

2 

PHASE III 

0 
5 4 3 2 1 

fE I~ 'S 

MADISON 

4 

3 2 
0 

NOT TO SCALE 
\FlREPL01\22S 41-0 

PHILIP 

,. 

6 

5 

16' 

6 

2924 

7 B 9 10 

0 
4 3 2 1 

7 B 9 10 

DWG 

H .lJ .lJ l. I l.LJI\I 

3 

0 

3 .- /If / c;:; 

~ I J I J s -
~ 

1 2 34 5 6 7B 9 5! 9 B 76 543 

l<D ~ I n r\ / ·i ., 

~ 

B 7 6 5 

9 10 11 12 

4 3 2 

0 I . I . I , I , I ~1 I , 1.1. 1.1. I , I 



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.norfolkne.gov 

 
 
February 22, 2024 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
The Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing on February 21, 2024 at the 
request of Par.Lor & Libations LLC., to consider a zoning change from I-1 (Light 
Industrial District) to C-2 (Central Business District) on property addressed as 714 W. 
Norfolk Ave. 

 
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the request with a 7-0 vote. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Dirk Waite, Chair  
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 19
Page 83 of 210

~'z iti 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA; 

AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA; 

PROVIDING WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND 

PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA: 

Section 1. That the I-1 (Light Industrial District) zoning on the following described real estate:  

  
Lot 11, Blk 8, Koenigsteins Second Addition, City of Norfolk, Madison County, 
Nebraska 

 
 
 is hereby changed to C-2 (Central Business District)  
 

Section 2.  That this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

approval, and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ____________ day of ________________, 2024. 

 
____________________________ 
 Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Brianna Duerst, City Clerk 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: _______________________________ 
                                   Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 20
Page 84 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 21
Page 85 of 210

~':t 1t-t 
Ciryo/ Norfolk 

S[BR\Sk\ 

progress. right at home. 

ZONING CHANGE APPLICATION 

Applicant: BAS Holding, LLC 
Name 

(402} 510-5281 

Phone 

Address 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

P 402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.norfolkne.gov 

For 
Office Date Rec'd _ _ _ _ 

Use Fee $ ___ _ 

Only Rec'd by 

1423 280th Street, Modale, IA 51556 

Email 

* if applicant is an LLC, a copy of the operating agreement must be submitted with the application. 

Contact: Tracy Thompson 
(other than 

applicant) 

Name 

Phone 

Address 

Email 

Current Zoning: A Proposed Zoning: _l_-1 ___ ____ _ 
*If applying for M-U (Mixed Use) District, a copy of the plan must be submitted with the application. 

Location of Property: 2200 South Victory Road, Norfolk, NE 68701 

Legal Description: Lot 2, Chaffin's Addition, Madison County, Nebraska 23-24-1 

Property Area, Square feet and/or Acres: 5.56 acres 

Use of Adjoining Properties: 

North: ______ East: ______ South: _____ West: _____ _ 

Authorized Agent 

Tracy Thompson 
OR 

Printed Name of Owner Print ed Name of Authorized Agent 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Department; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 21
Page 86 of 210

~~ 1N 
Cityof Norfolk 

progress. right at home. 

ZONING CHANGE 

JUSTIFICATION FORM 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

P 402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.norfolkne.gov 

1. What type of development does the Norfolk Comprehensive Plan recommend for this area? 

Agricultural 

2. Does the zone change request conform to the Comprehensive Plan? 

Yes, industrial property adjacent to this property 

3. Is the proposed property in the Floodplain hazard area as delineated under the Federal Flood Insurance 

program? 

no 

4. What is the justification for the zone change as it relates to the overall Land Use? 

We want to be able to operate our asphalt paving company from this location 

5. How would this zoning district conform with adjacent properties' zoning? 

Adjacent properties to the soth are zoned light industrial and a CUP to the west 

6. What is the general character of the area? 

Industrial 

7. Is adequate sewer and water available? How do you propose to provide adequate public utilities? 

no 

Return Completed forms to: Norfolk Planning Department; 309 N 5th Street; Norfolk, NE 68701 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 21
Page 87 of 210

.,..___ _____ ___, 3 0 0' 
BOUNDARY 

NQT TO SCAI.E_ 
S: \OEPl\ENG\F{REPLOT\35SE24111824.0WG 

COOLIDGE A VE 



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 
 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.norfolkne.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
February 21, 2024 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
   and 
City Council 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
The Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing on February 21, 2024 at the 
request of BAS Holding, LLC., to consider a zoning change from A (Agricultural District) 
to I-1 (Light Industrial District) on property addressed as 2200 S. Victory Road. 

 
The Planning Commission recommends approval of the request with a 7-0 vote.  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Dirk Waite, Chairman  
Norfolk Planning Commission 

 
 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 21
Page 88 of 210

~'z iti 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



Page 1 of 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 5870 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, MADISON COUNTY, NEBRASKA; 

AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA; 

PROVIDING WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; AND 

PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, 

NEBRASKA: 

Section 1. That the A (Agricultural District) zoning on the following described real estate: 

Lot 2, Chaffin’s Addition, Madison County, Nebraska 

is hereby changed to I-1 (Light Industrial District) 

Section 2.  That this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

approval, and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ____________ day of ________________, 2024. 

____________________________ 
Josh Moenning, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Brianna Duerst, City Clerk 

(SEAL) 

Approved as to form: _______________________________ 
         Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 22
Page 89 of 210



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _______ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE  
WORKFORCE HOUSING INCENTIVE PLAN. 

 
The City of Norfolk, Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation (the “City”), has 

determined it to be desirable to undertake and carry out urban redevelopment projects 
in certain areas of the City that are determined to be blighted and substandard and in 
need of redevelopment; and 
 

The Community Development Law, Chapter 18 Article 21, Reissue Revised 
Statutes of Nebraska, as amended (the “Act”) prescribes the requirements and 
procedures for the planning and implementation of redevelopment projects, including 
redevelopment projects involving construction of workforce housing; and 
 

The City has prepared an Incentive Plan for construction of housing in the 
municipality targeted to house existing or new workers in the City of Norfolk, 
Nebraska, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A;” and 
 

The City published and mailed notices of a public hearing on such Incentive 
Plan pursuant to the section 2115.01 of the Act, and has on the date of this Resolution 
held a public hearing on the proposal to approve the Incentive Plan; and 
 

The City has reviewed the Incentive Plan and determined that such incentive 
plan is necessary to prevent the spread of blight and substandard conditions within the 
Municipality, will promote additional safe and suitable housing for individuals and 
families employed in the municipality, and will not result in the unjust enrichment of 
any individual or company. 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and the City Council of the City of Norfolk, 
Nebraska, that: 

 

1. The Incentive Plan is necessary to prevent the spread of blight and 
substandard conditions within the municipality, will promote additional safe 
and suitable housing for individuals and families employed in the 
municipality, and will not result in the unjust enrichment of any individual 
or company. 
 

2. The Incentive Plan is approved in the form attached as Exhibit “A.” 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 24
Page 90 of 210



3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED this ______ day of ___________, 202__. 

 
THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 
      
 
      By  __________________________ 
       Josh Moenning, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Brianna Duerst, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: _______________________________ 
   Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney  
  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 24
Page 91 of 210



 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 

WORKFORCE HOUSING INCENTIVE PLAN FOR THE MUNICIPALITY OF 
NORFOLK, NEBRASKA PURSUANT TO THE NEBRASKA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT LAW 
 
Introduction: 
 
The 2018 Nebraska Legislature passed Legislative Bill 496 (the “Bill”) which amended the 
Nebraska Community Development Law (the “Act”). The Bill was signed by the Governor 
in May of 2019.  Before the Bill was passed, tax increment financing (TIF) was generally 
limited to pay costs of site purchase, utility extension, public infrastructure, sidewalks, 
planning and certain rehabilitation expenditures. The Bill, among other items, provided 
that TIF may be used for the actual construction of new workforce housing. 
 
Prior to utilizing TIF for workforce housing, the City must (a) receive a housing study 
within the last 60 months and (b) hold a hearing on an incentive plan for the use of TIF for 
workforce housing. 
 
Workforce housing means: 
 
(a) Housing that meets the needs of today's working families; (b) Housing that is attractive 
to new residents considering relocation to a rural community; (c) Owner- occupied housing 
units that cost no more than three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000) to construct or 
rental housing units that cost not more than two hundred thirty-five thousand dollars 
($235,000) per unit to construct. For purposes of this subdivision (d), housing unit costs 
shall be updated annually by the Department of Economic Development based upon the 
most recent increase or decrease in the Producer Price  Index for all commodities, published 
by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau  of Labor Statistics; (e) Owner-occupied 
and rental housing units for which the cost to substantially rehabilitate exceeds fifty percent 
(50%) of a unit's assessed value or as permitted by City Code when rehabilitation exceeds 
50% of assessed value; and (f) Upper-story housing. §18-2103 (32) R.R.S. 
 
Rural community means any municipality in a county with a population of fewer than one 
hundred thousand (100,000) inhabitants as determined by the most recent Federal 
Decennial Census. The Madison County 2020 Census indicates a population of 35,585. 
§18- 2103 (30) R.R.S. 
 
In 2021, the City of Norfolk (the “City”) received a housing study entitled “Norfolk, 
Nebraska Community Housing Study” (the “Study”). The Study noted that the greatest 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 24
Page 92 of 210



challenge for the City of Norfolk, during the next five years, will be to develop housing 
units for workforce persons and families, elderly households, and special populations. 
 
The law requires that a Workforce Housing Incentive Plan be necessary to prevent the 
spread of blight and substandard conditions within the municipality, promote additional 
safe and suitable housing for individuals and families employed in the municipality, and 
will not result in the unjust enrichment of any individual or company. 
 
This Workforce Housing Incentive Plan shall be effective for the City of Norfolk, 
Nebraska, until modified pursuant to the Act. 
 
TIF for workforce housing for each project is to be implemented pursuant to a 
redevelopment plan recommended by the Norfolk Community Development Agency 
(CDA) and approved after hearings by the Planning Commission and Norfolk City Council 
pursuant to the Act. This Workforce Housing Incentive Plan is intended to incent 
development of workforce housing that supports current and prospective employees of 
local and area employers. IT IS NOT INTENDED AND WILL NOT BE USED TO 
CONSTRUCT HIGHER END HOMES. 
 
All redevelopment contracts between the CDA and a redeveloper providing TIF benefits 
for workforce housing will be negotiated on a case-by-case basis with TIF incentives to be 
determined by the CDA in amounts required to accomplish the goal of incenting the 
development of safe and decent workforce housing in the City of Norfolk. The CDA shall 
document that each project utilizing TIF for workforce housing shall not unduly enrich the 
redeveloper. This shall be accomplished by examining the proposed return on investment 
with and without TIF that is required to be submitted as part of the TIF application. Each 
redevelopment plan is unique, and the capacity of each redeveloper is different. 
 
In each redevelopment contract for workforce housing, the CDA shall set standards 
appropriate for each workforce housing development project related to residence or 
apartment size, construction standards, costs and rental rates. Workforce housing TIF 
incentives will be provided subject to the following requirements. 
 
All redevelopment contracts between the CDA and a redeveloper providing TIF benefits 
for workforce housing will be negotiated on a case-by-case basis with TIF incentives to be 
determined by the CDA, in amounts required to accomplish the goal of incenting the 
development of safe and decent workforce housing in the City of Norfolk. The CDA shall 
document and shall only agree to provide TIF benefits to a redeveloper seeking TIF for 
workforce housing after a determination is made by the CDA that the project is consistent 
with the requirement of Community Development Law, as amended from time to time, the 
applicable redevelopment plan and this Workforce Housing Incentive Plan, as well, after a 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 24
Page 93 of 210



 
 

determination is made, that the project will not result in unjust enrichment of any individual 
or company. In each redevelopment contract for workforce housing, the CDA shall set 
standards appropriate for each workforce housing development project related to residence 
or apartment size, construction standards, costs, and rental rates. 
 
It is the intent of the City that the housing which qualifies hereunder is utilized as primary 
residences, purchased at a price that conforms with the criteria hereunder, and occupied 
by members of the community; and shall remain as such for a reasonable time period.  In 
accordance therewith, as deemed necessary or desirable by the City and/or Agency, the 
Agency may include certain terms or provisions within a redevelopment contract for a 
redevelopment project utilizing workforce housing TIF which ensures, or seek to ensure, 
conformance with the foregoing. 
 
The redeveloper must disclose a detailed project budget, including a construction budget 
and sale price that is reasonable and consistent with construction costs in the City of 
Norfolk. The redeveloper shall provide the CDA with actual costs for the completed 
project.  
 
On all redevelopment projects requesting workforce housing TIF, the CDA shall consider 
acceptable returns on investment for the type of housing proposed including cap rates. 
 
Approved by Norfolk City Council on ___________. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 24
Page 94 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 29
Page 95 of 210

LOWER ELKHORN 
NATURAL RESOURCES DISTRICT 

1508 Square Tum Blvd 
Phone: (402) 371-7313 NORFOLK, NE 68701 

RECREATION AREA DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
Application Form 

I. Date: ,q/LfLJL/ TaxIDNumber 41:-hDDh~qc3 
• I 

2. Project Name U be.rf., fi-e.L/ I,.,-Jr ~u-j:,r 4o4 tl,, "1 .. Ore.lt r: ,-

3. Project Sponsor: C1fy 0£ Na/'kllt 

Address "Jt('f N, 5't!::t S~ Alo c G I Ir, N £. {!,! 1 o I 
I j 

E-Mail Address rJpow,il @ IVo, G, lk,,41€, 6ov 

4. Contact Person /fh,~~ /{well Title ~ ,J. lee A~, 

5. Telephone: '101.., g '1 '1- L I i ~ Cell Phone -------

6. Project Location** --=l;;....1_~ ..... vc........L...'7+---& __ e"-'--'/_/ -~-----'-1,--'-'-/(_
1
.,_. ___.7 ....... '2......,a..___ ..... G__..:e ...... o ..... ,y~,'-'=i''<;,~A..........,.;..,v.___.~ 

Al, chi rn Ai E lo & 7 o , 

7. Description of Project** kAJ./,.,,1/ . , Cefb-o"tM. q,y./ J l,f/fe/ 

• I 

, / 

8. Total Estimated Cost _ll._2_10 ____ ,..._a_o_O _____________ _ 

9. Cost Share Request _1_30.......,__o_~_o ______________ _ 

10. Signature/Title ___________________ _ 

11. Approval by Lower Elkhorn NRD _______________ _ 

* * Attach additional sheets, as necessary. 

Form 112A (3/10) 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 29
Page 96 of 210

Natural Resources District 

January 24, 2024 

RE: Public Entity Funding 

Dear City of Nor folk, 

1508 &J uare Turn Blvd . 
Norfolk, NE 68701 

402.371.7313 I FAX 402.371.0653 

www.lenrd.org I t ~ 

In an effort to assist no t only the rural constituen ts, but our communities as well, the Lower Elkhorn 
Natura l Resources District Board of Directors wishes to cooperate w ith municipalities to so lve natura l 
resource problems and create recreational opportunities for citizens located w ithi n the boundaries of this 
NRD. Two programs have been developed for this purpose, and we invite you to make ap plication for them. 
Applications must be received at the NRD office by March 14, 2024 to be considered for funding in Fiscal 
Year 2025 (July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025). 

1. Urban Conservation Assistance Program - Designed to assist municipalit ies in solving erosion and 
flood ing problems. Enclosed storm sewers a re not eligible. The cost share rate is up to 50% of local 
costs, not to exceed $25,000 in NRD funds . Please see attached guidelines fo r more information or ca ll 
me at 402-371-7313. 

2. Recreation Area Development Program - Developed to assist municipalities with the acquisition of 
lands and development of recrea tion a reas. The cost sha re rate is up to 50% of local costs, not to exceed 
$30,000 in NRD funds. Please see attached guide lines for more infor mation or call me at 402-371-7313. 

The NRD has established a combined cap for the two programs at $150,000 a nnually. A priority system 
has a lso been established that gives priority to Urban Conservation Assistance Program appl ications 
fol lowed by Recreation Area Development Program applications from communities that have received 
the least amoun t of fund ing fo r these programs along wi th the Community Forestry Program over the last 
three fi sca l years. 

Please share this information with any local groups you feel can work with your public entity to promote 
and complete these types of projects. However, the applications a nd Special Operations a nd Maintenance 
forms must be from the governing boards of vi ll ages, cities, counties, and schools. 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 29
Page 97 of 210

I hope these programs will be of interest to your community, and that we can cooperate with you in 
solving your local natural resources concerns. 

We realize that public entities within the district may require our assistance for major projects that do not 
fit into the scope of these two existing programs. The following guidelines have been developed for such 
projects: 

❖ Projects may be for flood control, storm-water management, wetland enhancement or other projects 
for the management of natural resources. 

❖ Project must be part of a comprehensive plan. 

❖ Pre- application to the NRD staff by October 1st for preliminary consideration by the NRD Board. The 
Board may then authorize the NRD staff to work with the applicant to prepare a formal cost share 
application or it may reject the pre-application 

❖ The NRD Board will consider formal applications in March of the following year. 

Sincerely, 

Curt Becker 
Assistant General Manager 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 29
Page 98 of 210

LOWER ELKHORN NATURAL RESOURCES DISTRICT 
Recreation Area Development Program 

The Recreation Area Development Program is an authorized program of the District to provide financial 
assistance to units of government ( cities, counties, villages, and schools) to acquire land rights, design, establish, 
develop, and improve public recreation areas within Lower Elkhorn NRD. 

A. Criteria for Eligible Projects 
1. Each project must be sponsored by a city, village, county, or school with the statutory authority 

and capability to develop and manage public recreation areas and be located on publicly owned 
land. 

2. The recreation area, or park, must conform with the comprehensive plan for the municipality. 
3. Recreation that utilizes/develops natural resources are high priority. 
4. Eligible projects components: 

a. Development of a recreation area plan. 
b. Land acquisition ( eligible only if recreation area is developed at the same time). 
c. Grading, seeding, and landscaping. 
d. Buildings and facilities (picnic shelters and restrooms). 

5. Ineligible practices are: athletic fields, concession stands, landscaping around new buildings, 
equipment and moveable facilities such as picnic tables. 

6. Projects must conform with all local, state, and federal laws. 
7. Project Sponsor's labor, equipment or materials are not eligible project costs (must be 

contracted). 
8. First time applicants and low amounts of previous grants have priority over recent recipients. 

B. District Responsibilities 
I. Administer the Recreation Area Development Program. 
2. Review and prioritize, all applications for assistance. 
3. Reimburse Sponsors up to 50% of the eligible local costs (i.e., excluding state and federal funds) 

of an approved and completed project, up to a maximum $30,000 in District funds. Maximum 
payment for playground equipment is $25,000.00. Maximum payment for the purchase of trees is 
$100.00 per tree. 

4. The District reserves the right to approve or reject plans, specifications, implementation schedules, 
and entire project applications. 

C. Sponsor Requirements 
I. The sponsor shall complete application on District's form 112a. 
2. The sponsor shall submit preliminary plans with the application. The following items should be 

included: 
a. Option purchase agreement (if applicable). 
b. Recreation area development plan. 
c. Itemized estimated cost. 
d. Implementation schedule. 
e. Location map. 

November2018 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 29
Page 99 of 210

3. The sponsor shall execute the District's Special Project Operation and Maintenance Agreement, 
Form 112b, upon approval of funding and before starting work on the project. 

4. The sponsor shall obtain all necessary local, state, and federal permits. 
5. The sponsor shall agree to manage the area as a public recreation area for a minimum of 10 years. 
6. Upon completion of the project, the sponsor shall prominently display the plaque acknowledging 

Lower Elkhorn NRD funding (provided by the District). 
7. The sponsor shall administer all contracts for land acquisition, design, construction, and 

construction observation for the project. 
8. The sponsor shall control all erosion and sediment on the site during and after construction. 
9. The sponsor shall hold and save the District free from damages or claims due to the construction, 

or operation and maintenance of the recreation area. 
10. The approved application becomes an agreement with the District, which includes these 

guidelines. 
11. The sponsor is encouraged to utilize recycled or recyclable products whenever practical or 

feasible. 

D. Requesting Reimbursement 
1. Upon completion of the project, the Sponsor may request reimbursement from the District by 

providing a final report including: 
a. A detailed letter reporting all components of work completed and explain any changes from 

the initial application. 
b. Listing of all project expenditures. 
c. Copies of all receipts, deeds, or easements 

2. The use of participant's labor, equipment or materials will not be considered a part of the grant 
project. 

November 2018 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 29
Page 100 of 210

Liberty Bell 
Park 



   Document A141
®

 – 2014

Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Design-Builder

Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

1

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 

The author of this document has 
added information needed for its 
completion. The author may also 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 

Deletions Report that notes added 
information as well as revisions to the 
standard form text is available from 
the author and should be reviewed. A 
vertical line in the left margin of this 
document indicates where the author 
has added necessary information 
and where the author has added to or 
deleted from the original AIA text.

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification.

Consultation with an attorney is also 
encouraged with respect to 
professional licensing requirements 
in the jurisdiction where the Project is 
located.

AGREEMENT made as of the  Fourteenth  day of  February   in the year  Twenty Twenty 
Four 
(In words, indicate day, month and year.)

BETWEEN the Owner:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

City of Norfolk, Nebraska, Corporation
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-844-2184

and the Design-Builder:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

Huff Construction Nebraska, LLC
600 1/2 West Benjamin Ave
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-370-2274

for the following Project:
(Name, location and detailed description)

Ta Ha Zouka Team Lockers
Norfolk, NE
  

The Owner and Design-Builder agree as follows.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 101 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

2

TABLE OF ARTICLES

1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

2 COMPENSATION AND PROGRESS PAYMENTS

3 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE WORK OF THE DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACT

4 WORK PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT

5 WORK FOLLOWING EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT

6 CHANGES IN THE WORK

7 OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

8 TIME

9 PAYMENT APPLICATIONS AND PROJECT COMPLETION

10 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

11 UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK

12 COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES

13 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION

14 CLAIMS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

15 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

16 SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT

TABLE OF EXHIBITS

A DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT

B INSURANCE AND BONDS

C SUSTAINABLE PROJECTS

ARTICLE 1   GENERAL PROVISIONS
§ 1.1 Owner’s Criteria
This Agreement is based on the Owner’s Criteria set forth in this Section 1.1. 
(Note the disposition for the following items by inserting the requested information or a statement such as "not 

applicable" or "unknown at time of execution." If the Owner intends to provide a set of design documents, and the 

requested information is contained in the design documents, identify the design documents and insert "see Owner’s 

design documents" where appropriate.)

§ 1.1.1 The Owner’s program for the Project:
(Set forth the program, identify documentation in which the program is set forth, or state the manner in which the 

program will be developed.)

 See Exhibit C 

§ 1.1.2 The Owner’s design requirements for the Project and related documentation:

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 102 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

3

(Identify below, or in an attached exhibit, the documentation that contains the Owner’s design requirements, 

including any performance specifications for the Project.)

 See Exhibit C 

§ 1.1.3 The Project’s physical characteristics:
(Identify or describe, if appropriate, size, location, dimensions, or other pertinent information, such as geotechnical 

reports; site, boundary and topographic surveys; traffic and utility studies; availability of public and private utilities 

and services; legal description of the site; etc.)

 See Exhibit C 

§ 1.1.4 The Owner’s anticipated Sustainable Objective for the Project, if any:
(Identify the Owner’s Sustainable Objective for the Project such as Sustainability Certification, benefit to the 

environment, enhancement to the health and well-being of building occupants, or improvement of energy efficiency. If 

the Owner identifies a Sustainable Objective, incorporate AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit C, Sustainable 

Projects, into this Agreement to define the terms, conditions and Work related to the Owner’s Sustainable Objective.)

 N/A 

§ 1.1.5 Incentive programs the Owner intends to pursue for the Project, including those related to the Sustainable 
Objective, and any deadlines for receiving the incentives that are dependent on, or related to, the Design-Builder’s 
services, are as follows:
(Identify incentive programs the Owner intends to pursue for the Project and deadlines for submitting or applying for 

the incentive programs.)

 N/A 

§ 1.1.6 The Owner’s budget for the Work to be provided by the Design-Builder is set forth below: 
(Provide total for Owner’s budget, and if known, a line item breakdown of costs.)

 One Million Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Daollars  

§ 1.1.7 The Owner’s design and construction milestone dates:

.1 Design phase milestone dates:

 Design Complete by April 1, 2024 

.2 Submission of Design-Builder Proposal:

 Exhibit A – GMP Ammendment complete May 1, 2024 

.3 Phased completion dates:

 N/A 

.4 Substantial Completion date:

 October 1, 2024 

.5 Other milestone dates:

 N/A 

§ 1.1.8 The Owner requires the Design-Builder to retain the following Architect, Consultants and Contractors at the 
Design-Builder’s cost:

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 103 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

4

(List name, legal status, address and other information.)

.1 Architect

 Davis Design 

.2 Consultants

 Olsson Engineering 

.3 Contractors

 Huff Construction Nebraska, LLC 

§ 1.1.9 Additional Owner’s Criteria upon which the Agreement is based:
(Identify special characteristics or needs of the Project not identified elsewhere, such as historic preservation 

requirements.)

 N/A 

§ 1.1.10 The Design-Builder shall confirm that the information included in the Owner’s Criteria complies with 
applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities. 

§ 1.1.10.1 If the Owner’s Criteria conflicts with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or 
lawful orders of public authorities, the Design-Builder shall notify the Owner of the conflict. 

§ 1.1.11 If there is a change in the Owner’s Criteria, the Owner and the Design-Builder shall execute a Modification in 
accordance with Article 6. 

§ 1.1.12 If the Owner and Design-Builder intend to transmit Instruments of Service or any other information or 
documentation in digital form, they shall endeavor to establish necessary protocols governing such transmissions. 
Unless otherwise agreed, the parties will use AIA Document E203™–2013 to establish the protocols for the 
development, use, transmission, and exchange of digital data and building information modeling.

§ 1.2 Project Team
§ 1.2.1 The Owner identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 7.1.1:
(List name, address and other information.)

Josh Moenning
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-580-2471

Email Address: jmoenning@norfolkne.gov

§ 1.2.2 The persons or entities, in addition to the Owner’s representative, who are required to review the 
Design-Builder’s Submittals are as follows:
(List name, address and other information.)

 Steven Rames
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701
402-844-2000
srames@norfolkne.gov

Nathan Powell

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 104 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

5

309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701
npowell@norfolkne.gov 

§ 1.2.3 The Owner will retain the following consultants and separate contractors:
(List discipline, scope of work, and, if known, identify by name and address.)

  

§ 1.2.4 The Design-Builder identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 3.1.2:
(List name, address and other information.)

Chris Daniels
600 1/2 West Benjamin Ave
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-370-2274

Mobile Number: 402-860-6380
Email Address: chrisd@huffconstructionllc.com

§ 1.2.5 Neither the Owner’s nor the Design-Builder’s representative shall be changed without ten days’ written notice 
to the other party. 

§ 1.3 Binding Dispute Resolution
For any Claim subject to, but not resolved by, mediation pursuant to Section 14.3, the method of binding dispute 
resolution shall be the following: 
(Check the appropriate box. If the Owner and Design-Builder do not select a method of binding dispute resolution 

below, or do not subsequently agree in writing to a binding dispute resolution other than litigation, Claims will be 

resolved by litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction.)

[    ] Arbitration pursuant to Section 14.4

[  X  ] Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction

[    ] Other: (Specify)

  

§ 1.4 Definitions
§ 1.4.1 Design-Build Documents. The Design-Build Documents consist of this Agreement between Owner and 
Design-Builder and its attached Exhibits (hereinafter, the "Agreement"); other documents listed in this Agreement; 
and Modifications issued after execution of this Agreement. A Modification is (1) a written amendment to the 
Contract signed by both parties, including the Design-Build Amendment, (2) a Change Order, or (3) a Change 
Directive. 

§ 1.4.2 The Contract. The Design-Build Documents form the Contract. The Contract represents the entire and 
integrated agreement between the parties and supersedes prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either 
written or oral. The Contract may be amended or modified only by a Modification. The Design-Build Documents shall 
not be construed to create a contractual relationship of any kind between any persons or entities other than the Owner 
and the Design-Builder. 

§ 1.4.3 The Work. The term "Work" means the design, construction and related services required to fulfill the 
Design-Builder’s obligations under the Design-Build Documents, whether completed or partially completed, and 
includes all labor, materials, equipment and services provided or to be provided by the Design-Builder. The Work may 
constitute the whole or a part of the Project.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 105 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

6

§ 1.4.4 The Project. The Project is the total design and construction of which the Work performed under the 
Design-Build Documents may be the whole or a part, and may include design and construction by the Owner and by 
separate contractors.

§ 1.4.5 Instruments of Service. Instruments of Service are representations, in any medium of expression now known or 
later developed, of the tangible and intangible creative work performed by the Design-Builder, Contractor(s), 
Architect, and Consultant(s) under their respective agreements. Instruments of Service may include, without 
limitation, studies, surveys, models, sketches, drawings, specifications, digital models and other similar materials. 

§ 1.4.6 Submittal. A Submittal is any submission to the Owner for review and approval demonstrating how the 
Design-Builder proposes to conform to the Design-Build Documents for those portions of the Work for which the 
Design-Build Documents require Submittals. Submittals include, but are not limited to, shop drawings, product data, 
and samples. Submittals are not Design-Build Documents unless incorporated into a Modification.

§ 1.4.7 Owner. The Owner is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the 
Design-Build Documents as if singular in number. The term "Owner" means the Owner or the Owner’s authorized 
representative.

§ 1.4.8 Design-Builder. The Design-Builder is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to 
throughout the Design-Build Documents as if singular in number. The term "Design-Builder" means the 
Design-Builder or the Design-Builder’s authorized representative.

§ 1.4.9 Consultant. A Consultant is a person or entity providing professional services for the Design-Builder for all or 
a portion of the Work, and is referred to throughout the Design-Build Documents as if singular in number. To the 
extent required by the relevant jurisdiction, the Consultant shall be lawfully licensed to provide the required 
professional services. 

§ 1.4.10 Architect. The Architect is a person or entity providing design services for the Design-Builder for all or a 
portion of the Work, and is lawfully licensed to practice architecture in the applicable jurisdiction. The Architect is 
referred to throughout the Design-Build Documents as if singular in number.

§ 1.4.11 Contractor. A Contractor is a person or entity performing all or a portion of the construction, required in 
connection with the Work, for the Design-Builder. The Contractor shall be lawfully licensed, if required in the 
jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Contractor is referred to throughout the Design-Build Documents as if 
singular in number and means a Contractor or an authorized representative of the Contractor. 

§ 1.4.12 Confidential Information. Confidential Information is information containing confidential or business 
proprietary information that is clearly marked as "confidential." 

§ 1.4.13 Contract Time. Unless otherwise provided, Contract Time is the period of time, including authorized 
adjustments, as set forth in the Design-Build Amendment for Substantial Completion of the Work. 

§ 1.4.14 Day. The term "day" as used in the Design-Build Documents shall mean calendar day unless otherwise 
specifically defined.

§ 1.4.15 Contract Sum. The Contract Sum is the amount to be paid to the Design-Builder for performance of the Work 
after execution of the Design-Build Amendment, as identified in Article A.1 of the Design-Build Amendment. Fees 
associated with this work will be calculated based on total project cost.  These fees will be 8.5% for design fees and 6% 
for Construction Services.

ARTICLE 2   COMPENSATION AND PROGRESS PAYMENTS
§ 2.1 Compensation for Work Performed Prior To Execution of Design-Build Amendment
§ 2.1.1 Unless otherwise agreed, payments for Work performed prior to Execution of the Design-Build Amendment 
shall be made monthly. For the Design-Builder’s performance of Work prior to the execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Owner shall compensate the Design-Builder as follows:

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 106 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

7

(Insert amount of, or basis for, compensation, including compensation for any Sustainability Services, or indicate the 

exhibit in which the information is provided. If there will be a limit on the total amount of compensation for Work 

performed prior to the execution of the Design-Build Amendment, state the amount of the limit.)

 N/A 

§ 2.1.2 The hourly billing rates for services of the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder’s Architect, Consultants and 
Contractors, if any, are set forth below.
(If applicable, attach an exhibit of hourly billing rates or insert them below.)

 See Below 

Individual or Position Rate
 Construction Vice President $90

 Construction Project Manager $60

 Construction Senior Superintendent $90

 Construction Project Superintendent $70

Design Team
Principal $230
Associate Principal $195
Senior Architect $165
Architect $150
Senior Architectural Designer $140
Architectural Designer $130
Senior Engineer $185
Engineer $155
Senior Engineering Designer $145
Engineering Designer $130
Senior Interior Designer $140
Interior Designer $105
Senior Construction Administrator $150
Administration $85
Intern $70

§ 2.1.3 Compensation for Reimbursable Expenses Prior To Execution of Design-Build Amendment
§ 2.1.3.1 Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to compensation set forth in Section 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 and include 
expenses, directly related to the Project, incurred by the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder’s Architect, 
Consultants, and Contractors, as follows: 

.1 Transportation and authorized out-of-town travel and subsistence; 

.2 Dedicated data and communication services, teleconferences, Project web sites, and extranets;

.3 Fees paid for securing approval of authorities having jurisdiction over the Project;

.4 Printing, reproductions, plots, standard form documents;

.5 Postage, handling and delivery;

.6 Expense of overtime work requiring higher than regular rates, if authorized in advance by the Owner;

.7 Renderings, physical models, mock-ups, professional photography, and presentation materials 
requested by the Owner;

.8 All taxes levied on professional services and on reimbursable expenses; and

.9 Other Project-related expenditures, if authorized in advance by the Owner.

§ 2.1.3.2 For Reimbursable Expenses, the compensation shall be the expenses the Design-Builder and the 
Design-Builder’s Architect, Consultants and Contractors incurred, plus an administrative fee of     percent (    %) of the 
expenses incurred.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 107 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

8

§ 2.1.4 Payments to the Design-Builder Prior To Execution of Design-Build Amendment
§ 2.1.4.1 Payments are due and payable upon presentation of the Design-Builder’s invoice. Amounts unpaid  Forty 
Five  (  45  ) days after the invoice date shall bear interest at the rate entered below, or in the absence thereof at the legal 
rate prevailing from time to time at the principal place of business of the Design-Builder.
(Insert rate of monthly or annual interest agreed upon.)

 Four  %   4

§ 2.1.4.2 Records of Reimbursable Expenses and services performed on the basis of hourly rates shall be available to 
the Owner at mutually convenient times for a period of two years following execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment or termination of this Agreement, whichever occurs first.

§ 2.2 Contract Sum and Payment for Work Performed After Execution of Design-Build Amendment
For the Design-Builder’s performance of the Work after execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Owner shall 
pay to the Design-Builder the Contract Sum in current funds as agreed in the Design-Build Amendment.

ARTICLE 3   GENERAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE WORK OF THE DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACT
§ 3.1 General
§ 3.1.1 The Design-Builder shall comply with any applicable licensing requirements in the jurisdiction where the 
Project is located. 

§ 3.1.2 The Design-Builder shall designate in writing a representative who is authorized to act on the Design-Builder’s 
behalf with respect to the Project. 

§ 3.1.3 The Design-Builder shall perform the Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. The 
Design-Builder shall not be relieved of the obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents by the activities, tests, inspections or approvals of the Owner. 

§ 3.1.3.1 The Design-Builder shall perform the Work in compliance with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, 
rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities. If the Design-Builder performs Work contrary to 
applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities, the 
Design-Builder shall assume responsibility for such Work and shall bear the costs attributable to correction.

§ 3.1.3.2 Neither the Design-Builder nor any Contractor, Consultant, or Architect shall be obligated to perform any act 
which they believe will violate any applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders 
of public authorities. If the Design-Builder determines that implementation of any instruction received from the 
Owner, including those in the Owner’s Criteria, would cause a violation of any applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, the Design-Builder shall notify the Owner in 
writing. Upon verification by the Owner that a change to the Owner’s Criteria is required to remedy the violation, the 
Owner and the Design-Builder shall execute a Modification in accordance with Article 6. 

§ 3.1.4 The Design-Builder shall be responsible to the Owner for acts and omissions of the Design-Builder’s 
employees, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and their agents and employees, and other persons or entities 
performing portions of the Work.

§ 3.1.5 General Consultation. The Design-Builder shall schedule and conduct periodic meetings with the Owner to 
review matters such as procedures, progress, coordination, and scheduling of the Work. 

§ 3.1.6 When applicable law requires that services be performed by licensed professionals, the Design-Builder shall 
provide those services through qualified, licensed professionals. The Owner understands and agrees that the services 
of the Design-Builder’s Architect and the Design-Builder’s other Consultants are performed in the sole interest of, and 
for the exclusive benefit of, the Design-Builder.

§ 3.1.7 The Design-Builder, with the assistance of the Owner, shall prepare and file documents required to obtain 
necessary approvals of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 108 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

9

§ 3.1.8 Progress Reports
§ 3.1.8.1 The Design-Builder shall keep the Owner informed of the progress and quality of the Work. On a monthly 
basis, or otherwise as agreed to by the Owner and Design-Builder, the Design-Builder shall submit written progress 
reports to the Owner, showing estimated percentages of completion and other information identified below:

.1 Work completed for the period;

.2 Project schedule status;

.3 Submittal schedule and status report, including a summary of outstanding Submittals;

.4 Responses to requests for information to be provided by the Owner; 

.5 Approved Change Orders and Change Directives;

.6 Pending Change Order and Change Directive status reports; 

.7 Tests and inspection reports;

.8 Status report of Work rejected by the Owner; 

.9 Status of Claims previously submitted in accordance with Article 14;

.10 Cumulative total of the Cost of the Work to date including the Design-Builder’s compensation and 
Reimbursable Expenses, if any; 

.11 Current Project cash-flow and forecast reports; and

.12 Additional information as agreed to by the Owner and Design-Builder.

§ 3.1.8.2 In addition, where the Contract Sum is the Cost of the Work with or without a Guaranteed Maximum Price, 
the Design-Builder shall include the following additional information in its progress reports:

.1 Design-Builder’s work force report;

.2 Equipment utilization report; and

.3 Cost summary, comparing actual costs to updated cost estimates.

§ 3.1.9 Design-Builder’s Schedules
§ 3.1.9.1 The Design-Builder, promptly after execution of this Agreement, shall prepare and submit for the Owner’s 
information a schedule for the Work. The schedule, including the time required for design and construction, shall not 
exceed time limits current under the Design-Build Documents, shall be revised at appropriate intervals as required by 
the conditions of the Work and Project, shall be related to the entire Project to the extent required by the Design-Build 
Documents, shall provide for expeditious and practicable execution of the Work, and shall include allowances for 
periods of time required for the Owner’s review and for approval of submissions by authorities having jurisdiction 
over the Project.

§ 3.1.9.2 The Design-Builder shall perform the Work in general accordance with the most recent schedules submitted 
to the Owner. 

§ 3.1.10 Certifications. Upon the Owner’s written request, the Design-Builder shall obtain from the Architect, 
Consultants, and Contractors, and furnish to the Owner, certifications with respect to the documents and services 
provided by the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors (a) that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, 
the documents or services to which the certifications relate (i) are consistent with the Design-Build Documents, except 
to the extent specifically identified in the certificate, and (ii) comply with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, 
rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities governing the design of the Project; and (b) that the Owner 
and its consultants shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy of the representations and statements contained in the 
certifications. The Design-Builder’s Architect, Consultants, and Contractors shall not be required to execute 
certificates or consents that would require knowledge, services or responsibilities beyond the scope of their services.

§ 3.1.11 Design-Builder’s Submittals
§ 3.1.11.1 Prior to submission of any Submittals, the Design-Builder shall prepare a Submittal schedule, and shall 
submit the schedule for the Owner’s approval. The Owner’s approval shall not unreasonably be delayed or withheld. 
The Submittal schedule shall (1) be coordinated with the Design-Builder’s schedule provided in Section 3.1.9.1, 
(2) allow the Owner reasonable time to review Submittals, and (3) be periodically updated to reflect the progress of 
the Work. If the Design-Builder fails to submit a Submittal schedule, the Design-Builder shall not be entitled to any 
increase in Contract Sum or extension of Contract Time based on the time required for review of Submittals.

§ 3.1.11.2 By providing Submittals the Design-Builder represents to the Owner that it has (1) reviewed and approved 
them, (2) determined and verified materials, field measurements and field construction criteria related thereto, or will 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 109 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

10

do so and (3) checked and coordinated the information contained within such Submittals with the requirements of the 
Work and of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 3.1.11.3 The Design-Builder shall perform no portion of the Work for which the Design-Build Documents require 
Submittals until the Owner has approved the respective Submittal.

§ 3.1.11.4 The Work shall be in accordance with approved Submittals except that the Design-Builder shall not be 
relieved of its responsibility to perform the Work consistent with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents. 
The Work may deviate from the Design-Build Documents only if the Design-Builder has notified the Owner in writing 
of a deviation from the Design-Build Documents at the time of the Submittal and a Modification is executed 
authorizing the identified deviation. The Design-Builder shall not be relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions 
in Submittals by the Owner’s approval of the Submittals.

§ 3.1.11.5 All professional design services or certifications to be provided by the Design-Builder, including all 
drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, shop drawings and other Submittals, shall contain the signature 
and seal of the licensed design professional preparing them. Submittals related to the Work designed or certified by the 
licensed design professionals, if prepared by others, shall bear the licensed design professional’s written approval. The 
Owner and its consultants shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, 
certifications or approvals performed by such design professionals.

§ 3.1.12 Warranty. The Design-Builder warrants to the Owner that materials and equipment furnished under the 
Contract will be of good quality and new unless the Design-Build Documents require or permit otherwise. The 
Design-Builder further warrants that the Work will conform to the requirements of the Design-Build Documents and 
will be free from defects, except for those inherent in the quality of the Work or otherwise expressly permitted by the 
Design-Build Documents. Work, materials, or equipment not conforming to these requirements may be considered 
defective. The Design-Builder’s warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, alterations to the 
Work not executed by the Design-Builder, improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear 
and tear and normal usage. If required by the Owner, the Design-Builder shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the 
kind and quality of materials and equipment.

§ 3.1.13 Royalties, Patents and Copyrights
§ 3.1.13.1 The Design-Builder shall pay all royalties and license fees. 

§ 3.1.13.2 The Design-Builder shall defend suits or claims for infringement of copyrights and patent rights and shall 
hold the Owner and its separate contractors and consultants harmless from loss on account thereof, but shall not be 
responsible for such defense or loss when a particular design, process or product of a particular manufacturer or 
manufacturers is required by the Owner, or where the copyright violations are required in the Owner’s Criteria. 
However, if the Design-Builder has reason to believe that the design, process or product required in the Owner’s 
Criteria is an infringement of a copyright or a patent, the Design-Builder shall be responsible for such loss unless such 
information is promptly furnished to the Owner. If the Owner receives notice from a patent or copyright owner of an 
alleged violation of a patent or copyright, attributable to the Design-Builder, the Owner shall give prompt written 
notice to the Design-Builder.

§ 3.1.14 Indemnification 
§ 3.1.14.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Design-Builder shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, 
including the Owner’s agents and employees, from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but 
not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work, but only to the extent caused 
by the negligent acts or omissions of the Design-Builder, Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable. Such obligation shall not be construed to 
negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or obligations of indemnity that would otherwise exist as to a party or person 
described in this Section 3.1.14.

§ 3.1.14.2 The indemnification obligation under this Section 3.1.14 shall not be limited by a limitation on amount or 
type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Design-Builder, Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them, under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other 
employee benefit acts.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 110 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

11

§ 3.1.15 Contingent Assignment of Agreements
§ 3.1.15.1 Each agreement for a portion of the Work is assigned by the Design-Builder to the Owner, provided that

.1 assignment is effective only after termination of the Contract by the Owner for cause, pursuant to 
Sections 13.1.4 or 13.2.2, and only for those agreements that the Owner accepts by written notification 
to the Design-Builder and the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors whose agreements are accepted 
for assignment; and

.2 assignment is subject to the prior rights of the surety, if any, obligated under bond relating to the 
Contract.

When the Owner accepts the assignment of an agreement, the Owner assumes the Design-Builder’s rights and 
obligations under the agreement. 

§ 3.1.15.2 Upon such assignment, if the Work has been suspended for more than 30 days, the compensation under the 
assigned agreement shall be equitably adjusted for increases in cost resulting from the suspension.

§ 3.1.15.3 Upon such assignment to the Owner under this Section 3.1.15, the Owner may further assign the agreement 
to a successor design-builder or other entity. If the Owner assigns the agreement to a successor design-builder or other 
entity, the Owner shall nevertheless remain legally responsible for all of the successor design-builder’s or other 
entity’s obligations under the agreement.

§ 3.1.16 Design-Builder’s Insurance and Bonds. The Design-Builder shall purchase and maintain insurance and 
provide bonds as set forth in Exhibit B. 

ARTICLE 4   WORK PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT
§ 4.1 General 
§ 4.1.1 Any information submitted by the Design-Builder, and any interim decisions made by the Owner, shall be for 
the purpose of facilitating the design process and shall not modify the Owner’s Criteria unless the Owner and 
Design-Builder execute a Modification.

§ 4.1.2 The Design-Builder shall advise the Owner on proposed site use and improvements, selection of materials, and 
building systems and equipment. The Design-Builder shall also provide the Owner with recommendations, consistent 
with the Owner’s Criteria, on constructability; availability of materials and labor; time requirements for procurement, 
installation and construction; and factors related to construction cost including, but not limited to, costs of alternative 
designs or materials, preliminary budgets, life-cycle data, and possible cost reductions. 

§ 4.2 Evaluation of the Owner’s Criteria
§ 4.2.1 The Design-Builder shall schedule and conduct meetings with the Owner and any other necessary individuals 
or entities to discuss and review the Owner’s Criteria as set forth in Section 1.1.The Design-Builder shall thereafter 
again meet with the Owner to discuss a preliminary evaluation of the Owner’s Criteria. The preliminary evaluation 
shall address possible alternative approaches to design and construction of the Project and include the 
Design-Builder’s recommendations, if any, with regard to accelerated or fast-track scheduling, procurement, or 
phased construction. The preliminary evaluation shall consider cost information, constructability, and procurement 
and construction scheduling issues. 

§ 4.2.2 After the Design-Builder meets with the Owner and presents the preliminary evaluation, the Design-Builder 
shall provide a written report to the Owner, summarizing the Design-Builder’s evaluation of the Owner’s Criteria. The 
report shall also include 

.1 allocations of program functions, detailing each function and their square foot areas;

.2 a preliminary estimate of the Cost of the Work, and, if necessary, recommendations to adjust the 
Owner’s Criteria to conform to the Owner’s budget;

.3 a preliminary schedule, which shall include proposed design milestones; dates for receiving additional 
information from, or for work to be completed by, the Owner; anticipated date for the Design-Builder’s 
Proposal; and dates of periodic design review sessions with the Owner; and

.4 the following:
(List additional information, if any, to be included in the Design-Builder’s written report.)

  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 111 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

12

§ 4.2.3 The Owner shall review the Design-Builder’s written report and, if acceptable, provide the Design-Builder 
with written consent to proceed to the development of the Preliminary Design as described in Section 4.3. The consent 
to proceed shall not be understood to modify the Owner’s Criteria unless the Owner and Design-Builder execute a 
Modification.

§ 4.3 Preliminary Design
§ 4.3.1 Upon the Owner’s issuance of a written consent to proceed under Section 4.2.3, the Design-Builder shall 
prepare and submit a Preliminary Design to the Owner. The Preliminary Design shall include a report identifying any 
deviations from the Owner’s Criteria, and shall include the following:

.1 Confirmation of the allocations of program functions; 

.2 Site plan;

.3 Building plans, sections and elevations; 

.4 Structural system;

.5 Selections of major building systems, including but not limited to mechanical, electrical and plumbing 
systems; and

.6 Outline specifications or sufficient drawing notes describing construction materials.

The Preliminary Design may include some combination of physical study models, perspective sketches, or digital 
modeling.

Cost for the Preliminary Design (Documents to Design Development) shall be an amount Not to Exceed $30,000 
based off of the hourly rates presented in section 2.1.2 of this agreement.  This cost of $30,000 will come out of the 
total Design Fees (8.5% of total project cost).

§ 4.3.2 The Owner shall review the Preliminary Design and, if acceptable, provide the Design-Builder with written 
consent to proceed to development of the Design-Builder’s Proposal. The Preliminary Design shall not modify the 
Owner’s Criteria unless the Owner and Design-Builder execute a Modification.

§ 4.4 Design-Builder’s Proposal
§ 4.4.1 Upon the Owner’s issuance of a written consent to proceed under Section 4.3.2, the Design-Builder shall 
prepare and submit the Design-Builder’s Proposal to the Owner. The Design-Builder’s Proposal shall include the 
following:

.1 A list of the Preliminary Design documents and other information, including the Design-Builder’s 
clarifications, assumptions and deviations from the Owner’s Criteria, upon which the Design-Builder’s 
Proposal is based;

.2 The proposed Contract Sum, including the compensation method and, if based upon the Cost of the 
Work plus a fee, a written statement of estimated cost organized by trade categories, allowances, 
contingencies, Design-Builder’s Fee, and other items that comprise the Contract Sum; 

.3 The proposed date the Design-Builder shall achieve Substantial Completion;

.4 An enumeration of any qualifications and exclusions, if applicable;

.5 A list of the Design-Builder’s key personnel, Contractors and suppliers; and

.6 The date on which the Design-Builder’s Proposal expires. 

§ 4.4.2 Submission of the Design-Builder’s Proposal shall constitute a representation by the Design-Builder that it has 
visited the site and become familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be completed. 

§ 4.4.3 If the Owner and Design-Builder agree on a proposal, the Owner and Design-Builder shall execute the 
Design-Build Amendment setting forth the terms of their agreement. 

ARTICLE 5   WORK FOLLOWING EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT
§ 5.1 Construction Documents
§ 5.1.1 Upon the execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Design-Builder shall prepare Construction 
Documents. The Construction Documents shall establish the quality levels of materials and systems required. The 
Construction Documents shall be consistent with the Design-Build Documents.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 112 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

13

§ 5.1.2 The Design-Builder shall provide the Construction Documents to the Owner for the Owner’s information. If 
the Owner discovers any deviations between the Construction Documents and the Design-Build Documents, the 
Owner shall promptly notify the Design-Builder of such deviations in writing. The Construction Documents shall not 
modify the Design-Build Documents unless the Owner and Design-Builder execute a Modification. The failure of the 
Owner to discover any such deviations shall not relieve the Design-Builder of the obligation to perform the Work in 
accordance with the Design-Build Documents.

§ 5.2 Construction 
§ 5.2.1 Commencement. Except as permitted in Section 5.2.2, construction shall not commence prior to execution of 
the Design-Build Amendment.

§ 5.2.2 If the Owner and Design-Builder agree in writing, construction may proceed prior to the execution of the 
Design-Build Amendment. However, such authorization shall not waive the Owner’s right to reject the 
Design-Builder’s Proposal. 

§ 5.2.3 The Design-Builder shall supervise and direct the Work, using the Design-Builder’s best skill and attention. 
The Design-Builder shall be solely responsible for, and have control over, construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences and procedures, and for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract, unless the Design-Build 
Documents give other specific instructions concerning these matters.

§ 5.2.4 The Design-Builder shall be responsible for inspection of portions of Work already performed to determine 
that such portions are in proper condition to receive subsequent Work.

§ 5.3 Labor and Materials
§ 5.3.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder shall provide and pay for labor, 
materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery, water, heat, utilities, transportation, and other 
facilities and services, necessary for proper execution and completion of the Work, whether temporary or permanent, 
and whether or not incorporated or to be incorporated in the Work.

§ 5.3.2 When a material or system is specified in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder may make 
substitutions only in accordance with Article 6.

§ 5.3.3 The Design-Builder shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Design-Builder’s employees and 
other persons carrying out the Work. The Design-Builder shall not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not 
properly skilled in tasks assigned to them.

§ 5.4 Taxes
The Design-Builder shall pay sales, consumer, use and similar taxes, for the Work provided by the Design-Builder, 
that are legally enacted when the Design-Build Amendment is executed, whether or not yet effective or merely 
scheduled to go into effect.

§ 5.5 Permits, Fees, Notices and Compliance with Laws
§ 5.5.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder shall secure and pay for the 
building permit as well as any other permits, fees, licenses, and inspections by government agencies, necessary for 
proper execution of the Work and Substantial Completion of the Project. 

§ 5.5.2 The Design-Builder shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities, applicable to performance of the Work.

§ 5.5.3 Concealed or Unknown Conditions. If the Design-Builder encounters conditions at the site that are 
(1) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ materially from those indicated in the 
Design-Build Documents or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature that differ materially from those 
ordinarily found to exist and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the character provided for in 
the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder shall promptly provide notice to the Owner before conditions are 
disturbed and in no event later than 21 days after first observance of the conditions. The Owner shall promptly 
investigate such conditions and, if the Owner determines that they differ materially and cause an increase or decrease 
in the Design-Builder’s cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of the Work, shall recommend an 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 113 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

14

equitable adjustment in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. If the Owner determines that the conditions at the 
site are not materially different from those indicated in the Design-Build Documents and that no change in the terms of 
the Contract is justified, the Owner shall promptly notify the Design-Builder in writing, stating the reasons. If the 
Design-Builder disputes the Owner’s determination or recommendation, the Design-Builder may proceed as provided 
in Article 14.

§ 5.5.4 If, in the course of the Work, the Design-Builder encounters human remains, or recognizes the existence of 
burial markers, archaeological sites, or wetlands, not indicated in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder 
shall immediately suspend any operations that would affect them and shall notify the Owner. Upon receipt of such 
notice, the Owner shall promptly take any action necessary to obtain governmental authorization required to resume 
the operations. The Design-Builder shall continue to suspend such operations until otherwise instructed by the Owner 
but shall continue with all other operations that do not affect those remains or features. Requests for adjustments in the 
Contract Sum and Contract Time arising from the existence of such remains or features may be made as provided in 
Article 14.

§ 5.6 Allowances
§ 5.6.1 The Design-Builder shall include in the Contract Sum all allowances stated in the Design-Build Documents. 
Items covered by allowances shall be supplied for such amounts, and by such persons or entities as the Owner may 
direct, but the Design-Builder shall not be required to employ persons or entities to whom the Design-Builder has 
reasonable objection.

§ 5.6.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents,
.1 allowances shall cover the cost to the Design-Builder of materials and equipment delivered at the site 

and all required taxes, less applicable trade discounts;
.2 the Design-Builder’s costs for unloading and handling at the site, labor, installation costs, overhead, 

profit, and other expenses contemplated for stated allowance amounts, shall be included in the Contract 
Sum but not in the allowances; and

.3 whenever costs are more than or less than allowances, the Contract Sum shall be adjusted accordingly 
by Change Order. The amount of the Change Order shall reflect (1) the difference between actual costs 
and the allowances under Section 5.6.2.1 and (2) changes in Design-Builder’s costs under 
Section 5.6.2.2.

§ 5.6.3 The Owner shall make selections of materials and equipment with reasonable promptness for allowances 
requiring Owner selection.

§ 5.7 Key Personnel, Contractors and Suppliers
§ 5.7.1 The Design-Builder shall not employ personnel, or contract with Contractors or suppliers to whom the Owner 
has made reasonable and timely objection. The Design-Builder shall not be required to contract with anyone to whom 
the Design-Builder has made reasonable and timely objection.

§ 5.7.2 If the Design-Builder changes any of the personnel, Contractors or suppliers identified in the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Design-Builder shall notify the Owner and provide the name and qualifications of the new personnel, 
Contractor or supplier. The Owner may reply within 14 days to the Design-Builder in writing, stating (1) whether the 
Owner has reasonable objection to the proposed personnel, Contractor or supplier or (2) that the Owner requires 
additional time to review. Failure of the Owner to reply within the 14-day period shall constitute notice of no 
reasonable objection. 

§ 5.7.3 Except for those persons or entities already identified or required in the Design-Build Amendment, the 
Design-Builder, as soon as practicable after execution of the Design-Build Amendment, shall furnish in writing to the 
Owner the names of persons or entities (including those who are to furnish materials or equipment fabricated to a 
special design) proposed for each principal portion of the Work. The Owner may reply within 14 days to the 
Design-Builder in writing stating (1) whether the Owner has reasonable objection to any such proposed person or 
entity or (2) that the Owner requires additional time for review. Failure of the Owner to reply within the 14-day period 
shall constitute notice of no reasonable objection.

§ 5.7.3.1 If the Owner has reasonable objection to a person or entity proposed by the Design-Builder, the 
Design-Builder shall propose another to whom the Owner has no reasonable objection. If the rejected person or entity 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 114 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

15

was reasonably capable of performing the Work, the Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be increased or decreased 
by the difference, if any, occasioned by such change, and an appropriate Change Order shall be issued before 
commencement of the substitute person or entity’s Work. However, no increase in the Contract Sum or Contract Time 
shall be allowed for such change unless the Design-Builder has acted promptly and responsively in submitting names 
as required.

§ 5.8 Documents and Submittals at the Site
The Design-Builder shall maintain at the site for the Owner one copy of the Design-Build Documents and a current set 
of the Construction Documents, in good order and marked currently to indicate field changes and selections made 
during construction, and one copy of approved Submittals. The Design-Builder shall deliver these items to the Owner 
in accordance with Section 9.10.2 as a record of the Work as constructed.

§ 5.9 Use of Site
The Design-Builder shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, lawful orders of public authorities, and the Design-Build Documents, and shall not 
unreasonably encumber the site with materials or equipment.

§ 5.10 Cutting and Patching
The Design-Builder shall not cut, patch or otherwise alter fully or partially completed construction by the Owner or a 
separate contractor except with written consent of the Owner and of such separate contractor; such consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. The Design-Builder shall not unreasonably withhold from the Owner or a separate contractor 
the Design-Builder’s consent to cutting or otherwise altering the Work.

§ 5.11 Cleaning Up
§ 5.11.1 The Design-Builder shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of waste materials 
or rubbish caused by operations under the Contract. At completion of the Work, the Design-Builder shall remove 
waste materials, rubbish, the Design-Builder’s tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus materials from 
and about the Project.

§ 5.11.2 If the Design-Builder fails to clean up as provided in the Design-Build Documents, the Owner may do so and 
Owner shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Design-Builder.

§ 5.12 Access to Work
The Design-Builder shall provide the Owner and its separate contractors and consultants access to the Work in 
preparation and progress wherever located. The Design-Builder shall notify the Owner regarding Project safety 
criteria and programs, which the Owner, and its contractors and consultants, shall comply with while at the site.

§ 5.13 Construction by Owner or by Separate Contractors
§ 5.13.1 Owner’s Right to Perform Construction and to Award Separate Contracts
§ 5.13.1.1 The Owner reserves the right to perform construction or operations related to the Project with the Owner’s 
own forces; and to award separate contracts in connection with other portions of the Project, or other construction or 
operations on the site, under terms and conditions identical or substantially similar to this Contract, including those 
terms and conditions related to insurance and waiver of subrogation. The Owner shall notify the Design-Builder 
promptly after execution of any separate contract. If the Design-Builder claims that delay or additional cost is involved 
because of such action by the Owner, the Design-Builder shall make a Claim as provided in Article 14.

§ 5.13.1.2 When separate contracts are awarded for different portions of the Project or other construction or operations 
on the site, the term "Design-Builder" in the Design-Build Documents in each case shall mean the individual or entity 
that executes each separate agreement with the Owner.

§ 5.13.1.3 The Owner shall provide for coordination of the activities of the Owner’s own forces, and of each separate 
contractor, with the Work of the Design-Builder, who shall cooperate with them. The Design-Builder shall participate 
with other separate contractors and the Owner in reviewing their construction schedules. The Design-Builder shall 
make any revisions to the construction schedule deemed necessary after a joint review and mutual agreement. The 
construction schedules shall then constitute the schedules to be used by the Design-Builder, separate contractors and 
the Owner until subsequently revised.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 115 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

16

§ 5.13.1.4 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, when the Owner performs construction or 
operations related to the Project with the Owner’s own forces or separate contractors, the Owner shall be deemed to be 
subject to the same obligations, and to have the same rights, that apply to the Design-Builder under the Contract.

§ 5.14 Mutual Responsibility
§ 5.14.1 The Design-Builder shall afford the Owner and separate contractors reasonable opportunity for introduction 
and storage of their materials and equipment and performance of their activities, and shall connect and coordinate the 
Design-Builder’s construction and operations with theirs as required by the Design-Build Documents.

§ 5.14.2 If part of the Design-Builder’s Work depends upon construction or operations by the Owner or a separate 
contractor, the Design-Builder shall, prior to proceeding with that portion of the Work, prepare a written report to the 
Owner, identifying apparent discrepancies or defects in the construction or operations by the Owner or separate 
contractor that would render it unsuitable for proper execution and results of the Design-Builder’s Work. Failure of the 
Design-Builder to report shall constitute an acknowledgment that the Owner’s or separate contractor’s completed or 
partially completed construction is fit and proper to receive the Design-Builder’s Work, except as to defects not then 
reasonably discoverable.

§ 5.14.3 The Design-Builder shall reimburse the Owner for costs the Owner incurs that are payable to a separate 
contractor because of the Design-Builder’s delays, improperly timed activities or defective construction. The Owner 
shall be responsible to the Design-Builder for costs the Design-Builder incurs because of a separate contractor’s 
delays, improperly timed activities, damage to the Work or defective construction.

§ 5.14.4 The Design-Builder shall promptly remedy damage the Design-Builder wrongfully causes to completed or 
partially completed construction or to property of the Owner or separate contractors as provided in Section 10.2.5.

§ 5.14.5 The Owner and each separate contractor shall have the same responsibilities for cutting and patching the 
Work as the Design-Builder has with respect to the construction of the Owner or separate contractors in Section 5.10.

§ 5.15 Owner’s Right to Clean Up
If a dispute arises among the Design-Builder, separate contractors and the Owner as to the responsibility under their 
respective contracts for maintaining the premises and surrounding area free from waste materials and rubbish, the 
Owner may clean up and will allocate the cost among those responsible.

ARTICLE 6   CHANGES IN THE WORK
§ 6.1 General
§ 6.1.1 Changes in the Work may be accomplished after execution of the Contract, and without invalidating the 
Contract, by Change Order or Change Directive, subject to the limitations stated in this Article 6 and elsewhere in the 
Design-Build Documents.

§ 6.1.2 A Change Order shall be based upon agreement between the Owner and Design-Builder. The Owner may issue 
a Change Directive without agreement by the Design-Builder.

§ 6.1.3 Changes in the Work shall be performed under applicable provisions of the Design-Build Documents, and the 
Design-Builder shall proceed promptly, unless otherwise provided in the Change Order or Change Directive.

§ 6.2 Change Orders
A Change Order is a written instrument signed by the Owner and Design-Builder stating their agreement upon all of 
the following:

.1 The change in the Work;

.2 The amount of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation; and

.3 The extent of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Time.

§ 6.3 Change Directives
§ 6.3.1 A Change Directive is a written order signed by the Owner directing a change in the Work prior to agreement 
on adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in 
the Design-Builder’s compensation, or Contract Time. The Owner may by Change Directive, without invalidating the 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 116 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

17

Contract, order changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions or other 
revisions, the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the 
Design-Builder’s compensation, and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly.

§ 6.3.2 A Change Directive shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the terms of a Change Order.

§ 6.3.3 If the Change Directive provides for an adjustment to the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the 
Design-Build Amendment, an adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation, the adjustment shall be based on one 
of the following methods:

.1 Mutual acceptance of a lump sum properly itemized and supported by sufficient substantiating data to 
permit evaluation;

.2 Unit prices stated in the Design-Build Documents or subsequently agreed upon;

.3 Cost to be determined in a manner agreed upon by the parties and a mutually acceptable fixed or 
percentage fee; or

.4 As provided in Section 6.3.7.

§ 6.3.4 If unit prices are stated in the Design-Build Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities 
originally contemplated are materially changed in a proposed Change Order or Change Directive so that application of 
such unit prices to quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or Design-Builder, the 
applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 6.3.5 Upon receipt of a Change Directive, the Design-Builder shall promptly proceed with the change in the Work 
involved and advise the Owner of the Design-Builder’s agreement or disagreement with the method, if any, provided 
in the Change Directive for determining the proposed adjustment in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the 
Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation, or Contract Time.

§ 6.3.6 A Change Directive signed by the Design-Builder indicates the Design-Builder’s agreement therewith, 
including adjustment in Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the 
Design-Builder’s compensation, and Contract Time or the method for determining them. Such agreement shall be 
effective immediately and shall be recorded as a Change Order.

§ 6.3.7 If the Design-Builder does not respond promptly or disagrees with the method for adjustment in the Contract 
Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the method for adjustment in the Design-Builder’s 
compensation, the Owner shall determine the method and the adjustment on the basis of reasonable expenditures and 
savings of those performing the Work attributable to the change, including, in case of an increase, an amount for 
overhead and profit as set forth in the Agreement, or if no such amount is set forth in the Agreement, a reasonable 
amount. In such case, and also under Section 6.3.3.3, the Design-Builder shall keep and present, in such form as the 
Owner may prescribe, an itemized accounting together with appropriate supporting data. Unless otherwise provided in 
the Design-Build Documents, costs for the purposes of this Section 6.3.7 shall be limited to the following:

.1 Additional costs of professional services;

.2 Costs of labor, including social security, unemployment insurance, fringe benefits required by 
agreement or custom, and workers’ compensation insurance;

.3 Costs of materials, supplies and equipment, including cost of transportation, whether incorporated or 
consumed;

.4 Rental costs of machinery and equipment, exclusive of hand tools, whether rented from the 
Design-Builder or others;

.5 Costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use or similar taxes related to the 
Work; and

.6 Additional costs of supervision and field office personnel directly attributable to the change.

§ 6.3.8 The amount of credit to be allowed by the Design-Builder to the Owner for a deletion or change that results in 
a net decrease in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, in the Design-Builder’s 
compensation, shall be actual net cost. When both additions and credits covering related Work or substitutions are 
involved in a change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of net increase, if any, with 
respect to that change.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 117 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

18

§ 6.3.9 Pending final determination of the total cost of a Change Directive to the Owner, the Design-Builder may 
request payment for Work completed under the Change Directive in Applications for Payment. The Owner will make 
an interim determination for purposes of certification for payment for those costs deemed to be reasonably justified. 
The Owner’s interim determination of cost shall adjust the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Design-Builder’s compensation, on the same basis as a Change Order, subject to the right of 
Design-Builder to disagree and assert a Claim in accordance with Article 14. 

§ 6.3.10 When the Owner and Design-Builder agree with a determination concerning the adjustments in the Contract 
Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation 
and Contract Time, or otherwise reach agreement upon the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective 
immediately and the Owner and Design-Builder shall execute a Change Order. Change Orders may be issued for all or 
any part of a Change Directive.

ARTICLE 7   OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
§ 7.1 General
§ 7.1.1 The Owner shall designate in writing a representative who shall have express authority to bind the Owner with 
respect to all Project matters requiring the Owner’s approval or authorization. 

§ 7.1.2 The Owner shall render decisions in a timely manner and in accordance with the Design-Builder’s schedule 
agreed to by the Owner. The Owner shall furnish to the Design-Builder, within 15 days after receipt of a written 
request, information necessary and relevant for the Design-Builder to evaluate, give notice of or enforce mechanic’s 
lien rights. Such information shall include a correct statement of the record legal title to the property on which the 
Project is located, usually referred to as the site, and the Owner’s interest therein.

§ 7.2 Information and Services Required of the Owner
§ 7.2.1 The Owner shall furnish information or services required of the Owner by the Design-Build Documents with 
reasonable promptness. 

§ 7.2.2 The Owner shall provide, to the extent under the Owner’s control and if not required by the Design-Build 
Documents to be provided by the Design-Builder, the results and reports of prior tests, inspections or investigations 
conducted for the Project involving structural or mechanical systems; chemical, air and water pollution; hazardous 
materials; or environmental and subsurface conditions and information regarding the presence of pollutants at the 
Project site. Upon receipt of a written request from the Design-Builder, the Owner shall also provide surveys 
describing physical characteristics, legal limitations and utility locations for the site of the Project, and a legal 
description of the site under the Owner’s control. 

§ 7.2.3 The Owner shall promptly obtain easements, zoning variances, and legal authorizations or entitlements 
regarding site utilization where essential to the execution of the Project.

§ 7.2.4 The Owner shall cooperate with the Design-Builder in securing building and other permits, licenses and 
inspections. 

§ 7.2.5 The services, information, surveys and reports required to be provided by the Owner under this Agreement, 
shall be furnished at the Owner’s expense, and except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement or 
elsewhere in the Design-Build Documents or to the extent the Owner advises the Design-Builder to the contrary in 
writing, the Design-Builder shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy and completeness thereof. In no event shall the 
Design-Builder be relieved of its responsibility to exercise proper precautions relating to the safe performance of the 
Work.

§ 7.2.6 If the Owner observes or otherwise becomes aware of a fault or defect in the Work or non-conformity with the 
Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall give prompt written notice thereof to the Design-Builder.

§ 7.2.7 Prior to the execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Design-Builder may request in writing that the 
Owner provide reasonable evidence that the Owner has made financial arrangements to fulfill the Owner’s obligations 
under the Design-Build Documents and the Design-Builder’s Proposal. Thereafter, the Design-Builder may only 
request such evidence if (1) the Owner fails to make payments to the Design-Builder as the Design-Build Documents 
require; (2) a change in the Work materially changes the Contract Sum; or (3) the Design-Builder identifies in writing 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 118 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

19

a reasonable concern regarding the Owner’s ability to make payment when due. The Owner shall furnish such 
evidence as a condition precedent to commencement or continuation of the Work or the portion of the Work affected 
by a material change. After the Owner furnishes the evidence, the Owner shall not materially vary such financial 
arrangements without prior notice to the Design-Builder.

§ 7.2.8 Except as otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents or when direct communications have been 
specially authorized, the Owner shall communicate through the Design-Builder with persons or entities employed or 
retained by the Design-Builder.

§ 7.2.9 Unless required by the Design-Build Documents to be provided by the Design-Builder, the Owner shall, upon 
request from the Design-Builder, furnish the services of geotechnical engineers or other consultants for investigation 
of subsurface, air and water conditions when such services are reasonably necessary to properly carry out the design 
services furnished by the Design-Builder. In such event, the Design-Builder shall specify the services required. Such 
services may include, but are not limited to, test borings, test pits, determinations of soil bearing values, percolation 
tests, evaluations of hazardous materials, ground corrosion and resistivity tests, and necessary operations for 
anticipating subsoil conditions. The services of geotechnical engineer(s) or other consultants shall include preparation 
and submission of all appropriate reports and professional recommendations.

§ 7.2.10 The Owner shall purchase and maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit B.

§ 7.3 Submittals
§ 7.3.1 The Owner shall review and approve or take other appropriate action on Submittals. Review of Submittals is 
not conducted for the purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other details, such as dimensions and 
quantities; or for substantiating instructions for installation or performance of equipment or systems; or for 
determining that the Submittals are in conformance with the Design-Build Documents, all of which remain the 
responsibility of the Design-Builder as required by the Design-Build Documents. The Owner’s action will be taken in 
accordance with the submittal schedule approved by the Owner or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, 
with reasonable promptness while allowing sufficient time in the Owner’s judgment to permit adequate review. The 
Owner’s review of Submittals shall not relieve the Design-Builder of the obligations under Sections 3.1.11, 3.1.12, 
and 5.2.3. The Owner’s review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise specifically 
stated by the Owner, of any construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. The Owner’s approval 
of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of which the item is a component.

§ 7.3.2 Upon review of the Submittals required by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall notify the 
Design-Builder of any non-conformance with the Design-Build Documents the Owner discovers.

§ 7.4 Visits to the site by the Owner shall not be construed to create an obligation on the part of the Owner to make 
on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. The Owner shall neither have control over or charge 
of, nor be responsible for, the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for the safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work, because these are solely the Design-Builder’s rights and 
responsibilities under the Design-Build Documents.

§ 7.5 The Owner shall not be responsible for the Design-Builder’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
requirements of the Design-Build Documents. The Owner shall not have control over or charge of, and will not be 
responsible for acts or omissions of the Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, or their agents or 
employees, or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work for the Design-Builder. 

§ 7.6 The Owner has the authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Design-Build Documents. The Owner 
shall have authority to require inspection or testing of the Work in accordance with Section 15.5.2, whether or not such 
Work is fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority of the Owner nor a decision made in good 
faith either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the Owner to the 
Design-Builder, the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, material and equipment suppliers, their agents or employees, 
or other persons or entities performing portions of the Work.

§ 7.7 The Owner shall determine the date or dates of Substantial Completion in accordance with Section 9.8 and the 
date of final completion in accordance with Section 9.10.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 119 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

20

§ 7.8 Owner’s Right to Stop Work
If the Design-Builder fails to correct Work which is not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build 
Documents as required by Section 11.2 or persistently fails to carry out Work in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents, the Owner may issue a written order to the Design-Builder to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until 
the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, the right of the Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to a 
duty on the part of the Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of the Design-Builder or any other person or entity, 
except to the extent required by Section 5.13.1.3.

§ 7.9 Owner’s Right to Carry Out the Work
If the Design-Builder defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents and 
fails within a ten-day period after receipt of written notice from the Owner to commence and continue correction of 
such default or neglect with diligence and promptness, the Owner may, without prejudice to other remedies the Owner 
may have, correct such deficiencies. In such case, an appropriate Change Order shall be issued deducting from 
payments then or thereafter due the Design-Builder the reasonable cost of correcting such deficiencies. If payments 
then or thereafter due the Design-Builder are not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Design-Builder shall pay the 
difference to the Owner.

ARTICLE 8   TIME
§ 8.1 Progress and Completion
§ 8.1.1 Time limits stated in the Design-Build Documents are of the essence of the Contract. By executing the 
Design-Build Amendment the Design-Builder confirms that the Contract Time is a reasonable period for performing 
the Work.

§ 8.1.2 The Design-Builder shall not, except by agreement of the Owner in writing, commence the Work prior to the 
effective date of insurance, other than property insurance, required by this Contract. The Contract Time shall not be 
adjusted as a result of the Design-Builder’s failure to obtain insurance required under this Contract.

§ 8.1.3 The Design-Builder shall proceed expeditiously with adequate forces and shall achieve Substantial 
Completion within the Contract Time.

§ 8.2 Delays and Extensions of Time
§ 8.2.1 If the Design-Builder is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of the Work by an act or neglect 
of the Owner or of a consultant or separate contractor employed by the Owner; or by changes ordered in the Work by 
the Owner; or by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable casualties or other causes beyond the 
Design-Builder’s control; or by delay authorized by the Owner pending mediation and binding dispute resolution or 
by other causes that the Owner determines may justify delay, then the Contract Time shall be extended by Change 
Order for such reasonable time as the Owner may determine. 

§ 8.2.2 Claims relating to time shall be made in accordance with applicable provisions of Article 14. 

§ 8.2.3 This Section 8.2 does not preclude recovery of damages for delay by either party under other provisions of the 
Design-Build Documents.

ARTICLE 9   PAYMENT APPLICATIONS AND PROJECT COMPLETION
§ 9.1 Contract Sum
The Contract Sum is stated in the Design-Build Amendment.

§ 9.2 Schedule of Values
Where the Contract Sum is based on a stipulated sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Design-Builder, prior to the 
first Application for Payment after execution of the Design-Build Amendment shall submit to the Owner a schedule of 
values allocating the entire Contract Sum to the various portions of the Work and prepared in such form and supported 
by such data to substantiate its accuracy as the Owner may require. This schedule, unless objected to by the Owner, 
shall be used as a basis for reviewing the Design-Builder’s Applications for Payment.

§ 9.3 Applications for Payment
§ 9.3.1 At least ten days before the date established for each progress payment, the Design-Builder shall submit to the 
Owner an itemized Application for Payment for completed portions of the Work. The application shall be notarized, if 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 120 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

21

required, and supported by data substantiating the Design-Builder’s right to payment as the Owner may require, such 
as copies of requisitions from the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and material suppliers, and shall reflect 
retainage if provided for in the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.3.1.1 As provided in Section 6.3.9, Applications for Payment may include requests for payment on account of 
changes in the Work that have been properly authorized by Change Directives, or by interim determinations of the 
Owner, but not yet included in Change Orders.

§ 9.3.1.2 Applications for Payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for which the 
Design-Builder does not intend to pay the Architect, Consultant, Contractor, material supplier, or other persons or 
entities providing services or work for the Design-Builder, unless such Work has been performed by others whom the 
Design-Builder intends to pay. 

§ 9.3.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, payments shall be made for services provided as 
well as materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work. If 
approved in advance by the Owner, payment may similarly be made for materials and equipment suitably stored off 
the site at a location agreed upon in writing. Payment for materials and equipment stored on or off the site shall be 
conditioned upon compliance by the Design-Builder with procedures satisfactory to the Owner to establish the 
Owner’s title to such materials and equipment or otherwise protect the Owner’s interest, and shall include the costs of 
applicable insurance, storage and transportation to the site for such materials and equipment stored off the site.

§ 9.3.3 The Design-Builder warrants that title to all Work, other than Instruments of Service, covered by an 
Application for Payment will pass to the Owner no later than the time of payment. The Design-Builder further 
warrants that, upon submittal of an Application for Payment, all Work for which Certificates for Payment have been 
previously issued and payments received from the Owner shall, to the best of the Design-Builder’s knowledge, 
information and belief, be free and clear of liens, claims, security interests or encumbrances in favor of the 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, material suppliers, or other persons or entities entitled to make a 
claim by reason of having provided labor, materials and equipment relating to the Work.

§ 9.4 Certificates for Payment
The Owner shall, within seven days after receipt of the Design-Builder’s Application for Payment, issue to the 
Design-Builder a Certificate for Payment indicating the amount the Owner determines is properly due, and notify the 
Design-Builder in writing of the Owner’s reasons for withholding certification in whole or in part as provided in 
Section 9.5.1.

§ 9.5 Decisions to Withhold Certification
§ 9.5.1 The Owner may withhold a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part to the extent reasonably necessary to 
protect the Owner due to the Owner’s determination that the Work has not progressed to the point indicated in the 
Design-Builder’s Application for Payment, or the quality of the Work is not in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents. If the Owner is unable to certify payment in the amount of the Application, the Owner will notify the 
Design-Builder as provided in Section 9.4. If the Design-Builder and Owner cannot agree on a revised amount, the 
Owner will promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for the amount that the Owner deems to be due and owing. The 
Owner may also withhold a Certificate for Payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence, may nullify the 
whole or a part of a Certificate for Payment previously issued to such extent as may be necessary to protect the Owner 
from loss for which the Design-Builder is responsible because of

.1 defective Work, including design and construction, not remedied;

.2 third party claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claims unless security 
acceptable to the Owner is provided by the Design-Builder;

.3 failure of the Design-Builder to make payments properly to the Architect, Consultants, Contractors or 
others, for services, labor, materials or equipment;

.4 reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum;

.5 damage to the Owner or a separate contractor;

.6 reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time, and that the unpaid 
balance would not be adequate to cover actual or liquidated damages for the anticipated delay; or

.7 repeated failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 121 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

22

§ 9.5.2 When the above reasons for withholding certification are removed, certification will be made for amounts 
previously withheld.

§ 9.5.3 If the Owner withholds certification for payment under Section 9.5.1.3, the Owner may, at its sole option, issue 
joint checks to the Design-Builder and to the Architect or any Consultants, Contractor, material or equipment 
suppliers, or other persons or entities providing services or work for the Design-Builder to whom the Design-Builder 
failed to make payment for Work properly performed or material or equipment suitably delivered. 

§ 9.6 Progress Payments
§ 9.6.1 After the Owner has issued a Certificate for Payment, the Owner shall make payment in the manner and within 
the time provided in the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.6.2 The Design-Builder shall pay each Architect, Consultant, Contractor, and other person or entity providing 
services or work for the Design-Builder no later than the time period required by applicable law, but in no event more 
than seven days after receipt of payment from the Owner the amount to which the Architect, Consultant, Contractor, 
and other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder is entitled, reflecting percentages actually 
retained from payments to the Design-Builder on account of the portion of the Work performed by the Architect, 
Consultant, Contractor, or other person or entity. The Design-Builder shall, by appropriate agreement with each 
Architect, Consultant, Contractor, and other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder, 
require each Architect, Consultant, Contractor, and other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder to make payments to subconsultants and subcontractors in a similar manner. 

§ 9.6.3 The Owner will, on request and if practicable, furnish to the Architect, a Consultant, Contractor, or other 
person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder, information regarding percentages of completion 
or amounts applied for by the Design-Builder and action taken thereon by the Owner on account of portions of the 
Work done by such Architect, Consultant, Contractor or other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder.

§ 9.6.4 The Owner has the right to request written evidence from the Design-Builder that the Design-Builder has 
properly paid the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, or other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder, amounts paid by the Owner to the Design-Builder for the Work. If the Design-Builder fails to furnish 
such evidence within seven days, the Owner shall have the right to contact the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors 
to ascertain whether they have been properly paid. The Owner shall have no obligation to pay or to see to the payment 
of money to a Consultant or Contractor, except as may otherwise be required by law.

§ 9.6.5 Design-Builder payments to material and equipment suppliers shall be treated in a manner similar to that 
provided in Sections 9.6.2, 9.6.3 and 9.6.4.

§ 9.6.6 A Certificate for Payment, a progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project by the 
Owner shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.6.7 Unless the Design-Builder provides the Owner with a payment bond in the full penal sum of the Contract Sum, 
payments received by the Design-Builder for Work properly performed by the Architect, Consultants, Contractors and 
other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder, shall be held by the Design-Builder for the 
Architect and those Consultants, Contractors, or other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder, for which payment was made by the Owner. Nothing contained herein shall require money to be 
placed in a separate account and not commingled with money of the Design-Builder, shall create any fiduciary liability 
or tort liability on the part of the Design-Builder for breach of trust or shall entitle any person or entity to an award of 
punitive damages against the Design-Builder for breach of the requirements of this provision. 

§ 9.7 Failure of Payment
If the Owner does not issue a Certificate for Payment, through no fault of the Design-Builder, within the time required 
by the Design-Build Documents, then the Design-Builder may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to the 
Owner, stop the Work until payment of the amount owing has been received. The Contract Time shall be extended 
appropriately and the Contract Sum shall be increased by the amount of the Design-Builder’s reasonable costs of 
shut-down, delay and start-up, plus interest as provided for in the Design-Build Documents.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 122 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

23

§ 9.8 Substantial Completion
§ 9.8.1 Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated portion thereof is 
sufficiently complete in accordance with the Design-Build Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the 
Work for its intended use. The date of Substantial Completion is the date certified by the Owner in accordance with 
this Section 9.8.

§ 9.8.2 When the Design-Builder considers that the Work, or a portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept 
separately, is substantially complete, the Design-Builder shall prepare and submit to the Owner a comprehensive list 
of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. Failure to include an item on such list does not alter the 
responsibility of the Design-Builder to complete all Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.8.3 Upon receipt of the Design-Builder’s list, the Owner shall make an inspection to determine whether the Work 
or designated portion thereof is substantially complete. If the Owner’s inspection discloses any item, whether or not 
included on the Design-Builder’s list, which is not sufficiently complete in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work or designated portion thereof for its intended use, the 
Design-Builder shall, before issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, complete or correct such item upon 
notification by the Owner. In such case, the Design-Builder shall then submit a request for another inspection by the 
Owner to determine Substantial Completion.

§ 9.8.4 Prior to issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion under Section 9.8.5, the Owner and 
Design-Builder shall discuss and then determine the parties’ obligations to obtain and maintain property insurance 
following issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion.

§ 9.8.5 When the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, the Design-Builder will prepare for the 
Owner’s signature a Certificate of Substantial Completion that shall, upon the Owner’s signature, establish the date of 
Substantial Completion; establish responsibilities of the Owner and Design-Builder for security, maintenance, heat, 
utilities, damage to the Work and insurance; and fix the time within which the Design-Builder shall finish all items on 
the list accompanying the Certificate. Warranties required by the Design-Build Documents shall commence on the 
date of Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the Certificate 
of Substantial Completion.

§ 9.8.6 The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be submitted by the Design-Builder to the Owner for written 
acceptance of responsibilities assigned to it in the Certificate. Upon the Owner’s acceptance, and consent of surety, if 
any, the Owner shall make payment of retainage applying to the Work or designated portion thereof. Payment shall be 
adjusted for Work that is incomplete or not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.9 Partial Occupancy or Use
§ 9.9.1 The Owner may occupy or use any completed or partially completed portion of the Work at any stage when 
such portion is designated by separate agreement with the Design-Builder, provided such occupancy or use is 
consented to, by endorsement or otherwise, by the insurer providing property insurance and authorized by public 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. Such partial occupancy or use may commence whether or not the 
portion is substantially complete, provided the Owner and Design-Builder have accepted in writing the responsibilities 
assigned to each of them for payments, retainage, if any, security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and 
insurance, and have agreed in writing concerning the period for correction of the Work and commencement of 
warranties required by the Design-Build Documents. When the Design-Builder considers a portion substantially 
complete, the Design-Builder shall prepare and submit a list to the Owner as provided under Section 9.8.2. Consent of 
the Design-Builder to partial occupancy or use shall not be unreasonably withheld. The stage of the progress of the 
Work shall be determined by written agreement between the Owner and Design-Builder.

§ 9.9.2 Immediately prior to such partial occupancy or use, the Owner and Design-Builder shall jointly inspect the area 
to be occupied or portion of the Work to be used in order to determine and record the condition of the Work.

§ 9.9.3 Unless otherwise agreed upon, partial occupancy or use of a portion or portions of the Work shall not constitute 
acceptance of Work not complying with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 123 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

24

§ 9.10 Final Completion and Final Payment
§ 9.10.1 Upon receipt of the Design-Builder’s written notice that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance 
and upon receipt of a final Application for Payment, the Owner will promptly make such inspection. When the Owner 
finds the Work acceptable under the Design-Build Documents and the Contract fully performed, the Owner will, 
subject to Section 9.10.2, promptly issue a final Certificate for Payment. 

§ 9.10.2 Neither final payment nor any remaining retained percentage shall become due until the Design-Builder 
submits to the Owner (1) an affidavit that payrolls, bills for materials and equipment, and other indebtedness 
connected with the Work, for which the Owner or the Owner’s property might be responsible or encumbered, (less 
amounts withheld by Owner) have been paid or otherwise satisfied, (2) a certificate evidencing that insurance required 
by the Design-Build Documents to remain in force after final payment is currently in effect, (3) a written statement 
that the Design-Builder knows of no substantial reason that the insurance will not be renewable to cover the period 
required by the Design-Build Documents, (4) consent of surety, if any, to final payment, (5) as-constructed record 
copy of the Construction Documents marked to indicate field changes and selections made during construction, (6) 
manufacturer’s warranties, product data, and maintenance and operations manuals, and (7) if required by the Owner, 
other data establishing payment or satisfaction of obligations, such as receipts, or releases and waivers of liens, claims, 
security interests, or encumbrances, arising out of the Contract, to the extent and in such form as may be designated by 
the Owner. If an Architect, a Consultant, or a Contractor, or other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder, refuses to furnish a release or waiver required by the Owner, the Design-Builder may furnish a bond 
satisfactory to the Owner to indemnify the Owner against such liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances. If 
such liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances remains unsatisfied after payments are made, the 
Design-Builder shall refund to the Owner all money that the Owner may be compelled to pay in discharging such 
liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, including all costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

§ 9.10.3 If, after Substantial Completion of the Work, final completion thereof is materially delayed through no fault 
of the Design-Builder or by issuance of Change Orders affecting final completion, the Owner shall, upon application 
by the Design-Builder, and without terminating the Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the 
Work fully completed and accepted. If the remaining balance for Work not fully completed or corrected is less than 
retainage stipulated in the Design-Build Documents, and if bonds have been furnished, the written consent of surety to 
payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by the 
Design-Builder to the Owner prior to issuance of payment. Such payment shall be made under terms and conditions 
governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of claims.

§ 9.10.4 The making of final payment shall constitute a waiver of Claims by the Owner except those arising from
.1 liens, Claims, security interests or encumbrances arising out of the Contract and unsettled;
.2 failure of the Work to comply with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents; or
.3 terms of special warranties required by the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.10.5 Acceptance of final payment by the Design-Builder shall constitute a waiver of claims by the Design-Builder 
except those previously made in writing and identified by the Design-Builder as unsettled at the time of final 
Application for Payment.

ARTICLE 10   PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY
§ 10.1 Safety Precautions and Programs
The Design-Builder shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the performance of the Contract. 

§ 10.2 Safety of Persons and Property
§ 10.2.1 The Design-Builder shall be responsible for precautions for the safety of, and reasonable protection to prevent 
damage, injury or loss to

.1 employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected thereby;

.2 the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the site, 
under care, custody or control of the Design-Builder or the Architect, Consultants, or Contractors, or 
other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder; and

.3 other property at the site or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, 
or structures and utilities not designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of 
construction.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 124 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

25

§ 10.2.2 The Design-Builder shall comply with, and give notices required by, applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities, bearing on safety of persons or property, or their 
protection from damage, injury or loss.

§ 10.2.3 The Design-Builder shall implement, erect, and maintain, as required by existing conditions and performance 
of the Contract, reasonable safeguards for safety and protection, including posting danger signs and other warnings 
against hazards, promulgating safety regulations, and notify owners and users of adjacent sites and utilities of the 
safeguards and protections.

§ 10.2.4 When use or storage of explosives or other hazardous materials or equipment, or unusual methods, are 
necessary for execution of the Work, the Design-Builder shall exercise utmost care, and carry on such activities under 
supervision of properly qualified personnel.

§ 10.2.5 The Design-Builder shall promptly remedy damage and loss (other than damage or loss insured under 
property insurance required by the Design-Build Documents) to property referred to in Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3, 
caused in whole or in part by the Design-Builder, the Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts they may be liable and for which the Design-Builder 
is responsible under Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3; except damage or loss attributable to acts or omissions of the 
Owner, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Owner, or by anyone for whose acts the Owner may be liable, 
and not attributable to the fault or negligence of the Design-Builder. The foregoing obligations of the Design-Builder 
are in addition to the Design-Builder’s obligations under Section 3.1.14.

§ 10.2.6 The Design-Builder shall designate a responsible member of the Design-Builder’s organization, at the site, 
whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents. This person shall be the Design-Builder’s superintendent unless 
otherwise designated by the Design-Builder in writing to the Owner.

§ 10.2.7 The Design-Builder shall not permit any part of the construction or site to be loaded so as to cause damage or 
create an unsafe condition.

§ 10.2.8 Injury or Damage to Person or Property. If the Owner or Design-Builder suffers injury or damage to person or 
property because of an act or omission of the other, or of others for whose acts such party is legally responsible, 
written notice of the injury or damage, whether or not insured, shall be given to the other party within a reasonable 
time not exceeding 21 days after discovery. The notice shall provide sufficient detail to enable the other party to 
investigate the matter. 

§ 10.3 Hazardous Materials
§ 10.3.1 The Design-Builder is responsible for compliance with any requirements included in the Design-Build 
Documents regarding hazardous materials. If the Design-Builder encounters a hazardous material or substance not 
addressed in the Design-Build Documents and if reasonable precautions will be inadequate to prevent foreseeable 
bodily injury or death to persons resulting from a material or substance, including but not limited to asbestos or 
polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), encountered on the site by the Design-Builder, the Design-Builder shall, upon 
recognizing the condition, immediately stop Work in the affected area and report the condition to the Owner in 
writing.

§ 10.3.2 Upon receipt of the Design-Builder’s written notice, the Owner shall obtain the services of a licensed 
laboratory to verify the presence or absence of the material or substance reported by the Design-Builder and, in the 
event such material or substance is found to be present, to cause it to be rendered harmless. Unless otherwise required 
by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall furnish in writing to the Design-Builder the names and qualifications 
of persons or entities who are to perform tests verifying the presence or absence of such material or substance or who 
are to perform the task of removal or safe containment of such material or substance. The Design-Builder will 
promptly reply to the Owner in writing stating whether or not the Design-Builder has reasonable objection to the 
persons or entities proposed by the Owner. If the Design-Builder has an objection to a person or entity proposed by the 
Owner, the Owner shall propose another to whom the Design-Builder has no reasonable objection. When the material 
or substance has been rendered harmless, Work in the affected area shall resume upon written agreement of the Owner 
and Design-Builder. By Change Order, the Contract Time shall be extended appropriately and the Contract Sum shall 
be increased in the amount of the Design-Builder’s reasonable additional costs of shut-down, delay and start-up.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 125 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

26

§ 10.3.3 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless the Design-Builder, the 
Architect, Consultants, and Contractors, and employees of any of them, from and against claims, damages, losses and 
expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work in the 
affected area, if in fact the material or substance presents the risk of bodily injury or death as described in 
Section 10.3.1 and has not been rendered harmless, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to 
bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to, or destruction of, tangible property (other than the Work 
itself), except to the extent that such damage, loss or expense is due to the fault or negligence of the party seeking 
indemnity.

§ 10.3.4 The Owner shall not be responsible under this Section 10.3 for materials or substances the Design-Builder 
brings to the site unless such materials or substances are required by the Owner’s Criteria. The Owner shall be 
responsible for materials or substances required by the Owner’s Criteria, except to the extent of the Design-Builder’s 
fault or negligence in the use and handling of such materials or substances.

§ 10.3.5 The Design-Builder shall indemnify the Owner for the cost and expense the Owner incurs (1) for remediation 
of a material or substance the Design-Builder brings to the site and negligently handles, or (2) where the 
Design-Builder fails to perform its obligations under Section 10.3.1, except to the extent that the cost and expense are 
due to the Owner’s fault or negligence.

§ 10.3.6 If, without negligence on the part of the Design-Builder, the Design-Builder is held liable by a government 
agency for the cost of remediation of a hazardous material or substance solely by reason of performing Work as 
required by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall indemnify the Design-Builder for all cost and expense 
thereby incurred.

§ 10.4 Emergencies
In an emergency affecting safety of persons or property, the Design-Builder shall act, at the Design-Builder’s 
discretion, to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss. 

ARTICLE 11   UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK
§ 11.1 Uncovering of Work
The Owner may request to examine a portion of the Work that the Design-Builder has covered to determine if the 
Work has been performed in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. If such Work is in accordance with the 
Design-Build Documents, the Owner and Design-Builder shall execute a Change Order to adjust the Contract Time 
and Contract Sum, as appropriate. If such Work is not in accordance with the Design-Build Documents, the costs of 
uncovering and correcting the Work shall be at the Design-Builder’s expense and the Design-Builder shall not be 
entitled to a change in the Contract Time unless the condition was caused by the Owner or a separate contractor in 
which event the Owner shall be responsible for payment of such costs and the Contract Time will be adjusted as 
appropriate.

§ 11.2 Correction of Work
§ 11.2.1 Before or After Substantial Completion. The Design-Builder shall promptly correct Work rejected by the 
Owner or failing to conform to the requirements of the Design-Build Documents, whether discovered before or after 
Substantial Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed. Costs of correcting such rejected Work, 
including additional testing and inspections, the cost of uncovering and replacement, and compensation for any design 
consultant employed by the Owner whose expenses and compensation were made necessary thereby, shall be at the 
Design-Builder’s expense.

§ 11.2.2 After Substantial Completion
§ 11.2.2.1 In addition to the Design-Builder’s obligations under Section 3.1.12, if, within one year after the date of 
Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof or after the date for commencement of warranties 
established under Section 9.9.1, or by terms of an applicable special warranty required by the Design-Build 
Documents, any of the Work is found not to be in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents, 
the Design-Builder shall correct it promptly after receipt of written notice from the Owner to do so unless the Owner 
has previously given the Design-Builder a written acceptance of such condition. The Owner shall give such notice 
promptly after discovery of the condition. During the one-year period for correction of the Work, if the Owner fails to 
notify the Design-Builder and give the Design-Builder an opportunity to make the correction, the Owner waives the 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 126 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

27

rights to require correction by the Design-Builder and to make a claim for breach of warranty. If the Design-Builder 
fails to correct nonconforming Work within a reasonable time during that period after receipt of notice from the 
Owner, the Owner may correct it in accordance with Section 7.9.

§ 11.2.2.2 The one-year period for correction of Work shall be extended with respect to portions of Work first 
performed after Substantial Completion by the period of time between Substantial Completion and the actual 
completion of that portion of the Work.

§ 11.2.2.3 The one-year period for correction of Work shall not be extended by corrective Work performed by the 
Design-Builder pursuant to this Section 11.2.

§ 11.2.3 The Design-Builder shall remove from the site portions of the Work that are not in accordance with the 
requirements of the Design-Build Documents and are neither corrected by the Design-Builder nor accepted by the 
Owner.

§ 11.2.4 The Design-Builder shall bear the cost of correcting destroyed or damaged construction of the Owner or 
separate contractors, whether completed or partially completed, caused by the Design-Builder’s correction or removal 
of Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 11.2.5 Nothing contained in this Section 11.2 shall be construed to establish a period of limitation with respect to 
other obligations the Design-Builder has under the Design-Build Documents. Establishment of the one-year period for 
correction of Work as described in Section 11.2.2 relates only to the specific obligation of the Design-Builder to 
correct the Work, and has no relationship to the time within which the obligation to comply with the Design-Build 
Documents may be sought to be enforced, nor to the time within which proceedings may be commenced to establish 
the Design-Builder’s liability with respect to the Design-Builder’s obligations other than specifically to correct the 
Work.

§ 11.3 Acceptance of Nonconforming Work
If the Owner prefers to accept Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents, 
the Owner may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in which case the Contract Sum will be reduced 
as appropriate and equitable. Such adjustment shall be effected whether or not final payment has been made.

ARTICLE 12   COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES
§ 12.1 Drawings, specifications, and other documents furnished by the Design-Builder, including those in electronic 
form, are Instruments of Service. The Design-Builder, and the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and any other 
person or entity providing services or work for any of them, shall be deemed the authors and owners of their respective 
Instruments of Service, including the Drawings and Specifications, and shall retain all common law, statutory and 
other reserved rights, including copyrights. Submission or distribution of Instruments of Service to meet official 
regulatory requirements, or for similar purposes in connection with the Project, is not to be construed as publication in 
derogation of the reserved rights of the Design-Builder and the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors, and any other 
person or entity providing services or work for any of them. 

§ 12.2 The Design-Builder and the Owner warrant that in transmitting Instruments of Service, or any other 
information, the transmitting party is the copyright owner of such information or has permission from the copyright 
owner to transmit such information for its use on the Project.

§ 12.3 Upon execution of the Agreement, the Design-Builder grants to the Owner a limited, irrevocable and 
non-exclusive license to use the Instruments of Service solely and exclusively for purposes of constructing, using, 
maintaining, altering and adding to the Project, provided that the Owner substantially performs its obligations, 
including prompt payment of all sums when due, under the Design-Build Documents. The license granted under this 
section permits the Owner to authorize its consultants and separate contractors to reproduce applicable portions of the 
Instruments of Service solely and exclusively for use in performing services or construction for the Project. If the 
Design-Builder rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause as provided in Section 13.1.4 or 13.2.1 the license 
granted in this Section 12.3 shall terminate. 

§ 12.3.1 The Design-Builder shall obtain non-exclusive licenses from the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors, that 
will allow the Design-Builder to satisfy its obligations to the Owner under this Article 12. The Design-Builder’s 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 127 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

28

licenses from the Architect and its Consultants and Contractors shall also allow the Owner, in the event this 
Agreement is terminated for any reason other than the default of the Owner or in the event the Design-Builder’s 
Architect, Consultants, or Contractors terminate their agreements with the Design-Builder for cause, to obtain a 
limited, irrevocable and non-exclusive license solely and exclusively for purposes of constructing, using, maintaining, 
altering and adding to the Project, provided that the Owner (1) agrees to pay to the Architect, Consultant or Contractor 
all amounts due, and (2) provide the Architect, Consultant or Contractor with the Owner’s written agreement to 
indemnify and hold harmless the Architect, Consultant or Contractor from all costs and expenses, including the cost of 
defense, related to claims and causes of action asserted by any third person or entity to the extent such costs and 
expenses arise from the Owner’s alteration or use of the Instruments of Service.

§ 12.3.2 In the event the Owner alters the Instruments of Service without the author’s written authorization or uses the 
Instruments of Service without retaining the authors of the Instruments of Service, the Owner releases the 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors and any other person or entity providing services or work for any 
of them, from all claims and causes of action arising from or related to such uses. The Owner, to the extent permitted 
by law, further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors and any 
other person or entity providing services or work for any of them, from all costs and expenses, including the cost of 
defense, related to claims and causes of action asserted by any third person or entity to the extent such costs and 
expenses arise from the Owner’s alteration or use of the Instruments of Service under this Section 12.3.2. The terms of 
this Section 12.3.2 shall not apply if the Owner rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause under Sections 13.1.4 or 
13.2.2.

ARTICLE 13   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION
§ 13.1 Termination or Suspension Prior to Execution of the Design-Build Amendment
§ 13.1.1 If the Owner fails to make payments to the Design-Builder for Work prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment in accordance with this Agreement, such failure shall be considered substantial nonperformance and 
cause for termination or, at the Design-Builder’s option, cause for suspension of performance of services under this 
Agreement. If the Design-Builder elects to suspend the Work, the Design-Builder shall give seven days’ written notice 
to the Owner before suspending the Work. In the event of a suspension of the Work, the Design-Builder shall have no 
liability to the Owner for delay or damage caused by the suspension of the Work. Before resuming the Work, the 
Design-Builder shall be paid all sums due prior to suspension and any expenses incurred in the interruption and 
resumption of the Design-Builder’s Work. The Design-Builder’s compensation for, and time to complete, the 
remaining Work shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 13.1.2 If the Owner suspends the Project, the Design-Builder shall be compensated for the Work performed prior to 
notice of such suspension. When the Project is resumed, the Design-Builder shall be compensated for expenses 
incurred in the interruption and resumption of the Design-Builder’s Work. The Design-Builder’s compensation for, 
and time to complete, the remaining Work shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 13.1.3 If the Owner suspends the Project for more than 90 cumulative days for reasons other than the fault of the 
Design-Builder, the Design-Builder may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than seven days’ written notice. 

§ 13.1.4 Either party may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice should the other 
party fail substantially to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
initiating the termination.

§ 13.1.5 The Owner may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice to the Design-Builder 
for the Owner’s convenience and without cause.

§ 13.1.6 In the event of termination not the fault of the Design-Builder, the Design-Builder shall be compensated for 
Work performed prior to termination, together with Reimbursable Expenses then due and any other expenses directly 
attributable to termination for which the Design-Builder is not otherwise compensated. In no event shall the 
Design-Builder’s compensation under this Section 13.1.6 be greater than the compensation set forth in Section 2.1.

§ 13.2 Termination or Suspension Following Execution of the Design-Build Amendment
§ 13.2.1 Termination by the Design-Builder
§ 13.2.1.1 The Design-Builder may terminate the Contract if the Work is stopped for a period of 30 consecutive days 
through no act or fault of the Design-Builder, the Architect, a Consultant, or a Contractor, or their agents or 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 128 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

29

employees, or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the 
Design-Builder, for any of the following reasons:

.1 Issuance of an order of a court or other public authority having jurisdiction that requires all Work to be 
stopped;

.2 An act of government, such as a declaration of national emergency that requires all Work to be stopped;

.3 Because the Owner has not issued a Certificate for Payment and has not notified the Design-Builder of 
the reason for withholding certification as provided in Section 9.5.1, or because the Owner has not 
made payment on a Certificate for Payment within the time stated in the Design-Build Documents; or 

.4 The Owner has failed to furnish to the Design-Builder promptly, upon the Design-Builder’s request, 
reasonable evidence as required by Section 7.2.7.

§ 13.2.1.2 The Design-Builder may terminate the Contract if, through no act or fault of the Design-Builder, the 
Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or their agents or employees or any other persons or entities performing portions 
of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the Design-Builder, repeated suspensions, delays or interruptions of 
the entire Work by the Owner as described in Section 13.2.3 constitute in the aggregate more than 100 percent of the 
total number of days scheduled for completion, or 120 days in any 365-day period, whichever is less.

§ 13.2.1.3 If one of the reasons described in Section 13.2.1.1 or 13.2.1.2 exists, the Design-Builder may, upon seven 
days’ written notice to the Owner, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner payment for Work executed, 
including reasonable overhead and profit, costs incurred by reason of such termination, and damages. 

§ 13.2.1.4 If the Work is stopped for a period of 60 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Design-Builder or 
any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under contract with the Design-Builder because the 
Owner has repeatedly failed to fulfill the Owner’s obligations under the Design-Build Documents with respect to 
matters important to the progress of the Work, the Design-Builder may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to 
the Owner, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner as provided in Section 13.2.1.3.

§ 13.2.2 Termination by the Owner For Cause
§ 13.2.2.1 The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Design-Builder

.1 fails to submit the Proposal by the date required by this Agreement, or if no date is indicated, within a 
reasonable time consistent with the date of Substantial Completion;

.2 repeatedly refuses or fails to supply an Architect, or enough properly skilled Consultants, Contractors, 
or workers or proper materials;

.3 fails to make payment to the Architect, Consultants, or Contractors for services, materials or labor in 
accordance with their respective agreements with the Design-Builder;

.4 repeatedly disregards applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful 
orders of a public authority; or

.5 is otherwise guilty of substantial breach of a provision of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 13.2.2.2 When any of the above reasons exist, the Owner may without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the 
Owner and after giving the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder’s surety, if any, seven days’ written notice, 
terminate employment of the Design-Builder and may, subject to any prior rights of the surety:

.1 Exclude the Design-Builder from the site and take possession of all materials, equipment, tools, and 
construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Design-Builder;

.2 Accept assignment of the Architect, Consultant and Contractor agreements pursuant to Section 3.1.15; 
and

.3 Finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient. Upon written request 
of the Design-Builder, the Owner shall furnish to the Design-Builder a detailed accounting of the costs 
incurred by the Owner in finishing the Work.

§ 13.2.2.3 When the Owner terminates the Contract for one of the reasons stated in Section 13.2.2.1, the 
Design-Builder shall not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is finished.

§ 13.2.2.4 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work and other damages incurred 
by the Owner and not expressly waived, such excess shall be paid to the Design-Builder. If such costs and damages 
exceed the unpaid balance, the Design-Builder shall pay the difference to the Owner. The obligation for such 
payments shall survive termination of the Contract.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 129 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

30

§ 13.2.3 Suspension by the Owner for Convenience
§ 13.2.3.1 The Owner may, without cause, order the Design-Builder in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt the Work 
in whole or in part for such period of time as the Owner may determine.

§ 13.2.3.2 The Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be adjusted for increases in the cost and time caused by 
suspension, delay or interruption as described in Section 13.2.3.1. Adjustment of the Contract Sum shall include 
profit. No adjustment shall be made to the extent

.1 that performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or interrupted by another cause for 
which the Design-Builder is responsible; or

.2 that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract.

§ 13.2.4 Termination by the Owner for Convenience
§ 13.2.4.1 The Owner may, at any time, terminate the Contract for the Owner’s convenience and without cause.

§ 13.2.4.2 Upon receipt of written notice from the Owner of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the 
Design-Builder shall

.1 cease operations as directed by the Owner in the notice;

.2 take actions necessary, or that the Owner may direct, for the protection and preservation of the Work; 
and,

.3 except for Work directed to be performed prior to the effective date of termination stated in the notice, 
terminate all existing Project agreements, including agreements with the Architect, Consultants, 
Contractors, and purchase orders, and enter into no further Project agreements and purchase orders.

§ 13.2.4.3 In case of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the Design-Builder shall be entitled to receive 
payment for Work executed, and costs incurred by reason of such termination, along with reasonable overhead and 
profit on the Work not executed.

ARTICLE 14   CLAIMS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION
§ 14.1 Claims 
§ 14.1.1 Definition. A Claim is a demand or assertion by one of the parties seeking, as a matter of right, payment of 
money, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. The term "Claim" also includes other disputes and 
matters in question between the Owner and Design-Builder arising out of or relating to the Contract. The 
responsibility to substantiate Claims shall rest with the party making the Claim.

§ 14.1.2 Time Limits on Claims. The Owner and Design-Builder shall commence all claims and causes of action, 
whether in contract, tort, breach of warranty or otherwise, against the other, arising out of or related to the Contract in 
accordance with the requirements of the binding dispute resolution method selected in Section 1.3, within the time 
period specified by applicable law, but in any case not more than 10 years after the date of Substantial Completion of 
the Work. The Owner and Design-Builder waive all claims and causes of action not commenced in accordance with 
this Section 14.1.2.

§ 14.1.3 Notice of Claims
§ 14.1.3.1 Prior To Final Payment. Prior to Final Payment, Claims by either the Owner or Design-Builder must be 
initiated by written notice to the other party within 21 days after occurrence of the event giving rise to such Claim or 
within 21 days after the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is later. 

§ 14.1.3.2 Claims Arising After Final Payment. After Final Payment, Claims by either the Owner or Design-Builder that 
have not otherwise been waived pursuant to Sections 9.10.4 or 9.10.5, must be initiated by prompt written notice to the 
other party. The notice requirement in Section 14.1.3.1 and the Initial Decision requirement as a condition precedent 
to mediation in Section 14.2.1 shall not apply.

§ 14.1.4 Continuing Contract Performance. Pending final resolution of a Claim, except as otherwise agreed in writing 
or as provided in Section 9.7 and Article 13, the Design-Builder shall proceed diligently with performance of the 
Contract and the Owner shall continue to make payments in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 130 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

31

§ 14.1.5 Claims for Additional Cost. If the Design-Builder intends to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Sum, 
written notice as provided herein shall be given before proceeding to execute the portion of the Work that relates to the 
Claim. Prior notice is not required for Claims relating to an emergency endangering life or property arising under 
Section 10.4.

§ 14.1.6 Claims for Additional Time
§ 14.1.6.1 If the Design-Builder intends to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Time, written notice as 
provided herein shall be given. The Design-Builder’s Claim shall include an estimate of cost and of probable effect of 
delay on progress of the Work. In the case of a continuing delay, only one Claim is necessary.

§ 14.1.6.2 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be documented 
by data substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal for the period of time, could not have been reasonably 
anticipated, and had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction.

§ 14.1.7 Claims for Consequential Damages
The Design-Builder and Owner waive Claims against each other for consequential damages arising out of or relating 
to this Contract. This mutual waiver includes

.1 damages incurred by the Owner for rental expenses, for losses of use, income, profit, financing, 
business and reputation, and for loss of management or employee productivity or of the services of such 
persons; and

.2 damages incurred by the Design-Builder for principal office expenses including the compensation of 
personnel stationed there, for losses of financing, business and reputation, and for loss of profit except 
anticipated profit arising directly from the Work.

This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential damages due to either party’s termination in 
accordance with Article 13. Nothing contained in this Section 14.1.7 shall be deemed to preclude an award of 
liquidated damages, when applicable, in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 14.2 Initial Decision
§ 14.2.1 An initial decision shall be required as a condition precedent to mediation of all Claims between the Owner 
and Design-Builder initiated prior to the date final payment is due, excluding those arising under Sections 10.3 and 
10.4 of the Agreement and Sections B.3.2.9 and B.3.2.10 of Exhibit B to this Agreement, unless 30 days have passed 
after the Claim has been initiated with no decision having been rendered. Unless otherwise mutually agreed in writing, 
the Owner shall render the initial decision on Claims. 

§ 14.2.2 Procedure
§ 14.2.2.1 Claims Initiated by the Owner. If the Owner initiates a Claim, the Design-Builder shall provide a written 
response to Owner within ten days after receipt of the notice required under Section 14.1.3.1. Thereafter, the Owner 
shall render an initial decision within ten days of receiving the Design-Builder’s response: (1) withdrawing the Claim 
in whole or in part, (2) approving the Claim in whole or in part, or (3) suggesting a compromise.

§ 14.2.2.2 Claims Initiated by the Design-Builder. If the Design-Builder initiates a Claim, the Owner will take one or 
more of the following actions within ten days after receipt of the notice required under Section 14.1.3.1: (1) request 
additional supporting data, (2) render an initial decision rejecting the Claim in whole or in part, (3) render an initial 
decision approving the Claim, (4) suggest a compromise or (5) indicate that it is unable to render an initial decision 
because the Owner lacks sufficient information to evaluate the merits of the Claim.

§ 14.2.3 In evaluating Claims, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, consult with or seek information from 
persons with special knowledge or expertise who may assist the Owner in rendering a decision. The retention of such 
persons shall be at the Owner’s expense.

§ 14.2.4 If the Owner requests the Design-Builder to provide a response to a Claim or to furnish additional supporting 
data, the Design-Builder shall respond, within ten days after receipt of such request, and shall either (1) provide a 
response on the requested supporting data, (2) advise the Owner when the response or supporting data will be 
furnished or (3) advise the Owner that no supporting data will be furnished. Upon receipt of the response or supporting 
data, if any, the Owner will either reject or approve the Claim in whole or in part.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 131 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

32

§ 14.2.5 The Owner’s initial decision shall (1) be in writing; (2) state the reasons therefor; and (3) identify any change 
in the Contract Sum or Contract Time or both. The initial decision shall be final and binding on the parties but subject 
to mediation and, if the parties fail to resolve their dispute through mediation, to binding dispute resolution.

§ 14.2.6 Either party may file for mediation of an initial decision at any time, subject to the terms of Section 14.2.6.1.

§ 14.2.6.1 Either party may, within 30 days from the date of an initial decision, demand in writing that the other party 
file for mediation within 60 days of the initial decision. If such a demand is made and the party receiving the demand 
fails to file for mediation within the time required, then both parties waive their rights to mediate or pursue binding 
dispute resolution proceedings with respect to the initial decision. 

§ 14.2.7 In the event of a Claim against the Design-Builder, the Owner may, but is not obligated to, notify the surety, if 
any, of the nature and amount of the Claim. If the Claim relates to a possibility of a Design-Builder’s default, the 
Owner may, but is not obligated to, notify the surety and request the surety’s assistance in resolving the controversy.

§ 14.2.8 If a Claim relates to or is the subject of a mechanic’s lien, the party asserting such Claim may proceed in 
accordance with applicable law to comply with the lien notice or filing deadlines.

§ 14.3 Mediation
§ 14.3.1 Claims, disputes, or other matters in controversy arising out of or related to the Contract, except those waived 
as provided for in Sections 9.10.4, 9.10.5, and 14.1.7, shall be subject to mediation as a condition precedent to binding 
dispute resolution. 

§ 14.3.2 The parties shall endeavor to resolve their Claims by mediation which, unless the parties mutually agree 
otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry 
Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of the Agreement. A request for mediation shall be made in writing, 
delivered to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the mediation. The 
request may be made concurrently with the filing of binding dispute resolution proceedings but, in such event, 
mediation shall proceed in advance of binding dispute resolution proceedings, which shall be stayed pending 
mediation for a period of 60 days from the date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties 
or court order. If an arbitration proceeding is stayed pursuant to this Section 14.3.2, the parties may nonetheless 
proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) and agree upon a schedule for later proceedings.

§ 14.3.3 The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the place 
where the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall 
be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction.

§ 14.4 Arbitration
§ 14.4.1 If the parties have selected arbitration as the method for binding dispute resolution in Section 1.3, any Claim 
subject to, but not resolved by, mediation shall be subject to arbitration which, unless the parties mutually agree 
otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry 
Arbitration Rules in effect on the date of the Agreement. A demand for arbitration shall be made in writing, delivered 
to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the arbitration. The party filing a 
notice of demand for arbitration must assert in the demand all Claims then known to that party on which arbitration is 
permitted to be demanded. 

§ 14.4.1.1 A demand for arbitration shall be made no earlier than concurrently with the filing of a request for 
mediation, but in no event shall it be made after the date when the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on 
the Claim would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations or statute of repose. For statute of limitations or 
statute of repose purposes, receipt of a written demand for arbitration by the person or entity administering the 
arbitration shall constitute the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the Claim.

§ 14.4.2 The award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in 
accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 132 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

33

§ 14.4.3 The foregoing agreement to arbitrate, and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional person or entity 
duly consented to by parties to the Agreement, shall be specifically enforceable under applicable law in any court 
having jurisdiction thereof.

§ 14.4.4 Consolidation or Joinder
§ 14.4.4.1 Either party, at its sole discretion, may consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any 
other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) the arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration 
permits consolidation, (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated substantially involve common questions of law or fact, 
and (3) the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and methods for selecting arbitrator(s). 

§ 14.4.4.2 Either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a 
common question of law or fact whose presence is required if complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided 
that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. Consent to arbitration involving an additional 
person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter in question not 
described in the written consent.

§ 14.4.4.3 The Owner and Design-Builder grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under 
this Section 14.4, whether by joinder or consolidation, the same rights of joinder and consolidation as the Owner and 
Design-Builder under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 15   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
§ 15.1 Governing Law
The Contract shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located except that, if the parties have 
selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution, the Federal Arbitration Act shall govern Section 14.4.

§ 15.2 Successors and Assigns
§ 15.2.1 The Owner and Design-Builder, respectively, bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns and legal 
representatives to the covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the Design-Build Documents. Except as 
provided in Section 15.2.2, neither party to the Contract shall assign the Contract as a whole without written consent of 
the other. If either party attempts to make such an assignment without such consent, that party shall nevertheless 
remain legally responsible for all obligations under the Contract.

§ 15.2.2 The Owner may, without consent of the Design-Builder, assign the Contract to a lender providing 
construction financing for the Project, if the lender assumes the Owner’s rights and obligations under the Design-Build 
Documents. The Design-Builder shall execute all consents reasonably required to facilitate such assignment.

§ 15.2.3 If the Owner requests the Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, or Contractors to execute certificates, other 
than those required by Section 3.1.10, the Owner shall submit the proposed language of such certificates for review at 
least 14 days prior to the requested dates of execution. If the Owner requests the Design-Builder, Architect, 
Consultants, or Contractors to execute consents reasonably required to facilitate assignment to a lender, the 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, or Contractors shall execute all such consents that are consistent with this 
Agreement, provided the proposed consent is submitted to them for review at least 14 days prior to execution. The 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, and Contractors shall not be required to execute certificates or consents that 
would require knowledge, services or responsibilities beyond the scope of their services. 

§ 15.3 Written Notice
Written notice shall be deemed to have been duly served if delivered in person to the individual, to a member of the 
firm or entity, or to an officer of the corporation for which it was intended; or if delivered at, or sent by registered or 
certified mail or by courier service providing proof of delivery to, the last business address known to the party giving 
notice. 

§ 15.4 Rights and Remedies
§ 15.4.1 Duties and obligations imposed by the Design-Build Documents, and rights and remedies available 
thereunder, shall be in addition to and not a limitation of duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or 
available by law.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 133 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

34

§ 15.4.2 No action or failure to act by the Owner or Design-Builder shall constitute a waiver of a right or duty afforded 
them under the Contract, nor shall such action or failure to act constitute approval of or acquiescence in a breach 
thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

§ 15.5 Tests and Inspections
§ 15.5.1 Tests, inspections and approvals of portions of the Work shall be made as required by the Design-Build 
Documents and by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations or lawful orders of public 
authorities. Unless otherwise provided, the Design-Builder shall make arrangements for such tests, inspections and 
approvals with an independent testing laboratory or entity acceptable to the Owner, or with the appropriate public 
authority, and shall bear all related costs of tests, inspections and approvals. The Design-Builder shall give the Owner 
timely notice of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Owner may be present for such 
procedures. The Owner shall bear costs of (1) tests, inspections or approvals that do not become requirements until 
after bids are received or negotiations concluded, and (2) tests, inspections or approvals where building codes or 
applicable laws or regulations prohibit the Owner from delegating their cost to the Design-Builder.

§ 15.5.2 If the Owner determines that portions of the Work require additional testing, inspection or approval not 
included under Section 15.5.1, the Owner will instruct the Design-Builder to make arrangements for such additional 
testing, inspection or approval by an entity acceptable to the Owner, and the Design-Builder shall give timely notice to 
the Owner of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Owner may be present for such 
procedures. Such costs, except as provided in Section 15.5.3, shall be at the Owner’s expense.

§ 15.5.3 If such procedures for testing, inspection or approval under Sections 15.5.1 and 15.5.2 reveal failure of the 
portions of the Work to comply with requirements established by the Design-Build Documents, all costs made 
necessary by such failure shall be at the Design-Builder’s expense.

§ 15.5.4 Required certificates of testing, inspection or approval shall, unless otherwise required by the Design-Build 
Documents, be secured by the Design-Builder and promptly delivered to the Owner.

§ 15.5.5 If the Owner is to observe tests, inspections or approvals required by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner 
will do so promptly and, where practicable, at the normal place of testing.

§ 15.5.6 Tests or inspections conducted pursuant to the Design-Build Documents shall be made promptly to avoid 
unreasonable delay in the Work.

§ 15.6 Confidential Information
If the Owner or Design-Builder transmits Confidential Information, the transmission of such Confidential Information 
constitutes a warranty to the party receiving such Confidential Information that the transmitting party is authorized to 
transmit the Confidential Information. If a party receives Confidential Information, the receiving party shall keep the 
Confidential Information strictly confidential and shall not disclose it to any other person or entity except as set forth 
in Section 15.6.1. 

§ 15.6.1 A party receiving Confidential Information may disclose the Confidential Information as required by law or 
court order, including a subpoena or other form of compulsory legal process issued by a court or governmental entity. 
A party receiving Confidential Information may also disclose the Confidential Information to its employees, 
consultants or contractors in order to perform services or work solely and exclusively for the Project, provided those 
employees, consultants and contractors are subject to the restrictions on the disclosure and use of Confidential 
Information as set forth in this Contract. 

§ 15.7 Capitalization
Terms capitalized in the Contract include those that are (1) specifically defined, (2) the titles of numbered articles or 
(3) the titles of other documents published by the American Institute of Architects.

§ 15.8 Interpretation
§ 15.8.1 In the interest of brevity the Design-Build Documents frequently omit modifying words such as "all" and 
"any" and articles such as "the" and "an," but the fact that a modifier or an article is absent from one statement and 
appears in another is not intended to affect the interpretation of either statement.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 134 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

35

§ 15.8.2 Unless otherwise stated in the Design-Build Documents, words which have well-known technical or 
construction industry meanings are used in the Design-Build Documents in accordance with such recognized 
meanings.

ARTICLE 16   SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT
§ 16.1 This Agreement is comprised of the following documents listed below:

.1 AIA Document A141™–2014, Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Design-Builder
(Paragraph deleted)

.3 AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit B, Insurance and Bonds

(Paragraphs deleted)

.6 Other:

 Exhibit C – Owner Programs 
Exhibit D – Minimum Insurance Requirements

This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above.

    

OWNER (Signature) DESIGN-BUILDER (Signature)

Josh Moenning, Mayor Chris Daniels, Vice President
(Printed name and title) (Printed name and title)

Chris Daniels
Digitally signed by Chris Daniels
DN: C=US, E=chrisd@huffconstructionllc.com, O=Vice 
President, OU=Huff Construction - Nebraska, 
CN=Chris Daniels
Date: 2024.02.14 08:41:29-06'00'

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 135 of 210

I.El 



Additions and Deletions Report for

AIA
®

 Document A141® – 2014

This Additions and Deletions Report, as defined on page 1 of the associated document, reproduces below all text the author has added 
to the standard form AIA document in order to complete it, as well as any text the author may have added to or deleted from the original 
AIA text. Added text is shown underlined. Deleted text is indicated with a horizontal line through the original AIA text.

Note:  This Additions and Deletions Report is provided for information purposes only and is not incorporated into or constitute any part 
of the associated AIA document. This Additions and Deletions Report and its associated document were generated simultaneously by 
AIA software at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024.

Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 
09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

1

PAGE 1

AGREEMENT made as of the  Fourteenth  day of  February   in the year  Twenty Twenty Four 

…

City of Norfolk, Nebraska, Corporation
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-844-2184

…

Huff Construction Nebraska, LLC
600 1/2 West Benjamin Ave
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-370-2274

…

Ta Ha Zouka Team Lockers
Norfolk, NE
PAGE 2

 See Exhibit C 
PAGE 3

 See Exhibit C 

…

 See Exhibit C 

…

 N/A 

…

 N/A 

…

 One Million Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Daollars  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 136 of 210



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014>. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 
09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

2

…

 Design Complete by April 1, 2024 

…

 Exhibit A – GMP Ammendment complete May 1, 2024 

…

 N/A 

…

 October 1, 2024 

…

 N/A 
PAGE 4

 Davis Design 

…

 Olsson Engineering 

…

 Huff Construction Nebraska, LLC 

…

 N/A 

…

Josh Moenning
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-580-2471

…

Email Address: jmoenning@norfolkne.gov

…

 Steven Rames
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701
402-844-2000
srames@norfolkne.gov

Nathan Powell
309 N 5th Street

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 137 of 210



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014>. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 
09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

3

Norfolk, NE 68701
npowell@norfolkne.gov 
PAGE 5

Chris Daniels
600 1/2 West Benjamin Ave
Norfolk, NE 68701
Telephone Number: 402-370-2274

…

Mobile Number: 402-860-6380
Email Address: chrisd@huffconstructionllc.com

…

[  X  ] Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction
PAGE 6

§ 1.4.15 Contract Sum. The Contract Sum is the amount to be paid to the Design-Builder for performance of the Work 
after execution of the Design-Build Amendment, as identified in Article A.1 of the Design-Build Amendment. Fees 
associated with this work will be calculated based on total project cost.  These fees will be 8.5% for design fees and 6% 
for Construction Services.
PAGE 7

 N/A 

…

 See Below 

…

 Construction Vice President $90

 Construction Project Manager $60

 Construction Senior Superintendent $90

 Construction Project Superintendent $70

Design Team
Principal $230
Associate Principal $195
Senior Architect $165
Architect $150
Senior Architectural Designer $140
Architectural Designer $130
Senior Engineer $185
Engineer $155
Senior Engineering Designer $145
Engineering Designer $130
Senior Interior Designer $140
Interior Designer $105
Senior Construction Administrator $150
Administration $85
Intern $70

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 138 of 210



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014>. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 
09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

4

PAGE 8

§ 2.1.4.1 Payments are due and payable upon presentation of the Design-Builder’s invoice. Amounts unpaid  Forty 
Five  (  45  ) days after the invoice date shall bear interest at the rate entered below, or in the absence thereof at the legal 
rate prevailing from time to time at the principal place of business of the Design-Builder.

…

 Four  %   4
PAGE 12

Cost for the Preliminary Design (Documents to Design Development) shall be an amount Not to Exceed $30,000 
based off of the hourly rates presented in section 2.1.2 of this agreement.  This cost of $30,000 will come out of the 
total Design Fees (8.5% of total project cost).

PAGE 35

.2 AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit A, Design-Build Amendment, if executed

.4 AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit C, Sustainable Projects, if completed
.5 AIA Document E203™–2013, Building Information Modeling and Digital Data Exhibit, if completed, 

or the following:

  

.6 Other:.6 Other:
 Exhibit C – Owner Programs 
Exhibit D – Minimum Insurance Requirements

…

Josh Moenning, Mayor Chris Daniels, Vice President

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 139 of 210



AIA Document D401 – 2003. Copyright © 1992 and 2003. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 under 
Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1632522341)

1

Certification of Document’s Authenticity
AIA® Document D401™ – 2003

I,   , hereby certify, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, that I created the attached final document 
simultaneously with its associated Additions and Deletions Report and this certification at 09:38:05 ET on 02/14/2024 
under Order No. 4104247873 from AIA Contract Documents software and that in preparing the attached final 
document I made no changes to the original text of AIA® Document A141™ – 2014, Standard Form of Agreement 
Between Owner and Design-Builder, other than those additions and deletions shown in the associated Additions and 
Deletions Report.

_____________________________________________________________
(Signed) 

_____________________________________________________________
(Title) 

_____________________________________________________________
(Dated)

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 140 of 210



   Document A141
®

 – 2014 Exhibit B

Insurance and Bonds

Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit B. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:30:12 ET on 
02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1246656338)

1

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 

The author of this document has 
added information needed for its 
completion. The author may also 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 

Deletions Report that notes added 
information as well as revisions to the 
standard form text is available from 
the author and should be reviewed. A 
vertical line in the left margin of this 
document indicates where the author 
has added necessary information 
and where the author has added to or 
deleted from the original AIA text.

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification.

for the following PROJECT:
(Name and location or address)

Ta Ha Zouka Team Lockers
Norfolk, NE

THE OWNER:
(Name, legal status and address)

City of Norfolk, Nebraska, General Corporation
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701

THE DESIGN-BUILDER:
(Name, legal status and address)

Huff Construction Nebraska, LLC
600 1/2 West Benjamin Ave
Norfolk, NE 68701

THE AGREEMENT
This Insurance Exhibit is part of the accompanying agreement for the Project, between the 
Owner and the Design-Builder (hereinafter, the Agreement), dated the  Fourteenth day of  
February  in the year  2024 .
(In words, indicate day, month and year.)

TABLE OF ARTICLES

B.1 GENERAL

B.2 DESIGN BUILDER’S INSURANCE AND BONDS

B.3 OWNER’S INSURANCE

B.4 SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

ARTICLE B.1   GENERAL
The Owner and Design-Builder shall purchase and maintain insurance and provide bonds 
as set forth in this Exhibit B. Where a provision in this Exhibit conflicts with a provision in 
the Agreement into which this Exhibit is incorporated, the provision in this Exhibit will 
prevail.

ARTICLE B.2   DESIGN BUILDER’S INSURANCE AND BONDS
§ B.2.1 The Design-Builder shall purchase and maintain the following types and limits of 
insurance from a company or companies lawfully authorized to do business in the 
jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Design-Builder shall maintain the required 
insurance until the expiration of the period for correction of Work as set forth in 
Section 11.2.2.1 of the Agreement, unless a different duration is stated below:
(If the Design-Builder is required to maintain insurance for a duration other than the 

expiration of the period for correction of Work, state the duration.)

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 141 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit B. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:30:12 ET on 
02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1246656338)

2

  

§ B.2.1.1 Commercial General Liability with policy limits of not less than  One Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000  ) for 
each occurrence and  Two Million Dollars  ($  2,000,000 ) in the aggregate providing coverage for claims including 

.1 damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including occupational sickness or disease, and 
death of any person; 

.2 personal injury; 

.3 damages because of injury to or destruction of tangible property; 

.4 bodily injury or property damage arising out of completed operations; and

.5 contractual liability applicable to the Design-Builder’s obligations under Section 3.1.14 of the 
Agreement.

§ B.2.1.2 Automobile Liability covering vehicles owned by the Design-Builder and non-owned vehicles used by the 
Design-Builder with policy limits of not less than  One Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000  ) per claim and  One Million 
Dollars  ($  1,000,000  ) in the aggregate for bodily injury, death of any person, and property damage arising out of the 
ownership, maintenance and use of those motor vehicles specified in this Section B.2.1.2, along with any other 
statutorily required automobile coverage. 

§ B.2.1.3 The Design-Builder may achieve the required limits and coverage for Commercial General Liability and 
Automobile Liability through a combination of primary and excess liability insurance, provided such primary and 
excess insurance policies result in the same or greater coverage as those required under Sections B.2.1.1 and B.2.1.2. 

§ B.2.1.4 Workers’ Compensation at statutory limits. 

§ B.2.1.5 Employers’ Liability with policy limits as provided below:

 See Exhibit D – Minimum Insurance Requirements 

§ B.2.1.6 Professional Liability covering negligent acts, errors and omissions in the performance of professional 
services, with policy limits of not less than  One Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000   ) per claim and  Two Million Dollars  
($  2,000,000  ) in the aggregate.

(Paragraph deleted)

§ B.2.1.7.1 The Design-Builder may obtain a combined Professional Liability and Pollution Liability policy to satisfy 
the requirements set forth in Sections B.2.1.6 and B.2.1.7, with combined policy limits that are not less than  One 
Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000   ) per claim and  Two Million Dollars   ($  2,000,000  ) in the aggregate.

§ B.2.1.8 The Design-Builder shall provide written notification to the Owner of the cancellation or expiration of any 
insurance required by this Article B.2. The Design-Builder shall provide such written notice within five (5) business 
days of the date the Design-Builder is first aware of the cancellation or expiration, or is first aware that the cancellation 
or expiration is threatened or otherwise may occur, whichever comes first.

§ B.2.1.9 Additional Insured Obligations. The Owner shall be additional insureds on the Design-Builder’s primary and 
excess insurance policies for Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability and Pollution Liability. The 
additional insured coverage shall be primary and non-contributory to any of the Owner’s insurance policies. The 
additional insured coverage shall apply to both ongoing operations and completed operations. The policy limits 
applicable to the additional insureds shall be the same amount applicable to the named insured or, if the policy 
provides otherwise, policy limits not less than the amounts required under this Agreement.

§ B.2.1.10 Certificates of Insurance. The Design-Builder shall provide certificates of insurance acceptable to the 
Owner evidencing compliance with the requirements in this Article B.2: (1) prior to commencement of the Work; 
(2) upon renewal or replacement of each required policy of insurance; and (3) upon Owner’s written request. An 
additional certificate evidencing continuation of liability coverage, including coverage for completed operations, shall 
be submitted with the final Application for Payment as required by Section 9.10.2 of the Agreement and thereafter 
upon renewal or replacement of such coverage until the expiration of the time required by Section B.2.1. The 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 142 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit B. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:30:12 ET on 
02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1246656338)

3

certificates will show the Owner and its consultants and contractors as additional insureds on the Design-Builder’s 
primary and excess insurance policies for Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability, and Pollution 
Liability. Information concerning reduction of coverage on account of revised limits, claims paid under the General 
Aggregate or both, shall be furnished by the Design-Builder with reasonable promptness.

§ B.2.2 Performance Bond and Payment Bond
The Design-Builder shall provide surety bonds as follows: 
(Specify type and penal sum of bonds.)

Type Penal Sum ($0.00)
  N/A N/A

§ B.2.2.1 Upon the request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of bonds covering payment 
of obligations arising under the Agreement, the Design-Builder shall promptly furnish a copy of the bonds or shall 
permit a copy to be made.

ARTICLE B.3   OWNER’S INSURANCE
§ B.3.1 Owner’s Liability Insurance
The Owner shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Owner’s usual liability insurance.

§ B.3.2 Property Insurance
§ B.3.2.1 Unless otherwise provided, at the time of execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Contractor shall 
purchase and maintain, in a company or companies lawfully authorized to do business in the jurisdiction where the 
Project is located, property insurance written on a builder’s risk "all-risk" or equivalent policy form in the amount of 
the initial Contract Sum, plus the value of subsequent Modifications and cost of materials supplied or installed by 
others, comprising the total value for the entire Project at the site on a replacement cost basis without optional 
deductibles. If any construction that is part of the Work shall commence prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Owner shall, prior to commencement of construction, purchase and maintain property insurance as 
described above in an amount sufficient to cover the total value of the Work at the site on a replacement cost basis 
without optional deductibles. The insurance required under this section shall include interests of the Owner in the 
Project. The property insurance shall be maintained, unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents or 
otherwise agreed in writing by all persons and entities who are beneficiaries of the insurance, until the Owner has 
issued a Certificate of Substantial Completion in accordance with Section 9.8 of the Agreement. Unless the parties 
agree otherwise, upon issuance of a Certificate of Substantial Completion, the Owner shall replace the insurance 
policy required under this Section B.3.2 with another property insurance policy written for the total value of the 
Project that shall remain in effect until expiration of the period for correction of the Work set forth in Section 11.2.2 of 
the Agreement. 

§ B.3.2.1.1 The insurance required under Section B.3.2.1 shall include, without limitation, insurance against the perils 
of fire (with extended coverage) and physical loss or damage including, without duplication of coverage, theft, 
vandalism, malicious mischief, collapse, earthquake, flood, windstorm, falsework, testing and startup, temporary 
buildings and debris removal, including demolition occasioned by enforcement of any applicable legal requirements, 
and shall cover reasonable compensation for the Design-Builder’s services and expenses required as a result of such 
insured loss.

§ B.3.2.1.2 If the insurance required under Section B.3.2.1 requires deductibles, the Owner shall pay costs not covered 
because of such deductibles.

§ B.3.2.1.3 The insurance required under Section B.3.2.1 shall cover portions of the Work stored off the site, and also 
portions of the Work in transit.

§ B.3.2.1.4 Partial occupancy or use in accordance with Section 9.9 of the Agreement shall not commence until the 
insurance company or companies providing the insurance required under Section B.3.2.1 have consented to such 
partial occupancy or use by endorsement or otherwise. The Owner and the Design-Builder shall take reasonable steps 
to obtain consent of the insurance company or companies and shall, without mutual written consent, take no action 
with respect to partial occupancy or use that would cause cancellation, lapse or reduction of insurance.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 143 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit B. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:30:12 ET on 
02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1246656338)

4

§ B.3.2.2 Boiler and Machinery Insurance. The Owner shall purchase and maintain boiler and machinery insurance, 
which shall specifically cover commissioning, testing, or breakdown of equipment required by the Work, if not 
covered by the insurance required in Section B.3.2.1. This insurance shall include the interests of the Owner, 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractor and Subcontractors in the Work, and the Owner and 
Design-Builder shall be named insureds.

§ B.3.2.3 If the Owner does not intend to purchase the insurance required under Sections B.3.2.1 and B.3.2.2 with all 
of the coverages in the amounts described above, the Owner shall inform the Design-Builder in writing prior to any 
construction that is part of the Work. The Design-Builder may then obtain insurance that will protect the interests of 
the Owner, Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and Subcontractors in the Work. The cost of the 
insurance shall be charged to the Owner by an appropriate Change Order. If the Owner does not provide written notice, 
and the Design-Builder is damaged by the failure or neglect of the Owner to purchase or maintain insurance as 
described above, the Owner shall bear all reasonable costs and damages attributable thereto.

§ B.3.2.4 Loss of Use Insurance. At the Owner’s option, the Owner may purchase and maintain insurance to insure the 
Owner against loss of use of the Owner’s property due to fire or other hazards, however caused. The Owner waives all 
rights of action against the Design-Builder for loss of use of the Owner’s property, including consequential losses due 
to fire or other hazards covered under the property insurance required under this Exhibit B to the Agreement.

§ B.3.2.5 If during the Project construction period the Owner insures properties, real or personal or both, at or adjacent 
to the site by property insurance under policies separate from those insuring the Project, or if after final payment 
property insurance is to be provided on the completed Project through a policy or policies other than those insuring the 
Project during the construction period, the Owner shall waive all rights in accordance with the terms of 
Section B.3.2.7 for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss covered by this separate property insurance. All 
separate policies shall provide this waiver of subrogation by endorsement or otherwise.

§ B.3.2.6 Before an exposure to loss may occur, the Owner shall file with the Design-Builder a copy of each policy that 
includes insurance coverages required by this Section B.3.2. Each policy shall contain all generally applicable 
conditions, definitions, exclusions and endorsements related to this Project. The Owner shall provide written 
notification to the Design-Builder of the cancellation or expiration of any insurance required by this Article B.3. The 
Owner shall provide such written notice within five (5) business days of the date the Owner is first aware of the 
cancellation or expiration, or is first aware that the cancellation or expiration is threatened or otherwise may occur, 
whichever comes first.

§ B.3.2.7 Waivers of Subrogation. The Owner and Design-Builder waive all rights against (1) each other and any of 
their consultants, subconsultants, contractors and subcontractors, agents and employees, each of the other, and (2) any 
separate contractors described in Section 5.13 of the Agreement, if any, and any of their subcontractors, 
sub-subcontractors, agents and employees, for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent covered by 
property insurance obtained pursuant to Section B.3.2 or other property insurance applicable to the Work and 
completed construction, except such rights as they have to proceeds of such insurance held by the Owner as fiduciary. 
The Owner or Design-Builder, as appropriate, shall require of the separate contractors described in Section 5.13 of the 
Agreement, if any, and the subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, agents and employees of any of them, by appropriate 
agreements, written where legally required for validity, similar waivers each in favor of the other parties enumerated 
herein. The policies shall provide such waivers of subrogation by endorsement or otherwise. A waiver of subrogation 
shall be effective as to a person or entity even though that person or entity would otherwise have a duty of 
indemnification, contractual or otherwise, did not pay the insurance premium directly or indirectly, and whether or not 
the person or entity had an insurable interest in the property damaged.

§ B.3.2.8 A loss insured under the Owner’s property insurance shall be adjusted by the Owner as fiduciary and made 
payable to the Owner as fiduciary for the insureds, as their interests may appear, subject to requirements of any 
applicable mortgagee clause and of Section B.3.2.10. The Design-Builder shall pay the Architect, Consultants and 
Contractors their just shares of insurance proceeds received by the Design-Builder, and by appropriate agreements, 
written where legally required for validity, the Design-Builder shall require the Architect, Consultants and Contractors 
to make payments to their consultants and subcontractors in similar manner.

§ B.3.2.9 If required in writing by a party in interest, the Owner as fiduciary shall, upon occurrence of an insured loss, 
give bond for proper performance of the Owner’s duties. The cost of required bonds shall be charged against proceeds 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 144 of 210



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit B. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 09:30:12 ET on 
02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1246656338)

5

received as fiduciary. The Owner shall deposit in a separate account proceeds so received, which the Owner shall 
distribute in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as determined in accordance with 
the method of binding dispute resolution selected in the Agreement between the Owner and Design-Builder. If after 
such loss no other special agreement is made and unless the Owner terminates the Contract for convenience, 
replacement of damaged property shall be performed by the Design-Builder after notification of a Change in the Work 
in accordance with Article 6 of the Agreement.

§ B.3.2.10 The Owner as fiduciary shall have power to adjust and settle a loss with insurers unless one of the parties in 
interest shall object in writing within five days after occurrence of a loss to the Owner’s exercise of this power. If an 
objection is made, the dispute shall be resolved in the manner selected by the Owner and Design-Builder as the method 
of binding dispute resolution in the Agreement. If the Owner and Design-Builder have selected arbitration as the 
method of binding dispute resolution, the Owner as fiduciary shall make settlement with insurers or, in the case of a 
dispute over distribution of insurance proceeds, in accordance with the directions of the arbitrators.

ARTICLE B.4   SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
Special terms and conditions that modify this Insurance and Bonds Exhibit, if any, are as follows:

  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 145 of 210



Additions and Deletions Report for

AIA
®

 Document A141® – 2014 Exhibit B

This Additions and Deletions Report, as defined on page 1 of the associated document, reproduces below all text the author has added 
to the standard form AIA document in order to complete it, as well as any text the author may have added to or deleted from the original 
AIA text. Added text is shown underlined. Deleted text is indicated with a horizontal line through the original AIA text.

Note:  This Additions and Deletions Report is provided for information purposes only and is not incorporated into or constitute any part 
of the associated AIA document. This Additions and Deletions Report and its associated document were generated simultaneously by 
AIA software at 09:30:12 ET on 02/14/2024.

Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit B. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was 
produced at 09:30:12 ET on 02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1246656338)

1

PAGE 1

Ta Ha Zouka Team Lockers
Norfolk, NE

…

City of Norfolk, Nebraska, General Corporation
309 N 5th Street
Norfolk, NE 68701

…

Huff Construction Nebraska, LLC
600 1/2 West Benjamin Ave
Norfolk, NE 68701

…

This Insurance Exhibit is part of the accompanying agreement for the Project, between the Owner and the 
Design-Builder (hereinafter, the Agreement), dated the  Fourteenth day of  February  in the year  2024 .
PAGE 2

§ B.2.1.1 Commercial General Liability with policy limits of not less than  One Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000  ) for 
each occurrence and  Two Million Dollars  ($  2,000,000 ) in the aggregate providing coverage for claims including 

…

§ B.2.1.2 Automobile Liability covering vehicles owned by the Design-Builder and non-owned vehicles used by the 
Design-Builder with policy limits of not less than  One Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000  ) per claim and  One Million 
Dollars  ($  1,000,000  ) in the aggregate for bodily injury, death of any person, and property damage arising out of the 
ownership, maintenance and use of those motor vehicles specified in this Section B.2.1.2, along with any other 
statutorily required automobile coverage. 

…

 See Exhibit D – Minimum Insurance Requirements 

§ B.2.1.6 Professional Liability covering negligent acts, errors and omissions in the performance of professional 
services, with policy limits of not less than  One Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000   ) per claim and  Two Million Dollars  
($  2,000,000  ) in the aggregate.

§ B.2.1.7 Pollution Liability covering performance of the Work, with policy limits of not less than    ($    ) per claim 
and    ($    ) in the aggregate. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 146 of 210



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit B. Copyright © 2004 and 2014>. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was 
produced at 09:30:12 ET on 02/14/2024 under Order No.4104247873 which expires on 12/25/2024, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1246656338)

2

§ B.2.1.7.1 The Design-Builder may obtain a combined Professional Liability and Pollution Liability policy to satisfy 
the requirements set forth in Sections B.2.1.6 and B.2.1.7, with combined policy limits that are not less than  One 
Million Dollars  ($  1,000,000   ) per claim and  Two Million Dollars   ($  2,000,000  ) in the aggregate.

…

§ B.2.1.9 Additional Insured Obligations. The Owner and its consultants and contractors shall be additional insureds on 
the Design-Builder’s primary and excess insurance policies for Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability 
and Pollution Liability. The additional insured coverage shall be primary and non-contributory to any of the Owner’s 
insurance policies. The additional insured coverage shall apply to both ongoing operations and completed operations. 
The policy limits applicable to the additional insureds shall be the same amount applicable to the named insured or, if 
the policy provides otherwise, policy limits not less than the amounts required under this Agreement.
PAGE 3

  N/A N/A

…

§ B.3.2.1 Unless otherwise provided, at the time of execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Owner Contractor 
shall purchase and maintain, in a company or companies lawfully authorized to do business in the jurisdiction where 
the Project is located, property insurance written on a builder’s risk "all-risk" or equivalent policy form in the amount 
of the initial Contract Sum, plus the value of subsequent Modifications and cost of materials supplied or installed by 
others, comprising the total value for the entire Project at the site on a replacement cost basis without optional 
deductibles. If any construction that is part of the Work shall commence prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Owner shall, prior to commencement of construction, purchase and maintain property insurance as 
described above in an amount sufficient to cover the total value of the Work at the site on a replacement cost basis 
without optional deductibles. The insurance required under this section shall include interests of the Owner, 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and Subcontractors Owner in the Project. The property insurance 
shall be maintained, unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents or otherwise agreed in writing by all 
persons and entities who are beneficiaries of the insurance, until the Owner has issued a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion in accordance with Section 9.8 of the Agreement. Unless the parties agree otherwise, upon issuance of a 
Certificate of Substantial Completion, the Owner shall replace the insurance policy required under this Section B.3.2 
with another property insurance policy written for the total value of the Project that shall remain in effect until 
expiration of the period for correction of the Work set forth in Section 11.2.2 of the Agreement. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 147 of 210



The City of Norfolk is requesting Proposals from prequalified Design-Builders for Team 
Lockers at Ta Ha Zouka Park. The information provided in the proposal will be used by the 
City of Norfolk to select the Design-Builder utilizing criteria issued in the Act and defined 
herein. The City of Norfolk has completed the prequalification process and prequalified two 
firms. Proposals from other prospective design-Builders will not be accepted. 
 
The Design-Builder selected by the City of Norfolk will enter into a Design-Build Contract with 
the City of Norfolk to furnish a) architectural, engineering and related design services for the 
Project, and b) labor, material, supplies, equipment, and construction services for the Project. 
This process is pursuant to the Act. 
 
The scope of the Project is 

  Design Recommendations (Minimum) 
• Minimum 4,000 square feet 
• 2 lane batting cage (2 softball lanes) 
• One set of public restrooms to accommodate spectators at a three-field softball 

complex 
• One set of lockers for two teams 
• One set of restrooms for the locker room area 
• ADA parking stalls 
• Year-round facility 
• Concrete ADA connection into the existing common areas 
• Storage Room 
• Family Restroom 
• Not to exceed budget of $1,350,000, including design and construction  
• Looking for creativity, resourcefulness, and the size of the indoor lockers/winter 

recreation space from the design-build team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit C

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 148 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 
Location of supporting documents to this RFP are listed below: 

• The performance criteria prepared by the Performance Criteria 
Developer, budget and schedule parameters and bond and insurance 
required by law or the City of Norfolk are found in Exhibit 3.1. 

• The process for evaluation of proposals for the design-build contract 
are found in Exhibit 3.2.  

• The criteria for evaluation of proposals and the relative weights of each 
criterion are found in Exhibit 3.3. 

• The terms and conditions of the design-build contract are found in Exhibit 3.4. 
• Policies adopted by the City of Norfolk relevant to the project and 

those promulgated by (§§13-2901 – 13-2914) are found in Exhibit 
3.5. 

 
Prequalified prospective Design-Builders shall respond to all items in this questionnaire. Failure to 
do so will deem the Proposal nonresponsive at the discretion of the City of Norfolk. If the 
prospective Design-Builder team is a prime contractor-subcontractor relationship or joint venture, 
both entities must complete their relevant information on the questionnaire. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 149 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 

 
 

 (Maximum 
Percentage of Total Points Available - 10%)

a. Surety - provide certification from surety that Design-Builder's bonding capacity is 
adequate to construct the proposed project 

 
b. Insurance - provide certificates from your insurance carrier(s) for required 

coverage for both design and construction services 
 

(Maximum 
Percentage of Total Points Available - 30%)

a. For both the design and construction components of the Design-Builder team, 
provide an organization chart identifying the lead individual in each role 
classification. These include, but are not limited to, the following services (if 
applicable) for the project: 

 
(i) Design-Builder Principal 
(ii) Project Superintendent 
(iii) Project Foreman 
(iv) Project Architect 
(v) Design Architect 
(vi) Structural Engineer 
(vii) Mechanical Engineer 
(viii) Civil/Site Engineer 

 
b. List any specialty subconsultants required for the project. 

 
c. For each individual listed above, provide the following resume information: 

 
(i) Name and role in the project 
(ii) Relationship to Design-Builder (employee, subconsultant, 

subcontractor, etc.) 
(iii) Company 
(iv) Contact information (address, phone) 
(v) Professional registrations/certifications 
(vi) Years with current firm and with other firms 
(vii) List of five (5) relevant or similar projects including: 

a. Project name and brief scope of services provided 
b. Year completed 
c. Reference (name, title, phone and email address) 

 
 
 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 150 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 (Maximum Percentage of Total Points Available - 30%)

a. Design-Builder shall list a reference in the following categories (provide name, 
company, address, phone, and relationship to the reference): 

(i) Financial (bank or surety) 
(ii) Project of similar scope (contractual point of contact for City of Norfolk) 
(iii) Facility user of project of similar scope (such as school principal, 

department manager or facility manager) 
 

 (Maximum Percentage of Total Points 
Available - 30%) 

The Design-Builder shall list five (5) completed projects of similar scope or budget and provide the 
following information for each:

a. Project name - brief description of relevance to the project of this RFP 
b. Address 
c. Owner, contact name, title, address and phone 
d. Design Professional – firm name, contact name, address and phone 
e. Type of project delivery (design-build, CM@Risk, design-bid-build) 
f. Project performance: 

(i) Budget 
(ii) Schedule (days/months) 
(iii) List three specific problems and how they were resolved 
(iv) Claims made by owner regarding budgets, schedule or performance 

 
 (Maximum 

Percentage of Total Points Available - 30%) 

a. provide detailed information on the five (5) listed projects above with respect to: 
(i) Design schedule - proposed and actual (number of calendar days total 

for programming, preliminary design and final design) 
(ii) Construction schedule - proposed and actual 

a. Date of Substantial Completion 
b. Date of Final Completion 
c. Post-construction warranty work required 
d. Was the client inconvenienced by the delivery dates of any of 

the services provided by the Design-Builder? 
 

(Percentage of Total Points Available - 10%)

a. Has the Design-Builder, or any proposed member of the design-build team 
been cited for failure to comply with local, state or federal law of any nature in 
the last five years?  Yes  No If yes, explain in detail. 

 
b. Are there any civil or criminal actions pending against the Design-Builder or any 

proposed member of the design-build team?  Yes  No If yes, Explain in 
detail. 

 
 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 151 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



(Percentage of Total Points Available - 20%)

a. Subcontractors: List the work on this project you expect to subcontract 
 

b. Current capacity: provide a list of your firm's and your sub-consultant’s current 
contracted projects and the scope of those projects. 

 
 

c. Design-Builder's Approach to Design and Construction of the Project 
(i) Provide a written approach on how the design and construction team will 

take the information provided by the City of Norfolk and performance 
criteria developer and develop final design, construction documents, budget 
control, schedule, and construction processes. The approach may contain 
graphic materials illustrating the proposed approach to design and 
construction, but shall not include price proposals.

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 152 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



Design-Builder's submittal of a proposal implies agreement to the following conditions: 
 

1. An architect or engineer licensed to practice in Nebraska will participate 
substantially in those aspects of the offering, which involve architectural or 
engineering services. 

 
2. At the time of the design-build offering, the Design-Builder will furnish to the City 

of Norfolk a written statement identifying the architect or engineer who will perform 
the architectural or engineering work for the design-build project. 

 
3. The architect or engineer engaged by the Design-Builder to perform the 

architectural or engineering work with respect to the design-build project will have 
direct supervision of such work and may not be removed by the Design-Builder 
prior to the completion of the project without the written consent of the governing 
body of the City of Norfolk. 

 
4. A Design-Builder offering design-build services with its own employees who are 

design professionals licensed to practice in Nebraska will: 
 

a. Comply with the Engineers and Architects Regulation Act by 
procuring a certificate of authorization to practice architecture or 
engineering; and 

b. Submit proof of sufficient professional liability insurance. 
 

5. The rendering of architectural or engineering services by a licensed architect or 
engineer employed by the Design-Builder will conform to the Engineers and 
Architects Regulation Act and rules and regulations adopted under said act. 

 
6. Other information which the City of Norfolk chooses to require. 

 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 153 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



The objective of our design-build project is a public restroom and team locker system for the Kohler Softball 
complex. We would like the restrooms to be made of block construction. We are looking for a unique locker 
room design that can double as indoor batting cages in the winter, and a facility that can also be used for 
youth programs. The attached concept shows the location of the facility (Exhibit 3.8). The facility will need 
an ADA concrete connection with existing common space.    
   
Design and construct team lockers, restrooms, an indoor recreation area to accommodate indoor 
batting cages for two softball lanes, ADA common space access and ADA parking with a 
projected budget not to exceed $1,350,000. Creativity, resourcefulness and facility size will be 
measured in this project. 
 

Design Recommendations (Minimum) 
• Minimum 4,000 square feet 
• 2 lane batting cage (2 softball lanes that meet fast pitch requirements at the 

college level) 
• One set of public restrooms to accommodate spectators at a three-field softball 

complex 
o 5 stalls and 2 sinks for the men’s 
o 4 stalls and 3 sinks for the women’s 
o 4 Season facility 
o 4 Season restrooms 

• One set of lockers for two teams 
• One set of restrooms for the locker room area 

o 2 stalls and 1 sink in each 
o 4 season restrooms 

• Block and/or commercial grade metal stud walls 
• 6 ADA parking stalls 
• Year-round facility 
• Concrete ADA connection into the existing common areas 
• Storage Room 
• Family Restroom 
• Not to exceed budget of $1,350,000, including design and construction  
• Looking for creativity, resourcefulness, and the size of the indoor lockers/winter 

recreation space from the design-build team 
 
 
Execution of Contracts and Bonds: Each contract must be executed in three (3) original  
counterparts and no more and there shall be executed original counterparts of the Contractor's  
performance bond in equal number to the executed original counterparts of the Contract, and  
there shall be executed original counterparts of the Contractor's certificate of Proof of  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 154 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



Insurance Carriage in equal number to the executed original counterparts of the Contract.  
One copy of such executed documents will be retained by the Owner, the second will be  
delivered to the Contractor and the third to the Engineer. The costs of executing the contract,  
bonds, and proof of insurance certificates, including all notarial fees and expense are to be  
paid by the Contractor to whom the contract is awarded. 
 
Contractor's Insurance: Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the  
contract, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may  
arise from or in connection with the performance of the work on the specific project covered  
by these specifications hereunder by the Contractor, the Contractor’s agents, representatives,  
employees or subcontractors. The cost of such insurance shall be included in Contractor's  
bid. 
 

• Commercial General Liability: $1,000,000 combined single limit for bodily  
injury, personal injury and property damage.  

• Automobile Liability: $1,000,000 combined single limits and property damage.  
• Workers' Compensation and Employers' Liability; Workers' Compensation and  

Employers' Liability Limits as required by the Labor Code of the State of  
Nebraska. 

• The City, its officials, and employees are to be covered as additional insurers as  
respects to; liability arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of the  
Contractor; products and completed operations of the Contractor; premises owned,  
leased or used by the Contractor; or automobiles owned, leased, hired, or borrowed  
by the Contractor. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the scope  
of protection afforded to the City, its officials, or employees. 

 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 155 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



CITY OF NORFOLK 
309 N. 5th STREET (City Hall) 
Norfolk, Nebraska 68701 
 
Proposals from Design-Builder Teams/Firms for the construction of ____________ 
_______________________ will be received by the City of Norfolk, Nebraska at the Office of the 
City Clerk until 2:00 o’clock p.m. on _____________________, 20____, and then reviewed by the 
Selection Committee. 
 
The Details of the Project may be examined at the following location: 

 
Office of the City Engineer 

309 N. 5th Street 
City Hall 

Norfolk, Nebraska, 68701 
 
 

Copies of the proposal details may be obtained from the office of the City Engineer, City of 
Norfolk, 309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 687017, 402-844-2000. 
 
 

              
Date    Mayor, City of Norfolk, Nebraska 
 
 

Publish 
 
Two Affidavits of Publication

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 156 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 
 

 

The City of Norfolk shall evaluate proposals for a design-build contract in accordance with the following: 
 

The request for proposal is being sent only to the prequalified Design-Builders selected 
as part of the prior prequalification process Design-Builders shall submit proposals as 
required by the Request for Proposals. The City of Norfolk may only proceed to 
negotiate and enter into a design-build contract if there are at least two proposals from 
prequalified Design-Builders. 

 
Proposals shall be sealed and shall not be opened until expiration of the time established 
for making proposals as set forth in the request for proposals. 

 
Proposals may be withdrawn at any time prior to acceptance. The City of Norfolk shall 
have the right to reject any and all proposals except for the purpose of evading the 
provisions and policies of the Act. The City of Norfolk may thereafter solicit new 
proposals using the same or different project performance criteria. 

 
In evaluating proposals in accordance with criteria in Exhibit 3.3 of the request for 
proposals, the City of Norfolk shall refer the proposals for recommendation to a 
selection committee. The selection committee shall be a group of at least eight persons 
designated by the City of Norfolk. Members of the selection committee shall include: 

 
Two members of the City Council 
City Administrator 
The Performance Criteria Developer 
City Engineer 
Department head responsible for the project after it is constructed 
Any person having special expertise relevant to selection of a design-builder 
A resident of the City of Norfolk other than individuals listed above 

 
A member of the selection committee designated under subdivision (f) and (g) of this 
subsection shall not be employed by or have a financial or other interest in a design-builder or 
construction manager who has a proposal being evaluated and shall not be employed by the 
political subdivision or the performance-criteria developer. 
 

The City of Norfolk shall rank in order of preference the Design-Builders pursuant to 
the criteria in the request for proposals and taking into consideration the 
recommendation of the selection committee pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 13-2911. 

 
The City of Norfolk may attempt to negotiate a design-build contract with the 
highest ranked Design-Builder selected by the selection committee and may 
enter into a design-build contract after negotiations. The negotiations shall 
include a final determination of the manner by which the Design-Builder selects 
any subcontractor. 

 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 157 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



If the City of Norfolk is unable to negotiate a satisfactory design-build contract 
with the highest ranked Design-Builder, the City of Norfolk may then undertake 
negotiations with the second highest ranked Design-Builder and may enter into a 
design-build contract after negotiations. If the City of Norfolk is unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory contract with the second highest ranked Design-Builder, 
the City of Norfolk may undertake negotiations with the third highest ranked 
Design-Builder, if any, and may enter into a design-build contract after 
negotiations. 

 
If the City of Norfolk is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with any of the 
ranked Design-Builders, the City of Norfolk , may either revise the request for 
proposals and solicit new proposals or cancel the design-build process under the 
Act. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 158 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 

The selection committee shall evaluate proposals taking into consideration the criteria enumerated below 
with the maximum percentage of total points for evaluation which may be assigned to each criterion.   
 
 
 

1 The financial resources of the Design-Builder to complete the project 10 
2 The ability of the proposed personnel of the Design-Builder to perform 30 
3 The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and 

efficiency of the Design-Builder 
30 

4 The quality of performance on previous projects 30 
5 The ability of the Design-Builder to perform within the time specified 30 
6 The previous and existing compliance of the design-build with laws 

relating to the contract 
10 

7 Such other information as may be secured having a bearing on the 
selection 

20 

 
*Committee shall determine Percentages for each category not to exceed the Maximum Percentages.  
Total of all Percentages shall equal 100%. 

(See Exhibit 3.3A Score Sheet) 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 159 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 

1)       

2) ________________________________________________________________ 

Score each firm in the seven categories listed below. Score each category from 1 (lowest) to 10 (highest). 
 
 
 

   

1 The financial resources of the Design-Builder to 
complete the project 

   

2 The ability of the proposed personnel of the 
Design-Builder to perform 

   

3 The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, 
experience and efficiency of the Design-builder 

   

4 The quality of performance on previous projects    

5 The ability of the Design-Builder to perform within the 
time specified. 

   

6 The previous and existing compliance of the 
Design-Builder with laws relating to the contract 

   

7 Such other information as may be secured having a 
bearing on the selection 

   

Total  100 

 
*Total of Percentages shall equal 100%. 

Total Score  ____________ 
 
 
_____________________________ 
       Scorer’s Name 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 160 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 

Identify the document here. The proposed general terms and conditions shall be consistent with 
nationally recognized model general terms and conditions which are standard in the design and 
construction industry in Nebraska. 
 

American Institute of Architects – Nebraska, P. O. Box 8045 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68501, 402-472-1476, 
http://www.aiane.org/ 
 

Associated General Contractors-Nebraska Building Chapter 
1327 H Street #202, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, 402-438-0400, http://www.agcnebuilders.com 
 

American Council of Engineering Companies-Nebraska 301 South 13th Street, 
#101, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, 402-476-2572, http://www.acecnebraska.org 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 161 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 

 

The Performance Criteria Developer (PCD) will develop as part of the request for proposals 
performance or product criteria that will be used to evaluate the construction under a design-build 
contract. 
 
The PCD may refer to standard specifications i.e. Nebraska Department of Roads, AWWA, 
Uniform Plumbing Code or other specifications depending upon the project. 
 
To ensure adherence to the performance criteria the PCD will conduct site visits at critical times 
to measure, observe, or count the material being placed in the project. Project labels will be 
checked against performance criteria. Also shop drawings will be required for adherence to the 
performance criteria. 
 
Concrete and soil testing will be conducted by a Nebraska Department of Roads Certified 
Inspector and laboratory. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 162 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 

 

 
Disputes relating to the execution of solicitation of Design-Builder or construction management at 
risk contracts will be submitted to the Public Works Director in writing. The Public Works Director 
will, within ten (10) working days, meet with the protesting individuals or firms and attempt to 
resolve the issue. Within ten (10) working days, after the meeting the Public Works Director will 
issue a decision. 
 
If the protesting parties are not satisfied with the decision, they can, in writing, ask for a hearing 
before the Public Services, Traffic, and Infrastructure Sub-Committee of the City Council.  This 
meeting will be scheduled within sixty (60) days of the written protest. The Public Services, 
Traffic, and Infrastructure Sub-Committee will hear the protest and issue a recommendation on 
the protest within thirty (30) days of the hearing. The City Council shall then vote on the Public 
Services, Traffic, and Infrastructure Sub-Committee recommendation at the next scheduled 
Council meeting. 
 
If the protesting parties are not satisfied with the City Council’s decision they can file legal action 
in the County or District Court. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 163 of 210

Parks and Recreation 



 

 

 

1. Procedures for selecting and hiring a Performance-Criteria  Developer 
 

2. Procedures for the preparation and content of requests for proposals 
 

3. Procedures and standards to be used to prequalify Design-Builders and construction 
managers 

 
4. Procedures for preparing and submitting proposals 

 
5. Procedures for evaluating proposals in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. § 13-2908 to 13-

2910 
 

6. Procedures for negotiations between the City of Norfolk and the Design-Builders or 
construction managers submitting proposals prior to the acceptance of a proposal 

 
7. Procedures for filing and acting on formal protests relating to the solicitation or execution 

of design-build contracts or construction manager at risk contracts; and 
 

8. Procedures for evaluation of construction under a design-build contract by the 
performance-criteria developer to determine adherence to the performance criteria 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 164 of 210

Parks and Recreation ~'z 
Cityof Nb'i-folk 

N E B R A S K A 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 165 of 210

Parks and Recreation 

Family 
Restroom 

Locker Room 

Women's 

Restroom 

Restroom 

t) 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 

Ret racta ble wa ll fo r 2 
batting cages 

Restroom 

Locker Room 

Men's 

Restroom 

Custodial 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 166 of 210

Parks and Recreation ~'z iN 
Cityof Norfolk 

N E B R A S K A 



 

CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 

INSURANCE CHECKLIST 

 
Items marked "X" are required to be provided if award is made to your firm. 
 
Coverages Required Limits (Figures Denote Minimums) 
 
 _X_ 1. Workers' Compensation & Statutory limits of State of Nebraska 
 _X_ 2. Employers' Liability  $100,000 accident, $100,000 disease, 
     $500,000 policy limit disease 
 ___ 3. USL&H Endorsement  
 _X_ 4. General Liability Statutory 
    $ 1,000,000 per occurrence 
 _X_ 5. Premises/Operations  
    Items #'s 4-9, & 11, 12 require $ 1,000,000 
     combined single limit for bodily injury and 
 _X_ 6. Independent Contractors  property damage each occurrence 
 _X_ 7. Products 
 _X_ 8. Completed Operations 
 ___ 9. Contractual Liability $________ gen. agg., if appl. 
 ___ 10. Personal Injury Liability $________ each off./agg., pers. inj. 
 ___   11. XCU Coverages 
 ___ 12. Broad Form P.D. 
 _X_ 13. Automobile Liability $ 1,000,000 Bodily Injury & Property 
 _X_ 14. Owned, Hired, & Non-owned  Damage each accident 
 ___ 15. Motor Carrier Act End. 
 ___ 16. Umbrella Liability $________ BI & PD, & Pers. Inj. 
 ___ 17. Garage Liability $________ BI & PD each occ. 
 
 ___ 18. Garagekeepers' Legal Liability Indicate Limit $_______ - Compr. 
 
    Indicate Limit $_______ - Coll. 
 _X_ 19. Professional Liability $ 1,000,000 per occurrence 
 
 _X_ 20. City named as additional insured on other than W/C & Auto.  This coverage is primary to all 

other coverages the City may possess. 
 
 ___ 21. Other Insurance Required:  
 
 _X_ 22. Forty-five (45) Days Cancellation, non-renewal, material change or coverage reduction notice 

required.  The words "endeavor to" are to be eliminated from the Notice of Cancellation 
provision on standard ACORD certificates. 

 ___ 23. Best's Guide Rating:  "B" VIII or better, or its Equivalent 
 ___ 24. The Certificate Must State Bid Number and Bid Title 
 _X_ 25. Medical expense (any one person) $5,000 minimum 

 

BIDDER STATEMENT 

 
I understand the Insurance Requirements of these specifications and will comply in full if awarded this 
contract for the life of the contract. 

 
 _________________________ ___________________________ 
 Bidder (Printed Name) Signature/Date 

Exhibit D

3/4/2024 Enclosure 30
Page 167 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 168 of 210

CITY OF NORFOLK 
DOWNTOWN REVITILIZATION 

FA~ADE & SIGNAGE 
IMPROVEMENT 
PROCRAM 

INFORMATION 
AND 
APPLICATION 

City of Norfolk 
Economic Development 

{402) 844-2260 
econ om icdevelopment@norfolkne.gov 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 169 of 210

CONTENTS 
PROGRAM REVIEW 

Section l: Statement of Purpose ............................................ pg. l 
Section 2: Funding Mechanism .............................................. pg. l 
Section 3: Loan Details .................................................................. pg. l 

PROGRAM PURPOSE ......................................... pg. 2-3 

Section l: Definitions ..................................................................... pg. 4 
Section 2: Design Guidelines ................................................... pg. 5 

Supporting Data Checklist ....................................................... pg. 11 
Hold Harmless Agreement ..................................................... pg. 12 
United States Citizen Attestation Form ......................... pg. 13 
Attached Map of Program Boundaries .......................... pg. 14 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 170 of 210

PROCRAM 
ERVIEW 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



 
 

1 

Section 1: Statement of Purpose 
 

To improve the blighted appearance of non-residential buildings in the downtown area 
by restoring, renovating, replacing, or reconstructing facades and signage. 
 

Section 2: Funding Mechanism 
 

A forgivable loan program administered by the Vehicle Offstreet Parking District 
No.1 of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska (VPD) and the Northeast Nebraska Economic 
Development District (NENEDD) and funded by the City of Norfolk, Nebraska 
Downtown Revitalization (DTR) Community Development Block Grant, as available. 
 

Section 3: Loan Details 
 
❖ Available to property owners and tenants within the designated Norfolk DTR 

Revitalization Area as identified in the 2023 Downtown Area Study consisting of 
approximately 217.74 acres.  The study area encompasses north of Phillip Avenue, 

from Pine Street west to 8th Street, to Braasch Avenue. Additionally, the study area 
encompasses the area southeast from 4th Steet and Elm to 1st, then southeast from 
Klug Avenue and N. Cotton Street, to Braasch. See attached map.  

 
❖ Property, for purposes of this program, is defined as a parcel identified by the Madison 

County Assessor’s office with a unique parcel identification number.  
 
❖ Eligible DTR improvements are rehabilitation of non-residential buildings such as 

facades, storefronts, awnings, and signage. 
 
❖ Application must meet approval of Vehicle Offstreet Parking District No.1 of the City of 

Norfolk, Nebraska Design Advisory Board (DAB). Applications will be approved based 
on the following priorities, Building Preservation, Visual Impact in the Downtown 
District, Historic Restoration, and Project Readiness. 

 
❖ This program is structured as a forgivable loan.  

o Forgivable loan for 50% of the total DTR project cost 

o Maximum of $25,000, for each application.  
o The amount awarded will be determined by the DAB and will be based on 

the number of applications received and the availability of funding.   

o The forgivable loan will be forgiven over a 5-year period. 
 
❖ Application deadline will be determined by the City of Norfolk.  If funding is still 

available after the first application cycle, additional cycles and accompanying 
deadlines will be determined by the City of Norfolk. 

 

❖ If approved by the City of Norfolk, the 5-year forgivable loan can be transferred by a 
property owner, at the time of a sale to a property purchaser.  The loan will be 
prorated at 20% forgiven each year. 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 171 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 172 of 210

PROCRAM 
RPOSE 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



 
 

2 

The purpose of this forgivable loan program is to restore, improve, and/or to create 
historic architectural features to façades of non-residential buildings within the designated 
Norfolk DTR Area as identified in the 2023 Downtown Area Study consisting of 

approximately 217.74 acres.  The study area encompasses north of Phillip Avenue, from 
Pine Street west to 8th Street, to Braasch Avenue. Additionally, the study area 
encompasses the area southeast from 4th Steet and Elm to 1st, then southeast from Klug 

Avenue and N. Cotton Street, to Braasch. See attached map. 

 
A. Where practical, building façades planned for upgrading shall be restored to their 

original period design. If the Design Advisory Board determines that restoring the 

façade to the original period design is not practical, then a similar architectural 

design shall be used. All horizontal and vertical features (lintels and piers) shall be 

retained. 

B. If a building does not have a historically significant architectural design or feature, 

then another proposed design may be submitted to qualify for the program. 

C. All storefronts shall be designed, constructed, and maintained to complement and 

accent the architectural features of the building. Likewise, all accessories, signs, 

and awnings shall be harmonious with the overall character of the building. 

D. All color schemes shall accent the building and harmonize with adjacent buildings. 

Historical murals will be considered only on a case-by-case basis. 

E. The maximum forgivable loan is 50% of the total approved façade, storefront, 

awning, or signage improvement project cost, up to a $25,000 forgivable loan, per 

property, per application cycle. Property, for purposes of this program, is defined 

as a parcel assigned a unique identification number by the Madison County 

Assessor’s office. 

F. More than one forgivable loan is allowed on each property. Property that has not 

been approved a forgivable loan will be given priority over property that has 

received one or more forgivable loans either from this program or from earlier 

façade improvement programs. For example, a property with one forgivable loan 

will be given priority over a property with two or more forgivable loans, and so on.   

G. Any work for which a forgivable loan is sought, should not begin until the design 

is authorized by the Design Advisory Board and the applicant has received a signed 

and dated Notice to Proceed from Northeast Nebraska Economic Development 

District. 

H. Forgivable loan monies shall not be used to perform general repair, structural, or 

habitable work, or otherwise to meet code to occupy the building. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 173 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



 
 

3 

I. To qualify for forgivable loan funds, a fully completed application, with all 

appropriate conceptual plans and other required documents must be submitted to 

the City of Norfolk. Applications with missing plans or documents will not be 

considered until all requirements are met. 

J. The project work proposed by the applicant requires at least two bids from outside 

sources to verify that the costs are within reasonable parameters. 

K. Contractors are required to comply with Davis-Bacon Wage Determinations, 

System for Award Management (SAM) registration, and E-Verify requirements 

(contact Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District for additional 

information). 

L. Contractors must secure all required building and construction related permits 

from the City and will be expected to complete the project in accordance with the 

approved plans, all applicable codes and ordinances, and standard building 

practices.  

M. If you are applying as an individual, an attestation of U.S. Citizenship form is 

required. 

N. Projects are subject to Tier II environmental review and approval from the State 

Historical Preservation Office.  

O. The Design Advisory Board is appointed by the Vehicle Offstreet Parking District 

No. 1 of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska. 

P. The loan forgiveness period is five (5) years. The improved façades and signage 

must remain intact on the building for a minimum period of five (5) years from 

date of completion. Any changes to improved facades and signage that occur prior 

to the five (5) years after the completion date may trigger repayment of loan.  

 

 

 

  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 174 of 210

.J!,'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
I B k 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 175 of 210

PROJECT 
SICN 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



 
 

4 

S Section 1: Definitions  

For the benefit of the entire City of Norfolk, Nebraska community, the Downtown 
Norfolk Façade and Signage Improvement Program encourages the improvement of 
façades and signage in the historic downtown district, to accentuate the historic 

elements of the downtown district through restoration, renovation, replacement, 
and/or reconstruction of facades, as defined below: 
 

Façade: Shall mean the exterior wall of a building exposed to public view from the 
building's exterior. This will typically include a visual impact with items such as 
awnings, windows, doors, and signage. 

 

Restoration: The preferred treatment for building façade improvement. 
Restoration is most applicable to buildings where there has been very little 

change to the building façade over time. Restoration results in the return of 

the façade to its original appearance through use of authentic materials and the 

replication of missing and/or deteriorated components. 
 

Renovation: Façade improvements which do not attempt to return the building 

to its original appearance. The objective should be a return in appearance to the 

appropriate period architecture of the building. Historic features should be 

preserved and inappropriate more recent remodeling, such as stucco, aluminum 
siding and vinyl siding, should be removed. All improvements made should be 

sensitive to historic details and materials and should respect any original character 

that remains today. 
 

Replacement: of façade is appropriate when most of the original facade is 
missing or has been significantly altered that restoration or renovation is now 

impractical. Façade designs should select materials, dimensions, and 

architectural details that are similar or compatible to surrounding buildings. 

Example: façade height, window size and spacing, materials, and colors. 
 

Reconstruction: Occurs when the building and its features no longer exist. With 

reconstruction, façade designs are created through new construction to replicate, 

mimic, resemble, or accentuate historic period details. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 176 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



 
 

5 

Section 2: Design Guidelines  

This program encourages the following specific design guidelines for façades and 
signage in downtown Norfolk: 
 

❖ Any contemporary design alterations should not destroy significant 
historical, architectural, or cultural material. 
 

❖ Distinguishing original qualities and character should be retained. 
 

❖ Historic material and distinctive architectural features should be retained. 

 
❖ Skilled craftsmanship that characterizes the building should be retained. 

 

❖ Deteriorated architectural features should be repaired rather than replaced. 
If replacement is necessary, new materials should match as closely as 
possible in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 

 
❖ Building  surface  cleaning  should  be  completed  using  the  gentlest  

means  possible.  Exterior sandblasting or methods that will damage historic 

building materials should be avoided. 
 

❖ Alterations to facades should be done in a manner that if the 

alterations were to be removed in the future, the integrity of the 
structure and subsurface would be unimpaired. 

 

❖ Non-original building siding such as stucco, vinyl and aluminum should 
be removed whenever possible. 

 

❖ Replacement glass should be similar in size color and reflectivity to 
the original. 

 
❖ Dark-tinted glass should not be used. 

 

❖ Original historically significant facades should be restored with as little 
physical alteration as possible. 

 

❖ The use of incompatible materials for reconstruction should be 
discouraged, e.g. aluminum or steel siding, faux brick, asphalt or 
cedar shingles, plastic, fiberglass and stucco. 

 
❖ Storefronts should incorporate the three design elements of a 

traditional storefront to retain the integrity of the streetscape: 

bulkhead, storefront windows, and transom windows. 
 

❖ Signage should accentuate the period architecture and should comply 

with local signage code ordinances. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 177 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 178 of 210

PROCRAM 
PROCESS 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



 
 

6 

PROGRAM PROCESS 

1. Application Submission: Completed application is submitted to the City of Norfolk, 

along with all items listed in the Supporting Data Checklist.  

2. Application Review: The Design Advisory Board (DAB) reviews applications and 

communicates formal approvals and/or denials to the City. Applications will be 

approved based on the following priorities: 

• Building Preservation 

• Visual Impact in the Downtown District 
• Historic Restoration 
• Project Readiness 

 
3. Conflicts of Interest: Members of the DAB, who are also property owners and/or 

tenants within the designated program area, are eligible to apply for the forgivable 

loan program. However, these property owners and/or tenants must abstain from 

voting on the award of such funds with respect to their own property to avoid any 

potential conflicts of interest. 

4. Applicant Contact: The City of Norfolk contacts applicant regarding status of 

application.  

5. Environmental Clearance: The City of Norfolk will contact the Northeast Nebraska 

Economic Development District for Tier II environmental review on approved 

applications. Please allow 60-90 days for approval & environmental clearance. 

6. Preconstruction Conference: The Northeast Nebraska Economic Development 

District will meet with the applicant and contractors to review and complete 

paperwork and legal documents. 

7. Notice to Proceed: After receiving a written, signed, and dated Notice to Proceed 

by the Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District, the project can proceed 

according to approved design. Any changes must be approved by both the DAB and 

Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District. 

8. Project Completed: The Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District works 

with applicant and contractors to complete final paperwork and legal documents.  

9. Proof of Payment: The applicant will be responsible for the contractor’s invoices 

and should then submit proof of payment of all invoices to the City of Norfolk for 

reimbursement. 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 179 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



 
 

7 

10. Disbursement: Upon receipt of an Acceptance of Project Completion from the 

Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District the City of Norfolk will then 

disburse forgivable loan proceeds to the applicant.  

11. Loan Forgiveness: The DAB reviews façade and signage improvements annually 

for a period of five (5) years to ensure that approved designs remain intact during 

this period. 

  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 180 of 210

~,,. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
f B R A K A 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 181 of 210

CRIEVENCES & 
AMENDMENTS 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



 
 

8 

GRIEVENCES 
 

If an applicant feels that he/she has been unfairly treated or discriminated against during 

the process of selection of projects to be funded, or during any other process of the 

Downtown Revitalization Façade Improvement Program, he/she may appeal the Design 

Advisory Board decision to the Vehicle Offstreet Parking District No. 1 of the City of 

Norfolk, Nebraska (VPD) for their consideration. 
 

The written appeal must be received by the chairperson of the VPD within 14 calendar 

days of the Design Advisory Boards’ decision. The VPD will then act to support or overturn 

the Design Advisory Board action within 14 calendar days of receipt of the written appeal. 

The applicant may appeal the decision of the VPD to the Mayor of Norfolk and the City 

Council within 14 days of the VPD decision.  The Mayor and the City Council have final 

authority in the decision and will act to support or overturn the action of the VPD within 

30 days of the receipt of the appeal by the City Clerk. 

 

Nebraska Department of Economic Development (NEDED) will be notified of any 

grievances that the grantee receives which are not resolved by the grantee’s standard 

grievance procedures.  In some cases it may be necessary to use a neutral third party as 

mediator between the business owner, the grantee, the grant administrator, and the 

contractor.  The third party mediator cannot be the grant administrator or a member of 

the grantees decision making council.  Economic Development Districts throughout the 

State of Nebraska would be utilized as the third party mediator.  It will be agreed, that 

the decision of the mediator will be final and binding on parties involved in the dispute.  All 

parties in a dispute have the right to contact the NEDED. 

 

AMENDMENTS TO PROGRAM GUIDELINES 
 

In an ongoing effort to improve the quality of the City of Norfolk’s Downtown 

Revitalization Façade Improvement Program, the City of Norfolk will accept suggestions 

from the public, program participants, contractors, program staff, or members of the 

Vehicle Offstreet Parking District No. 1 of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska and City Council 

with regard to program guideline amendments. All suggestions received will be taken 

under consideration by the City Council. All amendments to the guidelines must be 

approved by NEDED and the Nebraska Department of Economic Development. If 

approved by NEDED and  adopted by the City of Norfolk, the amendment will be included 

in the program guidelines. 
 

 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 182 of 210

~,,. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
f B R A K A 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 183 of 210

APPLICATION 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



 
 

9 

Applicant’s Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Applicant’s Phone #:_________________________________________________  

Applicant’s Email: ___________________________________________________ 

Business Name: __________________________________________________ 

Business Owner: ____________________________________________________ 

Business Unique Entity ID: ___________________________________________ 

Property Owner: ____________________________________________________ 

Property Address: ___________________________________________________ 

Property Legal Description: ___________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Type of Façade Improvement: (See Design Guidelines Part III)  

 Removal     New      Alteration     Repair 

Type of Signage Improvement: (See Design Guidelines Part III) 

 Removal     New      Alteration     Repair 

 Structural Alterations: _______________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________ 

Cosmetic Alterations: ________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Parcel ID #: ________________________________________________________ 

APPLICATION 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 | 402-844-2000 | www.norfolkne.gov 

Please return completed application, checklist, and all supporting documents to 

 Candice Alder at calder@norfolkne.gov or economicdevelopment@norfolkne.gov 

 

1 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 184 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



 
 

10 

Painting: (approximate sq. ft. area) _______________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Other Eligible Work: Please specify ______________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Total Cost of the Project:_____________________________________________ 

Amount Requesting: _________________________________________________ 

50% of total approved façade improvement project cost up to $25,000. 

 

 

  

I hereby submit the attached plans, specifications, and color samples for the proposed 

project, and I understand that these must be approved by the Design Advisory Board 
of the Norfolk Vehicle Parking District #1. No work shall begin until I have received 
written approval from the Northeast Nebraska Economic Development District. I 

further understand that the project must be completed within six (6) months from 
date of project approval, and I understand that loan monies will not be paid until the 
project is completed. I agree to maintain the completed project, in its approved design 

and colors, for a period of five (5) years from the date of completion. I understand 
that a Deed of Trust, in the amount equal to the loan amount, will be placed upon the 
property at the time that the property owner signs the promissory note. This lien, in 

favor of the City of Norfolk, will take a subordinate position to all existing liens. 
 

 
 

 
___________________________ 
Signature of Applicant 
  
 
 
___________________________ 
Printed Name & Title of Applicant

  
 
 
___________________________ 
Date

  
 

 

 
 
___________________________ 
Signature of Property Owner
  
 
 
__________________________ 
Printed Name & Title of Property Owner  
  
 
 
___________________________ 
Date 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 | 402-844-2000 | www.norfolkne.gov 

Please return completed application, checklist, and all supporting documents to 

 Candice Alder at calder@norfolkne.gov or economicdevelopment@norfolkne.gov 

 

2 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 185 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 186 of 210

SUPPORTINC 
DOCUMENTS 

309 N. 5th Street, Norfolk, NE 68701 I (402) 844-2260 I www.norfolkne.gov 



 
 

11 

SUPPORTING DATA CHECKLIST 

 
Please submit this checklist as part of your final application  

 

Major façade alteration:  

 Provide a rendering of major changes, including paint and awning colors where 
applicable  

 Submit two (2) written estimates from contractor and subcontractors  

 

Signs:  

 Provide a color rendering of the design chosen  
 Include specifications as to the size and width of the sign  
 Note how and where the sign will be hung on the building  
 Submit two (2) written estimates from a sign company or qualified contractor  

 Submit written verification that design and size comply with city codes  

 

Paint:  

 Provide samples of the colors chosen  
 Mark which color will be body color and which will be accent colors  
 Note where each color will be used  
 Submit two (2) written estimates from painter of your choice 

 

Awnings:  

 Provide information about color and style of awning chosen  
 Note where awning will be placed on building  

 Submit two (2) written estimates from qualified contractor  
 Submit written verification that design and size comply with city codes  

Note: Awning design must take into account the architectural style of the 

building  

 

Documents – All Applicants:  

 Submit signed Hold Harmless Agreement (see attached)  
 Signed United States Citizenship Attestation Form (see attached)  

(If applying as an individual) 
 Submit copy of current Occupational License and Certificate of Use (if applicable)  
 Provide Business’s Unique Entity ID  

(Visit www.sam.gov or contact Northeast Nebraska Economic Development 
District for assistance) 

  

 

  

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 187 of 210

.J!,'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
I B k 



 
 

12 

 

HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENT 
 

Release executed on the _______ day of  _________________, __________, by 

(Applicant) _____________________________________________________and 

(Property Owner, if different than applicant)____________________________________ 

of (Street Address) ____________________________________________________, 

City of Norfolk, County of Madison, State of Nebraska, referred to as Releasor(s). 

 
In consideration of being granted monies intended for the restoration, modifications, 

signage, or other physical changes to the property located at the above address, the 
Releasor(s), understands that they are solely responsible for providing their own 
contractors, and to assure that those contractors are fully insured and registered and 

have obtained all necessary permits in accordance with City regulations. The Releasor(s) 
waives, releases, discharges, and covenants not to sue the Vehicle Offstreet Parking 
District No.1 of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, the Northeast Nebraska Economic 

Development District, or the City of Norfolk, Nebraska for loss or damage, and claims or 
damages therefore, on account of any work that has been performed in accordance with 
City or State guidelines related to the façade and signage improvement program. 

 
Releasor(s) agrees that this release, waiver, and indemnity agreement is intended to be 
as broad and inclusive as permitted by the laws of the State of Nebraska, and that if any 

portion of the agreement is held invalid, it is agreed that the balance shall; 
notwithstanding, continue in full legal force and effect. 

 
Releasor(s) further states that it has carefully read the above release and knows the 
contents of the release and signs this release as its own free act. 

 
Releasor’s obligations and duties hereunder shall in no manner be limited or restricted 
by the maintaining of any insurance coverage related to the above referenced event. 

 
This release contains the entire agreement between the parties to this agreement and 
the terms of this release are contractual and not a mere recital. 
 

 
 
___________________________ ___________________________ 
Signature of Applicant Signature of Property Owner 
 
 
___________________________ __________________________ 
Printed Name & Title of Applicant Printed Name & Title of Property Owner 
 
 
___________________________ ___________________________ 
Date Date 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 188 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



 
 

13 

 

United States Citizenship Attestation Form 
 
For the purpose of complying with Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 4-108 through 4-114, I attest as 
follows: 
 

 
 

______  I am a citizen of the United States. 
 

— OR — 

 
______  I am a qualified alien under the federal Immigration and Nationality Act, my 

immigration status and alien number are as follows: 

  
 __________________________________, and I agree to provide a copy of 

my USCIS documentation upon request. 

 

 
I hereby attest that my response and the information provided on this form and 
any related application for public benefits are true, complete, and accurate, and 

I understand that this information may be used to verify my lawful presence in 
the United States. 
 

 

 
 
PRINT NAME 

 ______________________________________________________________ 
(first, middle, last) 

 

 
SIGNATURE
 ______________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

DATE__________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 189 of 210

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 



 
 

14 

 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 31
Page 190 of 210

Designated Study Area 

~'\/. 
i 

Cityof Norfolk 
L B R A S K A 

Designated Study Area & Area 1 

The study area as identified can be found in Figure 1. For this study, the study area will be known as 
the "Designated Study Area" which was reviewed for substandard and blight characteristics. 

Figure 1: Designated Study Area 

City of Norfolk, NE 

Norfolk Downtown Blight Study Area 

Created By: J. Ray; N. Schroeder 
Dale: June 2023 
Software: ArcGIS Pro 3.1.1 
File: R231059.0D 
This map Wfll prepared ustng inloonarion from reoord drawmgs 
auppied by JEO and/or Oll'Mtl applicable city county. lede,al, or 
public or pnvat• entitles.. JEO does nol guarantN lhe 8COJIKY 
of 1h11 map or lhe infDffl'lllllon used to prepare 11'111 map This •• 
no1a aceled plet. 



 

 

February 26, 2024 

Steve Rames 
Public Works/Engineering  
City of Norfolk 
309 N 5th St  
Norfolk, NE 68701 
 
Re:  Watermain Extension District No. 129 – N Hwy 129 
 
Dear Mr. Rames: 
 
McLaury Engineering recommends the acceptance of the bid from Rutjens Construction Inc. whose 
bid is as follows: 

• Watermain Extension District No. 129 - total of $320.035.00 

If you have any questions, please contact me at (402) 316-2625 or email me at 
nhoffman@mclauryengineering.com. 

Sincerely,  

 
 
 
Nick Hoffman 
Senior Project Engineer 
McLaury Engineering, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 32
Page 191 of 210



Unit
Estimated 

Quantity
BID Unit Price Bid Price BID Unit Price Bid Price

1 Mobilization Lump Sum 1 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 $13,980.00 $13,980.00

2 8” DIP Watermain LF 1310 $71.00 $93,010.00 $91.30 $119,603.00

3 8” RJ DIP Watermain LF 402 $82.00 $32,964.00 $96.20 $38,672.40

4 6” DIP Watermain LF 108 $62.00 $6,696.00 $81.40 $8,791.20

5 6” RJ DIP Watermain LF 167 $85.00 $14,195.00 $97.50 $16,282.50

6 1” Water Service Each 4 $1,955.00 $7,820.00 $3,450.00 $13,800.00

7 2” Water Service Each 2 $3,235.00 $6,470.00 $3,725.00 $7,450.00

8 6” Water Service Each 1 $3,255.00 $3,255.00 $3,710.00 $3,710.00

9 8" DIP 11.25 Bends 3 $775.00 $2,325.00 $726.00 $2,178.00

10 8" DIP 45 Bends Each 2 $765.00 $1,530.00 $1,025.00 $2,050.00

11 8" Gate Valve Each 4 $2,581.00 $10,324.00 $2,850.00 $11,400.00

12 16" Gate Valve Each 0 $0.00 $0.00 $1,140.00 $0.00

13 8”x6”x8” Tee Each 6 $906.00 $5,436.00 $1,125.00 $6,750.00

14 8”x8”x8” Tee Each 1 $929.00 $929.00 $1,255.00 $1,255.00

15 16"x8"x16" Tapping Tee Each 1 $5,927.00 $5,927.00 $6,235.00 $6,235.00

16 Fire Hydrant & 6" Gate Valve Each 5 $5,915.00 $29,575.00 $6,770.00 $33,850.00

17 Fire Hydrant & 8" Gate Valve Each 1 $6,645.00 $6,645.00 $7,495.00 $7,495.00

17 6" Doweled Concrete Pavement SY 100 $75.00 $7,500.00 $160.00 $16,000.00

18
Horizontal Watermain Boring w/ 10" 

Steel Casing
LF 129 $230.00 $29,670.00 $625.00 $80,625.00

19 8" Watermain Directional Boring LF 402 $52.00 $20,904.00 $73.70 $29,627.40

20 1" Water Service Boring LF 140 $23.00 $3,220.00 $23.00 $3,220.00

Total $300,395.00 Total $422,974.50

21 Traffic Control Lump Sum 1 $11,500.00 $11,500.00 $7,605.00 $7,605.00

Total $11,500.00 Total $7,605.00

24 Straw Wattles LF 350 $8.00 $2,800.00 $5.60 $1,960.00

25 Seed, Mulching, Fertilizing ACRE 0.54 $8,500.00 $4,590.00 * $7,015.00 $3,788.10

26 SWPPP Log Lump Sum 1 $750.00 $750.00 $1,345.00 $1,345.00

Total $8,140.00 * Total $7,093.10

Total Project $320,035.00 Total Project $437,672.60

* Bid irregulatrity.  Unit Bid Prices prevail

Unit
Estimated 

Quantity

WD - 129 N. HWY 81 Watermain Project

Schedule A - Utilities

Rutjens Bid Penro Bid

BID Unit Price Bid Price

BID Unit Price Bid Price

Schedule B - Paving

Unit
Estimated 

Quantity

Schedule C - Erosion Control

BID Unit Price Bid Price

BID Unit Price Bid Price

McLaury Engineering

502 W Madison Ave

Norfolk, NE

MEI Project No. 42231202

2/27/20243/4/2024 Enclosure 32
Page 192 of 210



RESOLUTION NO. 2024- 13 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, as follows: 

Section 1. The Mayor and City Council hereby find and determine that there has been placed 

on file with the City Clerk a study entitled Extremely Blighted Determination Study for Norfolk, 

Nebraska prepared by Information Art, Kurt Elder, AICP, GISP (the “Study”); and that, under 

Nebraska Revised Statutes Section 18-2109, it is necessary and appropriate to refer the Study to the 

Planning Commission of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska for its review and recommendation.  

Section 2. The Study is hereby ordered submitted to the Planning Commission of the City of 

Norfolk for its review and recommendation.  

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to set a public hearing upon the Study for the 

next practicable meeting of the Mayor and City Council for which notice can be given in accordance 

with Nebraska Revised Statutes, Sections 18-2109 and 18-2115.01, and which is to occur after the 

Planning Commission's recommendation is received. The City Clerk shall give notice of such hearing 

as required by law.  

PASSED AND APPROVED this ______ day of __________, 2024.  

_____________________________  

Josh Moenning, Mayor  

_______________________  

Brianna Duerst, City Clerk  

Approved as to form: ________________________  

          Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 193 of 210



Census Data & Geographies

50+ Other Geography Types

Poverty Data

Study & Data

Unemployment Data

Error Rates by Geography

State ACS Data

Place ACS Data

Block Group ACS Data

Area Declared Blighted

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 194 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 195 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 196 of 210



3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 197 of 210



Nebraska Estimate MOE # MOE %
Total Population 1,958,939 **** 0%
Total Population for whom Poverty is determined 1,908,613 865 0.05%
Income in the past 12 months below poverty level: 198,466 4,850 2.4%

Lincoln Estimate MOE # MOE %
Total Population 290,531 50 0.02%
Total Population for whom Poverty is determined 277,775 357 0.1%
Income in the past 12 months below poverty level: 35,450 1,950 5.5%

Norfolk Estimate MOE # MOE %
Total Population 25,883 29 0.1%
Total Population for whom Poverty is determined 25,145 75 0.3%
Income in the past 12 months below poverty level: 3,245 610 18.8%

Block Group 1; Tract  9606, Madison County NE Estimate MOE # MOE %
Total Population 1,151 330 28.7%
Total Population for whom Poverty is determined 1,151 330 28.7%
Income in the past 12 months below poverty level: 220 218 99.1%

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 198 of 210



VOTER RESULTS
FLEXIBLE STATUTE
OPERATIONALIZE STATUE

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 199 of 210



 
  

EXTREMELY BLIGHTED 
DETERMINATION STUDY FOR 

NORFOLK, NEBRASKA 
FEBURARY 2024 

A study to determine if area already declared Blighted and 
Substandard located at approximately 105 East Norfolk (NE corner of 

N 1st & East Norfolk Ave) meets the Legislative requirements to be 
declared Extremely Blighted 

 

 
 
 
 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 200 of 210



EXTREMELY BLIGHTED AREA STUDY 
Conducted by: Information Art - Kurt Elder  
Member of the American Institute of Certified Planners 
Member of the Certified Geographic Information System Professionals 
Licensed Real Estate Sales Person Professional (IA) 
 
 

I. Standard Review 
 
Implementation Background: In the 2020 Nebraska general election Proposed Amendment No. 2 was offered to 
the voters. It was a constitutional amendment to authorize the Legislature to allow cities and villages to pledge 
property taxes as part of a redevelopment project for a period not to exceed twenty years if, due to a high rate of 
unemployment combined with a high poverty rate as determined by law, more than one-half of the property in the 
project area is extremely blighted.  As a state voters approved the measure 530,236 FOR (61.6%) and 330,445 
AGAINST. In Madison County voters approved the measure 7,957 FOR (56.8%) and 6,047 AGAINST.  
 

A. Proposed Area Under Consideration for Extreme Blight 
 
The proposed site consists of three whole parcels, one partial parcel, and the adjoining right-of-way. 
See image ‘Assessor Parcel Review’ in the appendix. 
 
Three whole parcels  
(1) PID: 590303259, DOLLAR GENERAL ADDITION LOT 2 LESS PT TO CITY  
(2) PID: 590303260, DOLLAR GENERAL ADDITION LOT 2 LESS PT TO CITY 
(3) PID: 590303267, DOLLAR GENERAL ADDITION LOT 3, partial portion of PID 590038769 
 
Partial portion of one parcel  
(4) PID: 590038769, TAX LOTS SW1/4 SW1/4 23-24-1 PT TAX LOT 2 4.42 AC 
Portions of this parcel were included to maximize the reduction of blight and substandard area for determining the 
blight percentage for the City of Norfolk. 
 
 

B. Reasons for completing an extremely blighted study 
 

REF: Statute 18-2101 to 18-2154 and section of the act, aka Community Development Law 
 
Section 2: (1) For any city that (a) intends to carry out a redevelopment project which will involve the construction 
of workforce housing in an extremely blighted area as authorized under subdivision (28)(g) of section 18-2103, (b) 
intends to declare an area as an extremely blighted area for purposes of funding decisions under subdivision (1)(b) 
of section 58-708, or (c) intends to declare an area as an extremely blighted area in order for individuals 
purchasing residences in such area to qualify for the income tax credit authorized in subsection (7) of section 77-
2715.07, the governing body of such city shall first declare, by resolution adopted after the public hearings 
required under this section, such area to be an extremely blighted area. 
 

C. Additional Consideration 
 
In Nebraska Statute 18-2103, Section #3 it states, “A redevelopment project involving a formerly used defense site 
as authorized under section 18-2123.01 and any area declared to be an extremely blighted area under section 18-
2101.02 shall not count towards the percentage limitations contained in this subdivision;” If this area is approved 
your percent blighted, as a community, will decline. 
  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 201 of 210



D. Legislative Direction 
 
Section 2: Prior to making such declaration, the governing body of the city shall conduct or cause to be conducted 
a study or an analysis on whether the area is extremely blighted and shall submit the question of whether such 
area is extremely blighted to the planning commission or board of the city for its review and recommendation. The 
planning commission or board shall hold a public hearing on the question after giving notice of the hearing as 
provided in section 18-2115.01. Such notice shall include a map of sufficient size to show the area to be declared 
extremely blighted or information on where to find such map and shall provide information on where to find 
copies of the study or analysis conducted pursuant to this subsection. The planning commission or board shall 
submit its written recommendations to the governing body of the city within thirty days after the public hearing. 
 

E. Process  
 
Brief: In order for an area to be designated as extremely blighted and substandard two findings, through three 
facets, need to be meet. These facets are defined in Nebraska statue. However, for brevity they are (a) areas that 
have been found blighted and substandard through city council action, and (b) have been found to be extremely 
blighted.  
 
This study primarily determines which areas meet the statutory definition through a reasonable operationalization 
of Nebraska statute. 
 
An approved blighted and substandard area is also extremely blighted if (i) the average rate of unemployment in 
the area during the period covered by the most recent federal decennial census or American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimate is at least two hundred percent of the average rate of unemployment in the state during the same 
period; and (ii) the average poverty rate in the area exceeds twenty percent for the total federal census tract or 
tracts or federal census block group or block groups in the area 
 

F. Methodology & Data Tables 
 
Methodology -  
City of Norfolk base data methodology utilizes implementation strategies approved in Lincoln, Omaha, Grand 
Island and North Platte studies. Other community agents are currently using these strategies as they develop their 
studies.  
 
Furthermore, our averaging process/interpretation received support from UNO’s David Drozd Research 
Coordinator at the UNO Center for Public Affairs (David has since moved on to another firm), and input from Sen. 
Justin Wayne's office. Senator Wayne was the Chair of the Urban Affairs Committee when this legislation was 
passed.  
 
All data was 2022 US Census American Community 5-year Survey data. We utilize block group level information 
from the census to maximize potential data points for analysis, knowing that margins of error would likely be more 
significant at this geography area. Poverty data came from Census table: B17021  Employment data came from 
Census table: B23025 
 
Council Approved Blight -  
The Community development law requires that an Extremely Blighted and Substandard area be an approved 
blighted area. The City of Norfolk has blighted areas; those studies/documents/approved areas are available for 
review through direct contact. (Web link1) (Web link2).  See ‘Approved Blighted & Substandard Areas’ in the 
appendix. 

 
 
  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 202 of 210



Extremely Blighted Components –  
 
Part (i) is a state comparison. The 2022 Nebraska Unemployment rate, according to the US Census American 
Community Survey (Five-year estimate) was 3.07%. Therefore, the average rate of our selected area would require 
an unemployment rate of at least 6.14. Unemployment is the total number of unemployed people, expressed as a 
percentage of the civilian labor force (Source) . A five-year estimate is used because it is directed by state statute. 
Information Art uses familiar data sources when possible.  
 

 

 

 
 
Information Art developed an area with an average unemployment of 6.9% within available (i.e., data points that 
were in the city limits or those that intersect Norfolk’s corporate limits) An area average is determined by using the 
sum of estimated factors and NOT the average of each piece. Furthermore, state statute does not state that all 
facets must be contiguous. See ‘Employment Study’ in the appendix. Below is a table that displays data for this 
study area. 
 

 
 
Part (ii) is a local area finding. Norfolk’s 2022 poverty rate was 12.9%, but in line with state statue, Information Art 
worked to develop an area with at least 20% poverty. Information Art developed an area with a 21.4% poverty rate 
to meet this threshold within the available data points (i.e., data points in the city limits or those that intersect 
Norfolk’s corporate limits). An area average is determined by using the sum of estimated factors and NOT the 
average of each piece. See ‘Poverty Study’ in the appendix. Below is a table that displays data for this study area. 
 

 
  

Nebraska Estimate
Total: 1532351
    In labor force: 1054285
        Civilian labor force: 1047813
            Employed 1015656
            Unemployed 32157
        Armed Forces 6472
    Not in labor force 478066

Percent Unemployed 3.07
200% Rate 6.14

Geography Geographic Area Name
Total Labor 

Force
Total Civial Labor 

Force

Total Civial Labor 
Force,  

Unemployed
Percent 

Unemployed
S311199606001 Block Group 1; Census Tract 9606; Madison County; Nebraska 598 598 0 0
S311199607001 Block Group 1; Census Tract 9607; Madison County; Nebraska 344 344 22 6.4
S311199611002 Block Group 2; Census Tract 9611; Madison County; Nebraska 492 492 62 12.6
S311199609001 Block Group 1; Census Tract 9609; Madison County; Nebraska 554 509 57 11.2
S311199606004 Block Group 4; Census Tract 9606; Madison County; Nebraska 879 879 54 6.14
Study Area 2867 2822 195 6.91

Geography Geographic Area Name
Total Population, 
Poverty Universe

Persons Below the 
Poverty Level Percent in Poverty

S311199611001 Block Group 1; Census Tract 9611; Madison County; Nebraska 963 161 16.72
S311199606001 Block Group 1; Census Tract 9606; Madison County; Nebraska 1151 220 19.11
S311199607001 Block Group 1; Census Tract 9607; Madison County; Nebraska 729 219 30.04
S311199607002 Block Group 2; Census Tract 9607; Madison County; Nebraska 1441 358 24.84
S311199610003 Block Group 3; Census Tract 9610; Madison County; Nebraska 791 328 41.47
S311199611002 Block Group 2; Census Tract 9611; Madison County; Nebraska 810 166 20.49
S311199606004 Block Group 4; Census Tract 9606; Madison County; Nebraska 1366 101 7.39
Study Area 7251 1553 21.42

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 203 of 210



 
G. Process & Outcome 

 
State statute does not direct how to operationalize census boundaries, margin of errors, and confidence intervals 
etc. that are often inconsistent with blight/project areas. Therefore, Information Art overlayed these three 
facets/areas (i.e., approved blight, 20%+ poverty, 200%+ of Nebraska’s unemployment rate) and delineated areas 
where the three intersected as a reasonable implementation effort.  Information Art presents for consideration a 
proposed extremely blighted area. See ‘Qualifying Area Review: Focused Area’ and ‘Proposed Extremely Blighted 
Area’ in the appendix.  
 
The Proposed Extremely Blight Area is in Block Group 311199606001 (i.e., Tract 960600, Block 1) 
 
 

Appendix Images: 
 

1. Approved Blighted & Substandard Areas 
2. Employment Study Area 
3. Poverty Study Area 
4. Qualifying Area Review: Focused Area 
5. Proposed Extremely Blighted Area 
6. Assessor Parcel Review 

  

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 204 of 210



Approved Blighted & Substandard Areas 

 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 205 of 210



Employment Study Area 

 

  sm

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 206 of 210



Poverty Study Area 

 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 207 of 210



Qualifying Area Review: Focused Area 
 

 
 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 208 of 210



Proposed Extremely Blighted Area 
 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 209 of 210



Assessor Parcel Review 

 

3/4/2024 Enclosure 33
Page 210 of 210


	Cover Page
	Public Notice
	Agenda
	Staff Memo
	Enclosure 7
	Enclosure 8
	Enclosure 9
	Enclosure 10
	Enclosure 11
	Enclosure 12
	Enclosure 13
	Enclosure 14
	Enclosure 15
	Enclosure 17
	Enclosure 18
	Enclosure 19
	Enclosure 20
	Enclosure 21
	Enclosure 22
	Enclosure 24
	Enclosure 29
	Enclosure 30
	Enclosure 31
	Enclosure 32
	Enclosure 33



